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an Yue Technology Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) is a company whose
shares have been listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
1997. The core businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively called the “Group” or “Man Yue
Tech”) are the manufacture and sale of high technology
electronic components, including Aluminum Electrolytic
Capacitors (“E-Caps”), Conductive Polymer Aluminum
Solid Capacitors (“Polymer Caps”) and other innovative
electronic components.

The Group offers a full range of E-Caps products
which satisfy the needs of global customers, consisting
mainly of the world’s leading information technology,
telecommunications, electrical and electronic brands.
In 2006, the Group launched an innovative electronic
component known as the Polymer Caps, and has advanced
to be a major global vendor. The Group continued its
pioneering course by unveiling a new type of capacitor in
2009 - Electric Double Layer Capacitors (“EDLC"), which
acts as an energy storage device in electrical or electronic
products.

Over the years, the Group has fostered creativity and
inventiveness among the well-trained and highly qualified
research and development (“R&D") professionals who have
enabled the Group to develop new and groundbreaking
products.
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As the key manufacturer of E-Caps and Polymer Caps,
the Group owns the renowned SAMXON® and X-CON®
brands, both are respected brands for their advanced
technology and superior quality, backed by the Group'’s
strong R&D capabilities and established global network. All
of the Group’s products comply with the European Union’s
directive on the restriction of the use of certain hazardous
substances in electrical and electronic equipment (“RoHS")
and the environmental protection requirements relevant
and specific to different markets globally.

Man Yue Tech is headquartered in Hong Kong and
operates its state-of-the-art E-Caps manufacturing facilities
in Dongguan, Wuxi and Jiangxi, with a total production
capacity of over 1 billion pieces per month. The Group
owns two aluminum foil factories located in Qingyuan and
Yaan producing aluminum foil for its own consumption.
The Group has distribution offices located in Hong
Kong, China and Taiwan, complemented by worldwide
distribution channels.

Man Yue Tech is fully committed to environmental
sustainability for both its products and operations.
All products are halogen free and complied with the
requirements of RoHS. In addition, all production facilities
of the Group conform to relevant local environmental
regulations and the Group obtained relevant certification
where appropriate. Not content to simply passively observe
regulations, the Group is actively pursuing opportunities to
directly contribute to the protection of environment. The
Group has introduced and continued to develop solutions
for enhancing energy efficiency, such as capacitors found
in LED lamps and high-efficiency lighting and new storage
devices for use in environmental friendly products. The
Group remains steadfast in its support of environmental
protection, consistent with its commitment to be a good
corporate citizen.
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Financial Highlights
B RE

For the year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLLFE

2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$°000 HK$ 000
Operating Results FET FAET
Revenue WA 1,361,718 1,275,923 +6.7%
Gross profit FEF 274,126 280,046 -2.1%
EBITDA EBITDA 146,667 152,276 -3.7%
Net profit ] 40,676 45,205 -10.0%
Earnings per share AN 9.05 HK cents &4l  10.13 HK cents il -10.7%
Net assets per share FREEFHE 299.13 HK cents &4  310.28 HK cents i1l -3.5%
REVENUE GROSS PROFIT
WA EF
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
HE12A318IEFE HZ=12A3181EFE

HK$' million B &7

1,361.7

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

EBITDA
HRFEZH ~ BiE - ITERBSHEATRT
For the year ended 31 December

HE12A31HIEFE
HKS$' million B&47T

1755

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EEER AR

HKS$’ million B &% 7T

28000 574

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

NET ASSETS PER SHARE
BREEFE

As at 31 December

»®12A31H8

HK cents 71l

327.4

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018



SAVE OIL, SAVE MINERALS,

RESULTS OVERVIEW

In 2018, the global and Mainland China economies were greatly
shadowed by the impact of the trade war between the United
States and Mainland China. The increase of trade tariff, since June
2018, had changed the pace of recovery for the global economy
and undermined the export volume, consumers’ sentiment as
well as the overall demand in electronics market especially in the
last quarter of 2018. Despite the adverse changes in the macro
environment looming in the second half of 2018, the Group stood
guard against these unfavourable changes and has a revenue
growth of 6.7% for the Year, which was attributable to its
strategy of redirecting its business focus towards the development
of diversified market sectors as well as customers with market
leadership.

As a major global supplier of E-Caps and Polymer Caps, the
Group has committed to provide pioneered and high quality
products to its leading global clientele in various electronic
products’ industries. Our flagship brands — SAMXON® and X-CON®
have still maintained a very strong market position in the niche
segment. Riding on its brands and leading market position in
providing pioneering and high quality products together with

FRESH AIR, GREEN FUTURE

TOMORROW

STARTS HERE

Ms Kee Chor Lin
LARERL
Chairman E£ /&

Chairman’s Statement
FERE
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

its redirection of business focus by penetrating into the global
supply chain of emerging market sectors and leading customers
in the industries, the Group has laid a good foundation for a
sustainable revenue growth in the forthcoming years. By now, the
Group’s determination and efforts have been fruitfully resulted
with a wider spectrum of quality customers in various emerging
and prosperous markets; for instance, artificial intelligence (Al),
Internet of Things (loT), cloud computing, blockchain, new energy
vehicles and consumer electronics. This solid foundation not only
safeguards the Group from the global economic uncertainties,
but also sets a stronger foothold for a sustainable business
development in the upcoming future.

The endless efforts in the R&D of material science, production
technology and innovation have enriched the Group with an
establishment of a multi-product platform with high technology
products such as MLPC, EDLC and EDLC modules. Since it
is believed that the global market will be more volatile and
challenging, these innovative products will undoubtedly capture
the constantly evolving electronics’ demand, whilst differentiating
the Group from its market competitors. Meanwhile, the Group
will enhance the efficiency of its production processes by way
of further automation as well as tighten up the control over
production costs with an aim to boost its profitability. Looking
forward, the Group is well-equipped to embrace the possible
economic and market changes and is cautiously optimistic to
attain a sustainable business development.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express our sincere gratitude to all our employees for their
loyalty and dedication and for the continuing support from our
customers, suppliers, banks and shareholders.

Kee Chor Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31 December

BEER W RO

MBRE

BZ12831HLEE

2018 2017

20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHT
Revenue WA 1,361,718 1,275,923 +6.7%
Gross profit EF 274,126 280,046 2.1%
EBITDA EBITDA 146,667 152,276 -3.7%
Profit for the year EEEF 40,676 45,205 -10.0%
Earnings per share BREEF 9.05 HK cents j&{l; 10.13 HK cents 7&1ll -10.7%

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Despite the downturn in macro-economy and decline in the
electronics market, especially in the fourth quarter of the
Year, the Group's revenue for the Year still grew by 6.7% to
HK$1,361,718,000 (2017: HK$1,275,923,000), as compared with
that of last year. The increase in revenue was mainly attributable
to its business focus towards the development of diversified
market sectors as well as customers with market leadership.

Gross profit for the Year dropped slightly by 2.1% to
HK$274,126,000 (2017: HK$280,046,000) whilst the gross profit
margin also decreased to 20.1% from 21.9% of last year. This
was mainly due to the decline in the electronics market in the
second half of 2018, thereby resulting in the decrease in gross
profit of the Group.

Accordingly, the Group’s EBITDA recorded a drop by 3.7% to
HK$146,667,000 (2017: HK$152,276,000), representing an
EBITDA margin of 10.8% (2017: 11.9%).

Following the slight decrease in gross profit, the Group’s profit
for the Year also declined to HK$40,676,000, as compared to
HK$45,205,000 in previous year. The Board did not recommend
final dividend for the Year (2017: Nil).

gy JE)E |

HATBCOERR  MEBEFTHHEEMEER  LHE
AEEMENE  BEAFRAL  AEEREFEZ
W AIB6.7%H)3E K %E1,361,718,000/8 7T (20174
1,275,923,000 7T ) ° W AIEINE EHR RN EBER
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FBATEL -

AEFZERNEMTIE2.1%%E274,126,00078 7T (2017
F 1 280,046,000 7T) + MEMEIEEFH21.9%
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= REEEFRA L TEE o

E it - AREEEBITDASEE3.7% B BX 18 & 146,667,000
7T (20174F © 152,276,0005%7T) - ENEBITDALL X A&
10.8%(20174F : 11.9%) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENmR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Market overview

2018 was a dynamic year. In the first half of 2018, the global
economy was on a path of recovery and the electronics market
was booming. Unfortunately, the development of the trade war
between the United States and Mainland China in the second
half of 2018 had turned this around. The imposition of tariff by
the United States on Chinese imported goods had cast a shadow
over the global economy and caused a negative impact on the
electronics market.

With the imminence of a trade war in the second half of 2018, its
negative impact began to show as order books of the Group had
been slowed down as international buyers of electronics products
became prudent for making new orders and tended to maintain
a low level of inventory. This phenomenon is consistent with
the 4.4% decline year-on-year of China’s exports in December
2018 according to the General Administration of Customs of the
People’s Republic of China.
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Operation review

Despite the ups and downs in 2018, the Group has been able
to remain as one of the major global suppliers of electronic
components. The Group’s multi-product platform, including but
not limited to E-Caps, Polymer Caps, MLPC, EDLC and EDLC
modules, offers a broad range of essential components to be
widely used in various electronic products and energy saving
applications. During the Year, along with the advancement of
digitalization worldwide, the Group had put a strong business
focus towards fast-growing emerging markets such as artificial
intelligence (Al), Internet of Things (loT), cloud computing,
blockchain, 5G mobile network as well as customers with market
leadership. This business strategy has been proven successful with
the Group being able to establish a stronger foothold and attain
a greater market share in the growing niche markets, and had
eventually achieved an increase in revenue of 6.7% in the dynamic
year of 2018.

Since the threats to impose tariff on Mainland China by the United
States in late 2018, the Group had started to deploy a set of more
stringent cost control measures to combat the potential US-China
trade dispute. In this regard, the Group had further streamlined
its business structure and operations with an aim to enhance
operating efficiencies and competitiveness.

For the new manufacturing facility in Qingyuan High-tech
Industrial Development Zone in Guangdong, the construction
will be expected to complete towards the end of 2019 in order
to cater for a production capacity expansion of the Group’s
diversified product portfolio.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$202,338,000 (2017: HK$312,702,000), most of
which were either denominated in United States dollars, Renminbi
or Hong Kong dollars. Total outstanding bank borrowings of the
Group amounted to HK$889,355,000 (2017: HK$847,079,000)
which comprised mainly bank loans and trade finance facilities.
The bank borrowings with maturities falling due within one year
and in the second to the fifth year amounted to HK$800,019,000
and HK$89,336,000 respectively (2017: HK$718,795,000 and
HK$128,284,000 respectively).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENmR DM

Total interest-bearing borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2018 comprising bank loans and trade finance facilities were
HK$889,355,000 (2017: HK$847,079,000). Most of these
borrowings were either denominated in United States dollars
or Hong Kong dollars to which the interest rates applied were
primarily subject to floating interest rate.

As at 31 December 2018, the net gearing ratio (a ratio of the
sum of total bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents then
divided by total equity) of the Group was 48.3% (31 December
2017: 37.7%).

As at 31 December 2018, the net current assets of the
Group were HK$372,886,000 (2017: HK$509,822,000),
which comprised current assets of HK$1,535,496,000 (2017:
HK$1,610,825,000) and current liabilities of HK$1,162,610,000
(2017: HK$1,101,003,000), representing a current ratio of 1.32
(2017: 1.46).

The Group's financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars. However, most of the Group's transactions were
conducted in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
and Japanese Yen. The Group is aware of the potential foreign
exchange currency risk that may arise from the fluctuation of
exchange rates between Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United
States dollars and Japanese Yen. The Group will closely monitor its
overall foreign exchange exposure with a view to safeguarding the
Group from exchange rate risks.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

As the United States and Mainland China are trying to resolve
their bilateral trade frictions in the beginning of 2019, the impact
of the trade war unveiled since the fourth quarter of 2018 is
expected to continue in the first half of this year. Deterioration
in Mainland China’s trade has been observed in both exports
and imports and the United Kingdom is also facing the Brexit
headwinds. All these have heightened levels of uncertainties
around the world, leading to hindered business investment and
weaker consumers’ confidence. Despite that, the rapid growing
technology of artificial intelligence (Al), Internet of Things (IoT),
cloud computing, blockchain, 5G mobile network as well as the
concept of energy saving will be revolutionizing the world and
create ample business opportunities for the Group as our products
are one of the essential electronic components for these market
sectors.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B#RHEBER AT
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Amid all the uncertainties in the global market, the Group is
committed to strengthen its internal optimization and self-
enhancement in 2019 with the execution of the following
strategies:

. Continuous investment in R&D, particularly in material
science, production technology innovations, and extension of
product applications to stay ahead of its competitors in the
industry;

° Further customer mix enhancement and diversification to
mitigate business risks;

e Further penetration into fast-growing emerging markets;

e Advancement in production lines" automation so as to save
labor costs; and

e Thoughtfully monitoring and reacting fast to the market
dynamics.

Although the business environment will be very challenging in
2019 due to the trade conflict between the United States and
Mainland China, the Group is ready to embrace the upcoming
market and economic changes with the progressive execution of
the aforesaid strategies. With its over 40 years of experience and
expertise in the electronic components’ industry, the Group is
cautiously optimistic that it will be able to achieve a sustainable
business development as well as to bring fruitful returns to the
Company’s shareholders.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 54 staff in Hong
Kong (2017: 60) and employed a total work force of 3,011 (2017:
3,254) inclusive of all its staff in Mainland China and overseas
offices. The Group’s remuneration policy is built on the principle
of equitability with incentive-based, motivating, performance
oriented and market-competitive remuneration packages for its
employees. Remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular
basis. Apart from salary, other staff benefits include provident
fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and performance-
based bonuses.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

EEENEREEAER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Kee Chor Lin (Mrs Chan), aged 70, is the co-founder of the
Group. She has been the Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Company since October 2008. Mrs Chan is the leader of the
Group for corporate development, overall planning, strategies
and policies making. She is at present a director of several major
operating subsidiaries of the Group and also a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mrs Chan is one of the well-known industrialists
in Hong Kong and possesses over 40 years of experience in the
business of electronic components. She was awarded the Asian
Outstanding Leaders Award for Women issued by Asian College of
Knowledge Management in 2017. Mrs Chan is the mother of Mr
Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, the Managing Director and an Executive
Director of the Company and Ms Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, a
member of the senior management of the Group.

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, aged 43, joined the Group in 1998. He
has been an Executive Director of the Company since December
2007 and the Managing Director of the Company since October
2008. Mr Chan is responsible for overseeing the business
development, policies making and implementation of the Group.
He is also a director of certain major operating subsidiaries of
the Group and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr Chan is currently a director of Zhuhai Higrand
Technology Co., Ltd. in which its shares are listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations in China. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Applied Science (majored in Electronic and Electrical
Engineering) from the University of British Columbia, Canada. Mr
Chan has over 21 years of experience in the industry of electronic
components and received the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong
Kong in 2008. He is the son of Ms Kee Chor Lin, the Chairman
and an Executive Director of the Company and the brother of Ms
Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, a member of the senior management of
the Group.
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Chan Tat Cheong, Alan, aged 58, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since October 2016. He joined the
Group in May 2016 and is the Finance Director of the Group. Mr
Chan is primarily responsible for overseeing the Group’s business
development, finance and accounting, merger and acquisition,
and investor relations. He has over 30 years of experience in
the fields of accounting, auditing and financial management.
Mr Chan holds a Bachelor’s degree in accounting and financial
analysis from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne, the United
Kingdom. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and also a member of
the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. Mr Chan was
previously an executive director and chief financial officer of Ka
Shui International Holdings Limited.

Wong Ching Ming, Stanley (resigned on 10 January 2019),
aged 61, joined the Group in 2003. He has been an Executive
Director of the Company since January 2011 and has tendered
his resignation with effect from 10 January 2019 due to health
reasons but remains as the Business Development Director of the
Group. Mr Wong is responsible for managing the global sales,
marketing strategies and operations of the Group. He has over
28 years of experience in sales and marketing fields and had held
a senior management position in an internationally well-known
information technology company. Mr Wong holds a Bachelor of
Science (Aeronautical Engineering) degree and a Master of Science
degree from the Imperial College of Science, University of London.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Li Sau Hung, Eddy, Gss, Jp, aged 64, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since October 1996. He
is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. Dr Li has over 30 years of experience in the
manufacturing industry. He is the president of Hong Kong
Economic & Trade Association Ltd. Dr Li holds a Master’'s degree
in Business Administration and a Doctor of Philosophy degree in
Economics. He was awarded The Ten Outstanding Young Persons
in 1991 and the Young Industrialists of Hong Kong in 1993. Dr
Li is currently an independent non-executive director of each of
Chuang’s China Investments Limited and Oriental Watch Holdings
Limited. He was previously a member of the National Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference from
1998 to 2018 and the president of The Chinese Manufactures’
Association of Hong Kong from 2015 to 2017.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management
EEENRSREEAE

Lo Kwok Kwei, David, aged 59, has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since November 1999. He is
also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member
of the Audit committee and the Nomination committee of the
Company. Mr Lo holds the degrees of Bachelor of Laws and
Bachelor of Jurisprudence from the University of New South
Wales, Australia. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of New South Wales, Australia in 1984. Mr Lo has been a
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong since 1987. He has
been practising as a solicitor in Hong Kong for over 30 years
and is a partner of David Lo & Partners. Mr Lo is currently an
independent non-executive director of each of eSun Holdings
Limited and Futong Technology Development Holdings Limited.

Mar, Selwyn, aged 83, has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2004. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr Mar graduated
from the London School of Economics, University of London. He
is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr Mar has been active in commercial and
industrial undertakings over the past 30 years. He is currently a
partner of Nexia Charles Mar Fan & Co. and a director of Nexia
Charles Mar Fan Limited. Mr Mar is currently an independent
non-executive director of each of China Everbright International
Limited, Minmetals Land Limited and PanAsialum Holdings
Company Limited. He was previously an independent non-
executive director of China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited
and Standard Bank Asia Limited. In respect of public services, Mr
Mar was the president of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (formerly known as the “Hong Kong Society
of Accountants”) in 1991, a member of the Appeals Panel of the
Securities and Futures Commission and a member of Board of
Governors of the Chinese International School. He is at present
an Honorary Fellow and Honorary Court Member of the Lingnan
University.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chan Lok Yan, Lorraine, aged 41, is the Business Control
Director of the Group. Ms Chan joined the Group in 2001
and is actively involving in the setting of the Group’s business
strategies, re-engineering the Group’s business processes and
the establishment of business control systems. She has extensive
experience in marketing, business operations and information
systems management. Ms Chan holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of Toronto, Canada. She is the daughter of
Ms Kee Chor Lin, the Chairman and an Executive Director of
the Company and the sister of Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, the
Managing Director and an Executive Director of the Company.

Hsu Dau Shin, aged 63, is the General Manager of the Group's
production plant in Dongguan. Mr Hsu joined the Group in
2014. He is responsible for the management and operation of
the manufacturing facility of the Group in Dongguan. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr Hsu was the chief executive officer of a well
known Taiwan electronic company and led it to be listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from the University of New Hampshire, United
States.

Li Kwok Ming, aged 57, is the Business Development Director
in China of the Group. Mr Li joined the Group in 2011. He is
responsible for the development of the Group’s sales network
in China. Mr Li has over 20 years of experience in business
development and channel management. Prior to joining the
Group, he had held senior positions in two multinational
corporations. Mr Li holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from the Warwick University, United Kingdom.

Lui Man Lung, Johnny, aged 48, is the Assistant Business
Development Director of the Group. Mr Lui joined the Group
in 1996 and is mainly responsible for the development of the
Group's business in the Greater China and Taiwan region. He has
over 24 years of experience in the sales and marketing fields. Mr
Lui holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the
Lingnan University, Hong Kong.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management
EEENRSREEAE

Ng Sui Yin, aged 50, is the Company Secretary of the Company
and the Financial Controller of the Group. Mr Ng joined the Group
in 2015 and is responsible for managing the Group’s finance,
internal control and management, and regulatory compliance.
Prior to joining the Group, he had held senior positions in different
companies in Hong Kong. Mr Ng has over 22 years of experience
in the areas of finance, audit, tax, treasury management, business
development and bankruptcy. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Q Technology (Group) Company Limited.
Mr Ng is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He holds
honours diploma in accounting from the Hong Kong Shue Yan
College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) and
a Master’s degree in Professional Accounting and Corporate
Governance from City University of Hong Kong.

Pan Su Qing, aged 57, is the Vice Chief Engineer of the Group’s
Research & Development Department. Ms Pan joined the Group
in 1996. She is responsible for product development, product
design, technical support and product cost management of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Pan had worked in the
research & development department of a well-known state-
owned National 4321 Factory and engaged in the development
of new aluminum electrolytic capacitor products for commercial
customers and military uses. She graduated from the Nan Chang
Radio Technological School, majored in electronics component
and material in 1983.

Peng Shu Hong, aged 44, is the Operation Manager of the
Group's production plant in Dongguan. Mr Peng joined the Group
in 1997 with the responsibility of managing the production,
quality control and research & development of the production
plant in Dongguan. He has over 19 years of experience in
operation management field.

Wai Ching Han, Doris, aged 59, is the Operation Director of
the Group. Ms Wai joined the Group in 2001. She is responsible
for the Group’s human resources strategy and administration
management. Ms Wai had worked in several global corporations
and has over 26 years of experience in human resources and
administration management fields. She holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Business Administration (Human Resources Management) from
the RMIT University of Australia. Ms Wai is a professional member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Human Resource Management.
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Wan Wah, aged 48, is the Assistant General Manager of the
Group. Ms Wan rendered her service from 1994 to 2013 and
re-joined the Group in 2015. She is mainly responsible for the
development of the Group’s business. Ms Wan has over 25
years of experience in the sales and marketing fields and has
successfully led sales teams in the development of new and
potential markets for the Group. She holds a Master’s degree in
Business Administration from the University of Sydney, Australia.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Corporate
Governance Report for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules. The Company has adopted the code provisions as its
own code of corporate governance practices throughout the Year
with the exception of the following deviation:

Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors should be appointed for
a specific term. Currently, all the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but are subject to the requirement of retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting of the Company under Bye-law 87 of the
Bye-laws of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that corporate governance
practices of the Company were in line with the code provisions
as contained in the Corporate Governance Code throughout the
Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regulating Directors’
dealings in securities of the Company. After having made specific
enquiries by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they
have fully complied with the Model Code throughout the Year.

THE BOARD

The Board comprises three Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-executive Directors as at the date of this
Corporate Governance Report. The number of independent
non-executive director represents more than one-third of the
Board which comply with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. Their names are identified in various corporate
communications and in all announcements. Biographical details
of the Directors and the relationship among the members of the
Board are disclosed under the section “Board of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 12 to 17 of this Annual Report.
The Board is supported by three board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Board Composition

The Directors believe that the current composition of the Board
reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Group and the
effective leadership. The Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company are experts in various business sectors. Under
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, at least one of the independent
non-executive directors has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Directors are of the opinion that the present structure of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company complies
with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules and can ensure independence
and objectivity and provide checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and the Company.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER L F

EER
ARABEET EmRRIM R+ Mz X ERT R
ZIBRASTRNESL o AR RIRAFE RN — B 5 AT A&
XEREARG 2 RERTRTA - A TREERR
RN

RIBSTRIFSCBA AR - FFITES RBUIFITE
ENRERAREES - BAl - ARR BN
TEEZZAENEEETH - BERBEARRZAR
ARNESTIEN AR BIRRBFAS LWERE -

B EXFREES  ARRIRAAFED KIS
e AHERARR 2 EEEARRTAENEEER
SFRIAEY ST RIS ©

BFEESFH
ARRID D LR AR+ B T AR AR
BEFRTAATNBERH2BTFA - CAARE
BHTENE 2 BEFRRRSHRASE-E2E
A FIEESTR) -

EEg

RALHERMERE  EFeNEBE=-2HTE
ER=BEUFITES - BUFRTESARILE
FERBEAMBB=D2— A LMHRAE310A
GZRE - REMBFARNZRARBALABERE
FER c BEFECEEMEFTEKE ZRBEFBRA
FRENREFVVEZIEFERSRNERAR |-
BRE -ZEXEBTRA-MAEFZES  IEXZE

g FHERBERREEEE

EEE2MAM

ERAE EESENIKEASRBERNAEE
EBLREMREERMAF 2T M &R - ARF 2
VIFMTEERBITERZES - HEMRANFE3.10
BT RO —RBBFRTERRAGREIEEXE
REREHHABHBEEEEE - EERS - ARAR
2 B FITESRBAN A EMRANFE3.1005 0 BE
ERBILEE - R X et B BmaslE - IMRER
REARREZHE °



Role of the Board

The Board, which is accountable to shareholders for the long term
performance of the Company, assumes responsibility for its leadership
and control and responsible for promoting the success of the
Company. The Board also directs strategic objectives of the Company
to management and oversees its implementation and monitors the
operational and financial performance of the Group. Management
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group in order to
achieve the strategic objectives set by the Board.

Chairman and Managing Director

Clear division of the roles of the Chairman and the Managing
Director is crucial to the effective running of the Board and the
development of the Group. Ms Kee Chor Lin (“Mrs Chan”) and
Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene are the Chairman and the Managing
Director of the Company respectively. Their roles and duties are
separate and distinct. Mrs Chan, as the Chairman, takes up the
challenging role of leading the Board to develop and formulate
strategic business development plans whilst Mr Chan Yu Ching,
Eugene, as the Managing Director, implements the policies and
is answerable to the Board for the operations and management
of the Group. Mrs Chan is the mother of Mr Chan Yu Ching,
Eugene.

Board Processes

The Chairman is responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with all Directors
and the Company Secretary.

Notice of at least 14 days is given of all regular Board meetings
and all Directors are invited to include matters in the agenda.
The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for each Board meeting. The agenda and accompanying
board papers are then sent in full to all Directors at least 3 days
in advance or within reasonable time prior to the relevant Board
meetings.

The minutes of the Board meetings recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board. The minutes of all Board
meetings and all other committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are available upon prior appointment for
inspection by any Directors, auditors or any relevant eligible parties
who are entitled to have access to such information.

Directors should declare any conflicts of interest at the Board
meetings and to abstain from voting and be excluded from
counting as quorum in that meeting whenever they have potential
or actual interests in the matters to be discussed and-approved at
that meeting and the Board has determined to be material.
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Corporate Governance Report
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Induction and Training for Directors

Every newly appointed Director of the Company will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of his responsibilities
under statue and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies. The Company Secretary also provides the
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements to the Board from time
to time.

Besides, all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company
director. A specific in-house training seminar was organized
for Directors in November 2018 to update the Board the latest
development on the Corporate Governance Code and related
Listing Rules. They also took part in corporate visits and attended
seminars organised by other listed companies or professional
organizations on relevant topics to further enhance their
capabilities to carry out director’s duties.

Nomination, Appointment, Re-election and Removal
of Directors

Nomination of Directors

The Company adopted the Nomination Policy on 28 December
2018. It aims to set out the nomination procedure and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee of the
Company to select and recommend candidates for directorship
of the Company. The Nomination Committee shall nominate
suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as the Directors of
the Company at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill
casual vacancies. The Nomination Committee may, as it considers
appropriate, nominate a number of candidates more than the
number of Directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general
meeting, or the number of casual vacancies to be filled.
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Key Principles of the Company for the Nomination of
Directors

Before nominating candidates for the directorship of the Company
for the Board's approval, the Nomination Committee should:

1. review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives) of the Board at least annually, taking into
account the Company’s Board Diversity Policy, and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
and

3. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executive
of the Company.

Key Selection Criteria

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee should take into account of the following
factors, inter alia:

e reputation for integrity;
e accomplishment and experience;

e commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

e the Company’s Board Diversity Policy that ensures the Board
has diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

. in the case of Independent Non-executive Directors,
the independence of the candidate (the independence
requirements as set out under any applicable laws, rules and
regulations shall have been met); and

e any other factors that the Nomination Committee deems
appropriate.
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Subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws of the Company, retiring
Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

Proposed candidate will be asked to submit his/her necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with his/
her written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of his/her personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to his/her
standing for election as a Director.

Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from Board members if any, for consideration by the Nomination
Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation.

Until the issue of the relevant circular to the Company’s
shareholders, the nominated persons shall not assume that they
have been proposed by the Board to stand for election at the
general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to
invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
Company’s shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for the Company’s shareholders to make the nominations.
The names, brief biographies (including qualifications and relevant
experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in the
circular to the Company’s shareholders.

A shareholder of the Company can serve a notice to the Company
Secretary within the lodgement period of its intention to propose
a resolution to elect a certain person as a Director, without
the Board's recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s
nomination, other than those candidates set out in the circular
to the Company’s shareholders. The particulars of the candidates
so proposed will be sent to all shareholders for information by a
supplementary circular.
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A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
Company Secretary.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available,
and the "gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall
be elected as a Director, shareholder’s proposed resolutions shall
therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed for the
candidates recommended by the Board.

Confidentiality

Unless required by law or any regulatory authority, under no
circumstances shall a member of the Nomination Committee
or a staff member of the Company disclose any information to
or entertain any enquiries from the public with regard to any
nomination or candidature before the circular to the Company’s
shareholders, as the case may be, is issued. Following the issue of
the circular, the Nomination Committee or Company Secretary or
other staff member of the Company approved by the Nomination
Committee may answer enquiries from the regulatory authorities
or the public but confidential information regarding nominations
and candidates should not be disclosed.

Power and Responsibility of the Board

The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility and final decision
on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates
to stand for election at any general meeting. The Board shall
monitor and review the Policy to ensure that it remains relevant
to the Company’s needs and reflects the regulatory requirements
effective from time to time.

Appointment of Directors

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(1) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors shall be elected or appointed in the first place at the
statutory meeting of the members and thereafter at the annual
general meeting. However, the Board shall have the power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to
authorisation by the members in general meeting, as an addition
to the existing Board subject to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of
the Company.
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Re-election of Directors

Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company provides that any
Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Pursuant to Bye-
law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years at the annual general meeting.

Removal of Directors

Under Bye-law 86(4) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
members may, at any general meeting and by an ordinary
resolution, remove a Director at any time before the expiration of
his period of office provided that the notice of any such meeting
convened for the purpose of removing a Director shall contain
a statement of the intention so to do and be served on such
Director not less than 14 days before the meeting and at such
meeting, such Director shall be entitled to be heard on the motion
for his removal.

Board Diversity

The Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 1 August
2013 and amended on 28 December 2018. It aims to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board of the Company. To
achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
encourages increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In designing an appropriate
composition of the Board, the diversity of the Board has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at
31 December 2018:
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Board Diversity Profile
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Responsibilities of Directors

The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to and the
management of the Board. Executive Directors take an active
interest in the affairs of the Company with a good understanding
of the business, and play important roles in the day-to-day
management of business of the Company, whilst Independent
Non-executive Directors participate in the Board meetings and
bring their independent views and judgments on various issues.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has been
appointed with a formal letter of appointment setting out the
terms and conditions of their respective appointment. Prior to
their respective appointment, each of them has submitted a
written confirmation to the Company and the Stock Exchange
confirming their independence and has undertaken to inform the
Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there
is any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence. -
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Independent Non-executive Directors provide the Group with
a wide range of skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and
qualifications through their regular attendance at various
committee meetings. They bring independent opinion and
judgment on the strategy and policies to ensure that the interests
of all shareholders are taken into account. The Company reviews
annually and obtains confirmation of independence from each of
them during their respective terms of appointment. During the
Year, the Company received written confirmation from each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors his independence with
reference to Rule 3.13 of the regarding Listing Rules. Based on
the confirmations, the Company considers that all of them are
independent, which is in compliance with the requirements under
the Listing Rules requirements.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

As mentioned above, the Company has made specific enquiries
to all Directors and all of them confirmed that they had fully
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
during the Year.

Directors and Officers’ Indemnity

The Company continues to subscribe for an insurance policy to
indemnify the Directors and other officers from any losses, claims,
damages, liabilities and expenses, including without limitation, any
proceedings brought against them, arising from the performance
of his duty pursuant to his appointment under his respective
service agreement entered into with the Company. The current
policy has been renewed during the Year and shall be under
regular review.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations to the Board;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and

Directors; and

5. review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER L F

BUFATEFEBERLERRZEEER/AE
BHERZHE G BERABARTRAEREE
& o WERRIE MERERRME L B R LA - HEREE
K2R - AR R EFaa RIER B I
TEENEBERNZBIINERE - RAFE
A AABRE ETRAIE3 3106 - WEREIBLIEH
TEEZBISNBRE - REZSHERE - ~A2F
RBRAABLIFMTEZTIBBIAL  FAELMR
AIZ#RE o

BEECESFRS

LR ARARZEESEHETEN - 28
FRRHENAFEND 2 EETEET 28
A -

EERSABE 2 BERE
ARRBR—MRE  NBEEEREMITRAER
RIBEAR QBT 2 BREIRF 2R N 2 RIEEITH
EREMEEZEMERX RE - BE - EHRAX
(BRETRNEHRERL 2 EMAFAR) - BERE
ERAFE T LAE # W #E Hite ]

EEEHEE
EERRERTUTEEERRBE

1. BIERRAAAT AEEARERER LA
RGN

2. RANEFEERSREBASNEIIRHESR
Ei

3. RARESEARREETERNMEERETEN
BEREER

4. HE R REREENEFNETEIRER
FM(wma) &

5. BEAATETFAZERRECEEARER
BT -



DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the operations of the Group, the Board delegated
certain responsibilities to the senior management team of the
Company, including the day-to-day operations of the Group. Such
senior management team is accounted for their performance to
the Board.

During the Year, the Executive Directors frequently met and
discussed with the senior management team in order to maintain
an effective feedback system and enable the Group to react to
changes or problems effectively and efficiently. The Board reviews
its arrangement on delegation of responsibilities and authority
regularly to ensure that such delegations are appropriate in view
of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that appropriate
reporting system is in place. Each Director is free to seek advice
from and has access to the Company’s senior management team
independently.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board currently has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board
under their own terms of reference which have been posted on
the websites of HKEXnews and the Company and are available
for inspection by the shareholders of the Company upon request
made to the Company Secretary.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three members. All of them are
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely:

Mar, Selwyn (Chairman)
Li Sau Hung, Eddy
Lo Kwok Kwei, David

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has
extensive commercial experience and the Audit Committee has
a suitable mix of expertise in various businesses, financial and
legal sectors and that the composition and establishment of the
Committee complies with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for assisting the
Board in providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the
financial process and internal control system of the Group. It has
the responsibilities and powers set forth in the terms of reference.
The committee members shall meet at least twice every year to
review the interim and final results prepared by the Board.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held five meetings,
including a meeting with external auditor for special audit
planning. The attendance records of Directors attending the
Audit Committee meetings are set out on page 31 of this
Annual Report. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
were revised and adopted by the Board on 28 December 2018.
The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017 and for the interim period ended 30 June
2018 before submission to the Board for approval;

2. reviewed and made recommendations to the Board the
appointment of KPMG as the external auditor of the
Company;

3. reviewed the amendments to the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee and made recommendations to the Board
for approval,

4. reviewed the Dividend Policy of the Company and made
recommendations to the Board for approval,

5. reviewed the external auditor’s engagement fee;

6. reviewed the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management systems of the Group; and

7. reviewed the annual audit plan for 2019.

The Audit Committee held a meeting with external auditor for the
special purpose of audit planning, which meeting also welcomed
the attendance of any Director who had either expertise, or special
interest, in accounting, financial and auditing matters.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
including one Executive Director and two Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely:

Lo Kwok Kwei, David (Chairman)

Kee Chor Lin
Li Sau Hung, Eddy
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The Remuneration Committee is responsible for (i) determining
the specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and
senior management, including but without limitation benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments (including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment); (ii) making recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive directors; and (iii) establishing a
transparent procedure for developing policy on such remuneration.
The Board consults the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and provides sufficient resources to enable it to discharge its
duties.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held a meeting
and the attendance records of Directors attending the
Remuneration Committee meeting are set out on page 31 of
this Annual Report. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were revised and adopted by the Board on 14 March
2018. The following is a summary of work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management;

2. reviewed the amendments to the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee and made recommendations to
the Board for approval; and

3.  made recommendations to the Board the directors’ fee for
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The following table lists out in bands the remuneration of
Executive Directors and senior management whose names appear
in the section “Board of Directors and Senior Management” for
the Year:

16
BT

6,000,001-7,000,000
5,000,001-6,000,000
1,000,001-5,000,000
1-1,000,000

Total #2£¢
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises five members, including
two Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely:

Li Sau Hung, Eddy (Chairman)
Kee Chor Lin

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene

Lo Kwok Kwei, David

Mar, Selwyn

The Nomination Committee is responsible for (i) assisting the Board
to run effectively and the Company can go through a formal,
fair and transparent process of reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the balance and effectiveness of the
Board in the light of the Board Diversity Policy identifying the skills
needed and appointing those who can provide them to the Board;
(i) leading the process for the appointment of Directors; and (iii)
identifying and nominating suitable candidates for appointment to
the Board. The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings
and the attendance records of Directors attending the Nomination
Committee meetings are set out on page 31 of this Annual
Report. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
were revised and adopted by the Board on 28 December 2018.
The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

1. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;
2. reviewed the succession planning for the Board;

3. reviewed the Nomination Policy of the Company and made
recommendations to the Board for approval,

4.  reviewed the amendments of the Board Diversity Policy of
the Company and made recommendations to the Board for
approval; and

5. reviewed the amendments to the terms of reference of the

Nomination Committee and made recommendations to the
Board for approval.
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Attendance Records of Directors Attending Board
Meetings, Board Committee Meetings and Annual
General Meeting

The attendance records of Directors during the Year are as
follows:
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EXee8 EXZECSBRRRASFK
SEFHELH

EENAFERZBFEREIT

Number of Meetings attended/held
g/ BERRY

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

Directors EZEel ENZERSeE FWZEegE ReZEee REBEAS

Executive Directors BITES

Kee Chor Lin' iRE 5/5 5/5 17 22 1"

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene' RFE' 55 55 - 20 11

Chan Tat Cheong, Alan* BiEE 2 5/5 5/5 - - n

Wong Ching Ming, Stanley ? TR’ 5/5 - - - 7
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHTES

Li Sau Hung, Eddy %8 45 415 i 1 i

Lo Kwok Kwei, David EEE 5/5 5/5 17N 22 1"

Mear, Selwyn B 5/5 5/5 - 0 1N

Notes: MIE -

1. Ms Kee Chor Lin and Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene attended the Audit
Committee meetings as management representatives as requested
by the Audit Committee.

2. Mr Chan Tat Cheong, Alan attended the Audit Committee meetings
as the Finance Director of the Group as requested by the Audit
Committee.

3. Mr Wong Ching Ming, Stanley resigned from the office of Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 10 January 2019 but
remains as the Business Development Director of the Group.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities in Financial Reporting

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the financial performance, position
and prospects of the Group. The Board, assisted by the Audit
Committee, oversees the financial reporting process of the Group.
The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the financial
statements and annual and interim reports and accounts of the
Group.
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All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group, which shall give a true
and fair view of the financial status of the Group. During the Year,
the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to event or condition that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis.

The Company is committed to announce its interim and annual
results as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the
relevant period and the financial year respectively as required
by the Listing Rules and discloses all such information as
would enable the shareholders of the Company to assess the
performance, financial position and prospects of the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities

The responsibilities of external auditor of the Company
with respect to financial reporting are set out in the section
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 55 to 64 of this Annual
Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The Audit Committee reflected their views to the Board that
the remuneration payable to the Company’s external auditor
was reasonable and fair in all circumstances and there had been
no major disagreement between the external auditor and the
management of the Company during the Year.

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor,
KPMG, during the Year is set out as follows:

PREFAVERHEAKSEVBHERZEL  FEE
BERAFHRRAER ZHBEARR - RAFER - &
FU BT AT LB AN RBIFEL LR NBRER
S EHIMR 2 ERTHAERE - Bt - E2E
BB R EREARNB ZMERE -

ARBFENEHARIRRFEERREER ST
B TERE EMRABRES B AMEF R RFER
B RBEBEAEAHER  UEARRRRFGAE
B2 RE - BB RAS -

Rz BT
ANBINEZEAN A B SRS 2 BTSN AT HRE
558 = FHeAE [ B AZHANRE | —& °

BB AT &

ERZBECREFERY - RRENAARSNEZ
Rz MeHBATAIE - AT E RSN SN R
ARAEEEYEBABR D

RAER BN,/ B A A TN BT 2 5 & B
ST M BRIIT -

Fees paid/payable

2 ENHE

HK$'000

Services rendered Frig it > BRA& FiET

Audit services ZERTS 1,600

Non-audit services' IR EARTS 375

Total et 1,975
Note: MI3E

1. The fee paid for non-audit services included review of interim
financial information, work performed on the preliminary
announcement of results of the Group and tax compliance services.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board recognises internal audit in assisting the Company to
protect its assets. The internal auditor is neither affiliated with the
employees nor external auditor of the Company in order to ensure
its objectivity, creditability and independence. It reports to the
Audit Committee directly. During the Year, the internal auditor
performed internal audit reviews and the scope of review includes:

1. scoped and planned internal audit activities, including the risk
management system, and agreed with the Audit Committee
and the Board on the scope of review;

2. reviewed of the design of internal control system of the in
scoped areas by identifying the key controls in place and
determined whether there were significant gaps in the design
of the controls;

3. sample tested the operating effectiveness of the key controls
identified of the in scoped areas; and

4. reported and made recommendations to the Audit
Committee on the internal control weaknesses identified in
order to enhance their design and operating effectiveness.

The internal auditor submitted the internal audit review reports to
the Audit Committee for review and based on which, the Board
and the Audit Committee were of the view that the key areas of
the Company’s internal control and risk management systems had
been reasonably maintained and considered sound and effective
for the Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and ensuring
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
remain sound and effective. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its responsibility. The tasks of risk management
and internal control of the Company during the Year had
been performed by management. Management provided a
confirmation to the Board that the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company remained sound and effective
throughout the Year.

Risk Management Philosophy

The Board recognises that risk taking is unavoidable as it is part
of the Company’s business. With appropriate risk management
and continuous risk monitoring policies in place, risk taking
may bring value to the Company. The Board believes that an
appropriate level of risks are acceptable after prudent assessment
of their impact and likelihood. Risks can neither be absolutely
eliminated nor controlled. The Company can protect its assets
and shareholders’ interests and create value simultaneously
through appropriate risks management and control measures.
The Board also acknowledges that risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board has the responsibility to oversee, evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks faced by the Group
and to review and monitor the Group's approach in addressing
these risks at least annually. In addition, the Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its role in
reviewing the Group’s financial, operational and compliance
controls and reviewing the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

Management assists the Board in the implementation of the
Group's policies, procedures and limits within the Board'’s
approved risk appetite by identifying and assessing the risks faced
and monitoring the design and operation of the relevant internal
control measures to mitigate and control these risks.

Risk Assessment Process

Risk Assessment Approach

A risk management program was carried out during the Year to
ensure all material risks to which the Group exposed are properly
identified, assessed, managed, monitored and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board.

Risk Identification

Risk identification is based on questionnaires completed by senior
management from different departments. Risks are preliminary
identified by senior management from the risk universe which is
a collection of risks built on environmental analysis and external
benchmarking that can impact the Group at the entity or specific
business process level. The risk universe covers both internal and
external risks in six major areas, namely external risks, strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks, legal and compliance risks
and people risks. Key risk factors are then identified by integrating
the results of the questionnaire.

Risk Evaluation and Risk Prioritization
Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and
the likelihood of the identified key risk factors to the Group. These
identified key risk factors are further assessed by a scale rating
process assessed by senior management.
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Risk prioritisation is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to
prioritise the identified key risk factors according to their assessed
impact and likelihood.

Risk Reporting, Managing and Monitoring

Risk reporting and risk monitoring are essential and integral parts
of risk management. A risk assessment report was submitted
to the Audit Committee and to the Board. Senior management
reviewed and assessed the adequacy of existing controls in
accordance with the Board’s advice and suggestions; determined
and implemented treatment plans where risks mitigants are
actionable and continuously monitored the development of
current risks and the emergence of new risks throughout the Year.

Management conducted an annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
Year. Management has reported major findings and areas for
improvement to the Audit Committee. All recommendations from
management were adopted by the Group and were implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control systems
were effective throughout the Year.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The handling and dissemination of inside information of the
Group is strictly controlled and measures adopted by the Group
including but not limited by the following ways:

1. restrict access to inside information to employees on a need-
to-know basis;

2. send reminder to employees who are in possession of inside
information to ensure that they are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality;

3. ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place
when the Group enters into significant negotiations or
dealings with third party; and

4. inside information is handled and communicated by
designated persons to outside third party.

The Board and senior management review the safety measures
regularly to ensure inside information is properly handled and
disseminated.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE COMPANY

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group's reporting currency is Hong Kong dollar and most
of the business transactions are denominated in other currencies
including United States dollar, Renminbi and Japanese Yen.
Hence, exchange rate movements can affect the profit margin of
the Group. The Group enters forward currency contracts to hedge
against the currency risks arising from its operations and funding
sources, with reference to cash flow forecasts, capital expenditure
commitment and business budget. The Group does not speculate
on foreign currencies.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from long credit period for customers and short
credit period provided by suppliers. Customers are unwilling or
unable to fulfill their payment obligations that leads the Group to
incur financial losses. The Group's credit control function manages
the credit risks by assessing the credit limits and credit terms to be
granted to customers and setting up the internal control system
of credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to recover
overdue debts, if any. The Group also enters into credit insurance
contracts to mitigate the credit risks arising from the collection of
accounts receivables balances.

Competition Risk

Competition risk arises from the emergence of a number of
competitors in the electronic components manufacturing industry.
Price cut from competitors intensifies the risk. The Group believes
that the provision of quality products and after sales service
to customers are the only way to gain and maintain customer
confidence and loyalty.

Customers’ Financial Health Risk

The majority of the Group’s customers are electronic products
manufacturers in China. Delay in payments for trade receivables
settlement is common, thus resulting in bad debts. Slow recovery
of trade receivables indicates higher likelihood of customers’
financial health risk. Senior management works with the finance
department closely to monitor customers’ financial health. In
addition, it is hedged by the implementation of credit insurance
policies.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on 28 December 2018.
It aims to manage its capital efficiently and generate long-term
sustainable value for shareholders, while balancing operational,
regulatory, rating agency and policyholder requirements. It also
aims to grow its dividend in line with business growth and to
share the benefits of its success with its shareholders.

The Company may declare and distribute no more than 30% of
the consolidated net profit after tax of the Group as dividends,
either in cash or scrip dividend in lieu of cash, to its shareholders.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to
any restrictions under the Laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws of the
Company and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account of the following factors, inter alia:

e the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;
e the general financial position of the Group;

e the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development needs of the Group;

. restrictions imposed by debt covenants;

° the general market conditions;

e the business cycle of the Company’s business; and
e any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved
by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders at an annual general
meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board. No assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared
in any given period.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

Recognising the importance of maintaining on-going
communication with shareholders, the Board established a
shareholders’ communication policy and reviews it regularly to
ensure its effectiveness. To facilitate the timely, transparent and
effective communication with shareholders, the Board provides
different communication channels for shareholders-and investors
including annual general meetings and other general meetings.
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The annual general meeting provides a forum for the Company’s
shareholders to raise comments, offer suggestions, and exchange
views with the Board. The notice of annual general meeting is
distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting. The Chairman of the Board, the chairmen
of all Board Committees and external auditor shall attend each
annual general meeting or any general meeting to answer
questions from the shareholders on the performance of the
Company so as to allow them to fully understand the Company’s
operations, management and development.

During the Year, the Board held an annual general meeting on
10 May 2018. The voting results of annual general meeting were
published on the websites of HKEXnews and the Company and
the results are available for inspection by the shareholders of the
Company upon request made to the Company Secretary. The
attendance records of Directors at the meeting are set out on
page 31 of this Annual Report.

Furthermore, the official website of the Company contains timely
updated company news, corporate information, announcements,
interim and annual reports of the Group, all of which are available
for download with a view of making easy access to corporate
information for shareholders and potential investors. Circulars,
interim and annual reports are sent to shareholders in a timely
manner and they are also available on the websites of HKEXnews
and the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Convening Special General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meeting
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
under such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.
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The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company, and may consist of several documents in
like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors to duly convene a meeting shall
be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.

During the Year, no special general meeting was convened, and
no relevant proposal was received by the Company.

Enquiries to the Board
Enquiries can be put to the Board through the investor relations
department of the Company at Unit 03, 6/F., Harbour Centre
Tower 2, 8 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or email to ir@manyue.com.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. The
Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Managing
Director. From time to time, the Company Secretary advises the
Board on governance matters and ensures the board procedures,
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. The Company
Secretary has undertaken at least 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to protect the environment. The Group
has established an environmental management system that
conforms to global standards and was granted with ISO14001
accreditation in 2004. The quality control department monitors
product quality and the use of certain chemical substances.
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Besides, the implementation of RoHS directives in August 2005
in European Union members’ states has impacted the electronic
industry. The Group installed new equipments and established a
comprehensive set of policies and procedures to ensure that the
Group's products are fully compliant with the RoHS requirements
for the European Union and any equivalent or relevant
requirement for the rest of the world. The Group had also made
it mandatory for all vendors and business partners to comply with

the RoHS requirements.

During the Year, the Group has received the following awards:

1. Energywise Certificate of the Hong Kong Green Organisation

Certification; and

2. Hong Kong Green Organisation issued by Hong Kong

Productivity Council.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ Report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the
Year.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating
segment is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant
to Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year 2018 as well as indication of likely
future development in the business of the Group are set out in
the sections “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 6, “Operation
review” on page 9, “Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the
Company” on page 36 of this Annual Report respectively. An
analysis using financial key performance indicators, a discussion
of the Group's environmental policies and performance, and
its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group as well as an account
of the key relationships with its stakeholders are set out in the
sections “Five-Year Financial Summary” on page 209, “Segment
Information” on pages 123 to 125, “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 49 to 54, “Environmental
Protection” on pages 39 to 40 and “Major Customers and
Suppliers” of this Directors’ Report on page 47 respectively. The
above discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 65 of this Annual
Report.

DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend final dividend for the Year (2017:
Nil).
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out in the section “Five-Year
Financial Summary” on page 209 of this Annual Report. This
summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in the fixed assets of the Group during
the Year are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the Year are set out in Notes 33 and 34 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and that of
the Company during the Year are set out in Notes 40 and 41 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted
to HK$73,484,000 (2017: HK$80,001,000). In addition,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$165,458,000 (2017: HK$165,458,000), may be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors of the Company during the Year and up
to the date of this Director’'s Report (unless otherwise stated)
comprises Ms Kee Chor Lin, Mr Chan Yu Ching, Eugene, Mr Chan
Tat Cheong, Alan, Mr Wong Ching Ming, Stanley (resigned on
10 January 2019), Dr Li Sau Hung, Eddy, Mr Lo Kwok Kwei, David
and Mr Mar, Selwyn.
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Under the existing Bye-laws of the Company, one third of
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years and re-election at each annual general meeting. In
accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
Mr Chan Tat Cheong, Alan, Dr Li Sau Hung, Eddy and Mr Mar,
Selwyn will retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the 2019 annual general meeting
of the Company. None of the Directors offering themselves for
re-election has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company received annual confirmation from all Independent
Non-executive Directors of their independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all the
Independent Non-executive Directors as independent.

The biographical details of Directors of the Company are set out
in the section “Board of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 12 to 17 of this Annual Report.

BOARD CHANGES

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of
this Directors’ Report, there was a change in the Board which is
reported as below:

e Mr Wong Ching Ming, Stanley resigned from the office of
Executive Director of the Company due to health reasons
with effect from 10 January 2019 but will remain as the
Business Development Director of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole of any substantial
part of the Company’s businesses were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interests, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is
or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business at any time during the Year and up to the date
of this Directors’ Report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Directors and other officers of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all losses or liabilities which may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of office
or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Group has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this Directors’
Report, the interests and short positions of the Directors or
chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

BERER

READRZ ARME - AAFEEEREMITHA
BRERTRG LRI AR FEFIXRHZ 1)
BRRIEAE - 19 AT (AR A A EE Rk R ST B
RIE - ARARBEFEIEREERITRABLH
B2 EERITRABEERE -

EERBETRAERRRKRS - HEARGOR
BEZEBERAR

R2018F 12 A3HREEAEFEERERE 5
REEITHRABREAR AR E WA EE (TR R
BHEREEIEBIEXVED) 2 kD -~ 1R RESHF
WA ERLALRRBIRER %&%EMM%%NWFE
ZERMARBEEETRIMASTAE AR
RETZAER AR INT ¢

RARBE B AN 28

Capacity, nature of interest and number of shares and underlying shares held

5% BEMEURFAEROREBROSE

Approximate

percentage of

the Company’s

issued share capital

Interest in Interest in ¥ N

Directors Capacity Nature of interest shares share options BRITRAZ

s 27} e Rz BRERL BAEAL

Kee Chor Lin ! Interest of controlled ~ Corporate 209,689,667 - 44.09%
boddsE corporation N

R AR

Kee Chor Lin Beneficial owner Personal 51,006,334 - 10.73%
e BaEBA fEA

260,696,001 - 54.82%

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene Beneficial owner Personal 4,716,666 - 0.99%
BFE BHREBA {EN

Wong Ching Ming, Stanley 2 Beneficial owner Personal - 500,000 0.11%
TR BREBA fEA

Note: Mi5E

1. These shares are held by Man Yue Holdings Inc., a company wholly
and beneficially owned by Ms Kee Chor Lin, the Chairman of the
Company.

2. Mr Wong Ching Ming, Stanley resigned from the office of Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 10 January 2019 but
will remain as the Business Development Director of the Group.
The share options that granted to him remain valid and has been-
calculated in combination with other employees from the date of his
resignation from the office of Executive Director of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above and as disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures” as at the
date of this Directors’ Report, none of the Directors or chief
executive had registered an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, the interests and short
positions of persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the
Company, being 5% or more in the interest in the issued share
capital of the Company as recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, are
set out as below:

Long positions:

Capacity and nature of interest

SRS

Personal/Beneficial owner

BN BzmEEA

Man Yue Holdings Inc.

ordinary shares held

Directors’ Report

EEEHmE

SRR T B R B AR S5 M| —
SHREBEN  RARFEREAH  BETELS
BT BAAL Rl B AFARREAE 2 A5 - AR
D % R A AR B E S R EOIE 35216
R R T AR TS A AT R R A2 1
AR -

FERREEMATRRORAEBRRKRD 2
RERXR

RABZEREAH  BRARFEFAERTHAR
S ZEIRIBRE 5 LB RGIFEXVERE336IRREFE
ZHEBECMCE  HEARF D HEITRAS%HIA
ERESEEARZ AT

Approximate percentage
of the Company'’s

issued share capital
AR TS BITRAE
ZEBHNBED

Number of

FisEEREE

209,689,667 44.09%

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Directors’ Report,
no person, other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had registered an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) on 26 May 2006 for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations and the same was revised on 27 May
2010. The life of such Share Option Scheme was expired on
25 May 2016. Subject to the exercise period, all options (to the
extent not already exercised) granted prior to the expiry of the
Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme. Further
details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of
this Directors’ Report, 1,880,000 and 1,830,000 (2017: 1,980,000)
share options remained outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme and the details of the movements of the said outstanding
share options were as follows:

B ES &

AR BIFA20069F5 8 26 H ER 49— I8 BE i s+ 20 ([ B8 A%
AR BEREHAEEXNEEIEHERZ A
B2 EE R BRI R N %2R 201055 A27
BEEET - ILEREA S FHEMN2016F5A25HE
e ABIRBITER - RNERESBIERAIE R E M
KRITEZ 2 HERAEDARAER - WARIEEREE
ZIERT AT - BRRERTEIZ E— S BN EE Y
BRI T34 E -

REZE2018F 12 A3 AEFETEEAEETSWME
B - ARR BT 214 1,880,0001% & 1,830,00017
(20174 : 1,980,00017 ) B AR A 8 AR T{F - btk
TTE BRI - E BT ¢

Lapsed during
the period
between
1 January
2019to
the date of
this Directors’ Asat Exercise price
As at Asat As at Report  the date of of share
1 January Lapsed 31 December 10 January 12019%  this Directors’ options 2
Name and category of 2018 during 2018 20192 1A182 Report Dateofgrantof  Exerciseperiod of share  EMHE((EE?
participants R2018% the Year 20185 R019F  ESSHE  RESEHRE  shareoptions2  options! HKS per share
SEERARER 1818 MAEEXM 12A318 18108  BHEAX B8 BARRERS: BREGRES s
Director
Bz
Wong Ching Ming, Stanley? 250,000 - 250,000 - - - 15.9.2010 15.9.2011 10 14.9.2020 2262
TEH 250,000 - 250,000 - - - 1592010 15.9.2012 t0 14.9.2020 2262
500,000 - 500,000 - - -
Other employees®
s
In aggregate 746,000 (50,000) 696,000 946,000 (26,000) 920,000  15.9.2010 15.9.2011 t0 14.9.2020 2262
aft
Inaggregate 734,000 (50,000 684,000 934,000 (24,000) 910,000  15.9.2010 15.9.2012 t0 14.9.2020 2262
A
=AY
1,980,000 (100,000) 1,880,000 1,880,000 (50,000) 1,830,000
Notes: FEE -
1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant 1. BEREZBEBHDHERL BHRAESTEAAMEMAILE -

until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

3. Mr Wong Ching Ming, Stanley resigned from the office of Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 10 January 2019 but
will remain as the Business Development Director of the Group.
The share options that granted to him remain valid and has been
calculated in combination with other employees from the date of his
resignation from the office of Executive Director of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” and “Share Option Scheme” above, at no
time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date
of this Directors’ Report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Year, less than 30% of the Group’s sales were
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers.

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 40.2% (2017: 35.8%) of the total purchases during
the Year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 14.9% (2017: 11.5%).

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the share capital of any of the first five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the
date of this Directors’ Report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Annual Report for the Year has been reviewed by the Audit
Committee of the Company. Particulars of the Audit Committee
and its composition are set out in the section “Board Committees”
on pages 27 to 28 of this Annual Report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 have been audited by KPMG who will retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the 2019 annual
general meeting. A resolution to re-appoint KPMG as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at that meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kee Chor Lin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2019
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the Year. Unless otherwise
specified, the environmental data covers the Group’s production
facilities in Dongguan only, excluding its offices or production
facilities in other locations due to their relatively small
environmental footprint.

CORPORATE VISIONS ON ESG

The Group has obtained both the ISO14001, an environmental
management system, and ISO9001, a quality management
system, certifications. It also implements the RBA Code of Conduct
(formerly known as “EICC Code of Conduct”) which focuses on
the management system related to labour, ethics, health and
safety and the environment. All the products of the Group comply
with RoHS requirements. On the other hand, the Group is not
only committed to satisfying RoHS requirements for the European
Union and equivalent requirements worldwide, compliance with
RoHS requirements is also a requirement for all business partners
which work with the Group.

Development on using new energy as well as energy saving
continues to be an important agenda and concerns for the
international climate summits as well as the Central People’s
Government. The Group will continue to provide a complete
solution for energy saving and storage application.

ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group values its relationships with its stakeholders.
Shareholders, customers, suppliers, regulators and employers are
its main stakeholders. The Group has on-going dialogues with
shareholders, analysts and investors. Annual general meeting
is held every year and the Group encourages shareholders to
attend shareholders’ meetings and vote at the meetings. Product
brochures are prepared to introduce new products to customers.
Business visits and supplier evaluation are conducted to ensure
suppliers comply with all applicable laws and regulations. The
Group collects employees’ opinion regularly. The Group is
committed to ensure compliance with all applicable laws, rules
and regulations of Hong Kong and the jurisdictions where the
Group conducts business in.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Protecting the environment and conserving the resources are
important responsibilities for large-scale companies. The Group
strives to achieve environmental sustainability in every production
step. The Group aims to not only comply with environmental
laws and regulations but endeavours to prevent pollution, save
resources and reduce waste, as well as to enhance environmental
awareness.
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RIE - HERERKRSE

The following table presents the ESG performance summary of ~ TER#HFI2018FAREERE - HEREARIEME -
the Group in 2018:

2018

Indicators (unit) R (ERL) 2018%
Emissions E235¢7)]
Nitrogen oxides (kilograms) RE(DT) 88.2
Sulphur oxides (kilograms) et (ar) 9.4
Particulates (kilograms) BT (AFT) 67.5
GHG emissions ,mzﬁs'm&
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1) (tCO,e) AZERSAHNE (BE) (F1CO,E=) 1,634
Total GHG emissions (Scope 2) (tCO,e) BERBAY NS (EE2)(F1COEE) 39,812
Total GHG emissions (Scope 3) (tCO,e) BERBAY NS (EE3)(F1COE=E) 116
Total GHG emissions (tCO,e) ﬁ;ﬁﬁﬁ/%ﬁtﬁyi<¢tcoz§§) 41,562
Waste EZEBEY
Hazardous waste (tonnes) fEBRREE ) () 17
Non-hazardous waste (tonnes) mEREEY (W) 397
Energy consumption BERHAE
Energy consumption (kilo-Watt-hour) BERERE (T RA) 44,438,000
Energy consumption intensity per floor area (kilo-Watt- &K EEEELREELSE (TRE F7K)

hour/m2) 444
Diesel consumption (tonnes) L HAE (1) 50,000
LPG consumption (kilograms) BALARREFE(AT) 340
Water consumption KAE
Water consumption (tonnes) KA & (E) 327,795
Water consumption intensity per floor area (tonnes/m?) & 7K EIER/KEE (HE,F7K) 3.3
Packing material consumption BEMBAE
Paper (tonnes) xR (ng) 768
Plastic (tonnes) B2 (E) 90
Wood (tonnes) A (HE) 53

CONTROL OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES IN EmPRENEZEH
PRODUCTS

Manufacturing of high technology electronic components is RERMKETIHRASEERRG 2 —  Hilk
one of the Group's key businesses, the use of heavy metals or RWEERESHEICBNE - WIEFERTEEY
chemical substances is unavoidable. Hence, control of hazardous B /9ASREZ —ERDEER - AKBFTA HER M
substances in products is a major concern of the Group. RoHS — HRBHITHAETROHSATE  HHIER L AIRZBEIR N
compliance is a requirement for all suppliers and business partners BIFRR PRI S A B 2 2 IR - UREIRIR S AT
of the Group. Suppliers must submit national or internationally REZ MBI A BARRRTISUER - Ta%AY
recognised testing reports and materials safety data sheet to BER2KF MERCEME - REEBRTNE
the Group for review or verification to ensure that the materials MRl KEERERYE BB RAI M ARIRERE ©
they supplied comply with the relevant environmental rules or

regulations which are free from prohibited substances or the use

of chemical substances at a safety level. All hazardous and non-

hazardous waste produced during production process is handled

by government-recognized companies.
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ENERGY SAVING

Maximisation of energy efficiency is one of the ways to protect
our planet. The Group has adopted green office practices to
reduce natural resource consumption and the impact on the
environment. Teleconference and videoconference are widely used
to avoid unnecessary travel and hence reduce carbon footprints,
whilst maintaining the benefits of “face-to-face” meetings. Recto-
verso printing is encouraged with an aim to attain a paperless
office. In addition, the Group reviews eco-friendly measures to
enhance operational efficiency regularly.

ENERGY RECYCLING

Water is essential in daily operations. Throughout the production
process, the Group minimises water usage and arranges for a
qualified company to recycle effluent. Besides, the Group has
installed two water circulating vacuum pumps to recycle effluent
in the production plant. The water circulating vacuum pumps
operate 24 hours a day to continuously recycle effluent. The
Group has no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

STRENGTHENING ENVIRONMENTAL AWARENESS
The Group has been certified with 1SO14001, the Environmental
Management System. The management system encourages
the Group to continually improve environmental performance,
identifies the significant environmental aspects in the operations
and establishes relevant measurements to eliminate or reduce
it. The Group has invested lots of resources to implement the
management system. Training programmes are conducted
regularly for the departmental representatives to ensure effective
running of the management system in the Group and therefore
enhance the environmental awareness of the employees.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR STANDARDS

Retention of employees is crucial for operating a prosperous entity.
The Group has established a “RBA human resources procedure”
(formerly known as “EICC human resources procedure”).The
Group has stringent and transparent procedures for recruiting
talents and has developed competitive remuneration packages.
The remuneration policy is based on the principles of equitability
and fairness. Remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular
basis by the Group. And the Group also provides provident fund
contribution and medical insurance coverage to the employees.

Child labour and forced labour are two of the main labour
issues in the world. They are closely linked together. The
Group has established the “RBA forced labour management
procedure” (formerly known as “EICC forced labour management
procedure”). The Group does not employ child or forced labour
and ensures all applicants for employment are over the age
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for completing compulsory education or the minimum age for
employment and complies with the requirements of any applicable
local laws. Enslavement and labour trafficking are also prohibited.
Employees’ identity or immigration documents are not held by the
Company unless it is required by law. The Group has established a
channel for employees to report any suspected cases by putting a
message in the Employees’ suggestion box and General Manager’s
mail box.

In addition to child labour and forced labour, the Group
commits to provide a workplace free of harassment and
unlawful discrimination. The Company has established the
“RBA anti-discrimination procedure” (formerly known as “EICC
antidiscrimination procedure”) and employs talents regardless
of color, age, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity and
expression, race, pregnancy, political affiliation and religion.
The Group believes that everyone is unique and has his or her
own strength in different aspects and the Group endeavours to
promote the awareness of anti-discrimination at the workplace.
Investigation will be conducted and led by senior management of
the Group if suspected case is reported.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group fully understands that career development for
employees is one of the critical elements for maintaining long
term relationship between the employees and the Group.

The Group organises trainings for employees every year. Training
courses on topics including but not limited to management
systems such as I1SO9001, ISO4001 and ISO/TS16949, job
requirements, customer requirements, product safety and
statistical process control are organised to enhance the knowledge
and skills of employees to meet the challenges in the workplace.
The Group also provides trainings for its directors and senior
management to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in
order to discharge their duties more efficiently.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group pays attention to occupational health and safety.
Safety in the workplace and supply of protective equipments are
the key issues. Compliance with the relevant local laws is the first
step for the Group. Protective equipments such as masks and
goggles are provided to employees who have physical contact
with chemical substances to protect themselves. The Group offers
physical examination to employees in three phases including pre-
employment, during employment period and also after resignation
in order to protect employees’ health.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER L F
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Enhancing safety awareness of employees is also important. The
Group conducts health and safety trainings to new employees
based on their job duties. In addition, the Group provides ongoing
safety trainings which cover topics including but not limited to
job hazard, protective measures, job safety agenda, correct usage
of personal protective equipments and relevant health and safety
laws.

Apart from the workplace, the Group also cares about sanitation,
food and housing of employees. The Group provides clear and
safe dormitories to employers with adequate living area to enjoy
their own privacy. The Group also provides sanitary food to
minimise the chance of food poisoning. All food is of a certain
nutritional quality.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY AND SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT

Product quality is a critical factor for the Group to staying
competitive in the market. The Group strives to provide
satisfactory products and services to customers and zero defect is
our long term goal. The Group values our customers. A product
briefing regarding product details, usage of products and relevant
safety issues will be given by technical professionals to new
customers. Moreover, the Group’s customer service team is fully
responsible for taking care of the customers including technical
support, complaints or any comments concerning the services and
products of the Company. To fully understand customers’ needs,
customer satisfaction survey will be conducted regularly. For the
non-conformed products, the Group has established a “Product
return procedure” to identify the cause of failure to improve and
meet customers’ standard and a specific timeframe for response to
questions and/or complaints was set to respond to the customer.

With the aim of reducing greenhouse gas emissions, local
suppliers are given purchasing priority if they fulfill the Company’s
requirements.

ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY ON CORRUPTION

Raw material is one of the important elements that affects
product quality. All business dealings between the Group and
suppliers are transparently performed to uphold business integrity
and honesty. The Group has a zero tolerance policy to prohibit any
and all forms of bribery, corruption, extortion and embezzlement.
Furthermore, the Company conducts supplier evaluations regularly
in three main areas: quality, environment and production process
to ensure the supplier’s performance is satisfactory.
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Integrity and honesty of employees is important to the Group.
The Group has adopted the whistle-blowing policy in 2010 and
has established a communication process for employees to report
any suspected non-compliance cases in confidence without fear
of retaliation. The Board also reviews the effectiveness of such
reporting system regularly.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

The Group is committed to serving the community and recognizes
that positive contribution to the community is the responsibility
of a good corporate citizen. The Group contributes a funding
to local tax authority every year in Dongguan to support career
opportunities of disabled people. The Group will continue to
contribute to the community in the future.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER L F
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KPMG!

TO THE MEMBERS OF MAN YUE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man
Yue Technology Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group"”) set out on pages 65 to 208, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B ZBEN RS

BEMNREEERATDRR
(REFREFMA L FRAAE])

=R

AIZERED (A T BRI ) B REAIIENESESR
208E BRI EBEBR AR (ATERBIERA DR
HIB AR (AT ERE ) 2R MEMwE - It
RAPBRREEN T /\F+-_A=t—HZ&
BYBRAREREZ A LFEZHFARGER K4
BREEEPERAK  GERSEPRLESREAE
R ARG EMBHRERME - BRIESITEERE
Eo

BHRR  ZEGRAMBRRCREET LIS
B EEYHREEIDAEMAFRR R
ER - N\FT_A=t—BzZHEEUBHIRIEE
BERALFEZHAMBRAMGARSRE X
EIRREB(RAGDD 2 HEREL RimE -

RRER
BMERBEEESHMAGRM (B EELRDE
TE - REZSFER - RAIZBERAREZH
AL R S M MR 2 R — 8P — 2
REFBGAAERM (BESFTAEETH)D
(AT RERED 7 81 ) R B 8 P18 B AR & B S 3R R
MBS EBRRE  RPBYR BE5E-
BEMERBEZSRERTRETEMBRET &
FIMRE - BPPAES BN BREETRNEZ A
Pz BB RRHER -

Annual Report 2018 £#f

55



56

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

BEETEH
RRETFRERERMANERNE - REHRMAF
ARG EVBRRRAEECLEE - ZFFEEE
BAIET RS EM BRI A RRETERE
MEM I ELELEREHEBZER -

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Valuation of inventories
FefE

Refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4(m) on pages 104 to

105.

BRGE A B R AN 25 R E104F 10582 S5t H7E4(m) »

The key audit matter
BEEEE

At the reporting date the Group held significant
quantities of inventories, which principally comprised
electronic capacitors, with different products in different
phases of their manufacturing life cycles. The ability of
the Group to sell these inventories in the future may be
adversely affected by changes in competitors’ pricing
strategies and the introduction of new products and
technology.

REERY - ERERBEARERE  ITERERH 4E
BHEEATR  ERATE - ERERREEZSEFEN
RE e E B 5 T (B SRS N A m RSl P tE T 2 B )

By 486
T o

Management performs regular reviews of the carrying
amounts of inventories with reference to the inventory
ageing report, projections of expected future sales of
goods and management'’s experience and judgement.
Based on this review, a write-down of inventories will be
made when the estimated net realisable value of an item
of inventory falls below its carrying amount.

BEEEENFERERRE  ARARREEEZRAAREE
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AR AT R EENEREER L5 o

The Group may sell aged inventories at a markdown
from the original price to avoid an accumulation of slow-
moving inventories. Accordingly, the actual future selling
prices of some items of slow-moving inventories may fall
below their cost.

EREAMELHERERS  NELREBHEEFE - Bt
ETHREFEZERRREE A EERERA -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEWES A REZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of inventories
included the following:

B EERECETIEFRENATSE

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with underlying documentation,
including purchase invoices and goods received
notes;

o BERAREFZBLBRETTFERREEXH(RE
RBEENCWENRE)  FRFERERSTHR
BREBAEENREES

e assessing the Group’s inventory write-down policy
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

o RIBEMGIREERT  FE SREZEEMIEK
%

e evaluating the Group’s inventory write-down policy
by comparing management’s forecast markdowns
and utilisation for inventories with historical data
or actual sales and utilisation subsequent to the
reporting date for the current and prior year;

s EBRHBENMBAFEEREZFERERERK
FRRAEBFEAMRELBBEAEREEREM ¥
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Independent Auditor’s Report
B HENRE

REFTSEE ()

Valuation of inventories
FEME

Refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4(m) on pages 104 to

105.

BRRF AT RERNF25 R F 104F 10582 2 5HERHTiE4(m)

The key audit matter
HRETEE

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter because of the significant judgement exercised by
management in determining appropriate inventory write-
downs, which involves estimating the duration of product
life cycles, predicting the amounts of inventories which
will be sold in the future and the markdowns necessary
to sell such inventories on a discounted basis in future
years all of which are inherently uncertain.

BMEFRAE RRRENFE AR EEGEETEE
HF EMEE MR KR TR ERAE - ME PSP RMERE
A BRI HERE - B RRLENTFEHE RNARE
BFEREBLEXSEFEMFHELONN - ZFEARGFERE
BAFEENE -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ESNAEEZEE

e assessing whether the inventory write-downs at the
reporting date were calculated on a basis consistent
with the Group’s inventory write-down policy by
recalculating the inventory write-downs based on
expected selling prices and utilisation;.

o  EBREFIEEREMEMETEMEMEE - FHE
RSz FERERRERDRE SXEFEM
o

e enquiring of management at the operations level
about any expected changes in plans for markdowns
and utilisation of inventories on hand and comparing
their representations with actual sales transactions
and utilisation subsequent to the reporting date.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

BEFTSEE(E)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium

BMYE - BERRBUR L HEERNRZEEREETTME

Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4(d) on pages 84 to

86.

FRR S RN 18R 19 R EE84F86 B .2 5ME M FEA(d) -

The key audit matter
BRETSEE

The Group held significant amount of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid land premium amounting
to HK$575 million and HK$62 million respectively as at
31 December 2018.

EREREAEVE  BERIEURLHASENZ - B
—E- N\F+-_A=+—HOHEES.7EBTR62TE
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Management assessed impairment indicators for the
Group's property, plant and equipment and prepaid land
premium; and performed impairment assessments by
comparing the aggregate carrying values of the property,
plant and equipment and prepaid land premium or the
cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which these assets were
allocated with the value-in-use based on net present
values of the respective discounted cash flow forecasts
or fair value less costs of disposal based on the valuation
report issued by an independent external valuer engaged
by the Group, whichever was higher, to determine the
amount of impairment which should be recognised for
the year, if any.

BEEERAREYE BB RREAR L AERNFETT
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We identified the assessment of potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium
as a key audit matter because significant management
judgement is involved in determining whether there are
indicators of impairment and because estimating the
recoverable amounts, forecasting the future cash flows
and determining adjustment to market price of these
assets involve inherent uncertainty and could be subject
to management bias.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESNAEEZSE

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium
included the following:

BPRHEDZE - BB RREIA R L EIEN R BERE
ZEEFREATRIA

e  evaluating management’s identification of CGUs and
the amounts of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land premium allocated to each CGU;

s HMEEREUHRSELABUZERRNEESRSES
BRI zWE - BB RRE AR DA ERNRZ BUE

e evaluating the methodology adopted by
management in its impairment assessments with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

o 2ERTEIMRERNGHEERENEETRER AR
FERAEIIE

e assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment models, which included assessing
the impairment indicators defined by the Group,
evaluating the discounted cash flow forecasts for
each CGU and considering whether these supported
the carrying value of the relevant assets;

o HME EREZREFGEEAREHER - 85
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Independent Auditor’s Report
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REFTSEE ()

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium

BMUE  BERRBUR L HEERNTRZEEREETTME

Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4(d) on pages 84 to

86.

BRI A SR ANTF 182 19 B84 Z 86 B 2 @ 5HE AR 1 5+4(d)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRESEH EMNESANAEEZSE

critically examining the key assumptions, including
forecast revenue, future growth rates, future
margins, future cost growth rates and the discount
rates, adopted by management in its preparation of
the discounted cash flow forecasts by referring to
industry and other available third party information,
the recent financial performance of the Group's
trading and manufacturing operations and
management’s budgets and plans for the operations
in 2019 and beyond;

EHRREEEERAUURASRERARRA 2 TER
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X BEEEBSRAEXBOBUBREULE
BER T -NEFR2BZELEHZAE RS

evaluating the discount rates applied by management
in its discounted cash flow forecasts with reference
to available financial information of other companies
in same relevant industry and considering country
and company specific risk premiums;

REER—MBTENEMAR ZAIESHBER - ¥
HERERERRARSREBEATEAZEREX kR
B RS E K A R EEBREE

performing a sensitivity analysis for the key variables
in the discounted cash flow forecast, which included
assessing the effect of reasonably possible changes
in future revenue, future cost growth rates and
the discount rates to evaluate the impact on the
conclusions reached by management and to assess
whether there were any indicators of management
bias;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) RARESTEE(E)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment and prepaid land premium

BMYE - BERRBUR L HEERIRZEEREETTME

Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 4(d) on pages 84 to
86.
BRI EEIREN T 18K 19K E84F86 8 .2 it BAMiF4(d)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRETSEE BRANETNAUEEZEE

e obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by
management on which management’s assessment
of the fair value less costs of disposal of the property,
plant and equipment and prepaid land premium was
based;

s HBSUREEEEMZBZIMNEHEMENEREH
EME - BE KRB R LGNSR A ERK
KRB BERS

e assessing the external valuer’'s qualification,
experience and expertise in the assets being valued,
and evaluating its independence and objectivity;

o FHEINBAEMRZMGEEEEZER  KLBRREXX
B WAHEEBI I RER

e discussing and challenging the key estimates and
assumptions adopted by the external valuer in
the valuations, including market comparables and
adjustment factors;

o ERRHERSNBEEMN AR RA 2 E Bl RE
% BETETAL AN RIREE |

e involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in evaluating the methodology adopted by the
external valuer in its valuation and comparing the
major assumptions applied by the external valuer in
the assessment of the fair value less costs of disposal
with available market data.

o  BRAEHEZERBBRFIFHEIMNS A ER N A ER
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
R EIE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
R EIE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
MR EIE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Sylvene Fong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

14 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

| = 4

L N2
,%m/E\u (=N

For the year ended 31 December 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
2 E—\F A=+ —HIUFELETIT)

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Revenue WA 6,7 1,361,718 1,275,923
Cost of sales SHERAR (1,087,592) (995,877)
Gross profit EA 274,126 280,046
Other income EHAb A 7 7,544 9,771
Other net losses HibEiEFE 7 (2,079) (49)
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEER (63,540) (69,563)
Administrative expenses THRER (161,184) (143,593)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss  fEIWE 5 K EtBR R 2 CRE
on trade and other receivables B18),/ REEEER (3.010) 943
Operating profit RERA 8 51,857 77,555
Changes in fair values of derivative FREHANE 7 HE
financial instruments 10 413 (2,898)
Finance costs B H 1M (32,181) (28,582)
Finance income B 12 4,686 4,667
Share of results of joint ventures JE(hEB D 218 31,891 11,457
Profit before tax AT 56,666 62,199
Income tax STt 15 (15,990) (16,994)
Profit for the year REERF 40,676 45,205
Profit attributable to: FEMRF) -
- Equity holders of the Company —RARIREZE A 43,046 48,177
- Non-controlling interests — IR R AR R R (2,370) (2,972)
Profit for the year REERF 40,676 45,205
Earnings per share attributable to AD B RESEAEN
equity holders of the Company SEREF 16
— Basic —ER 9.05 HK centsi# 1l 10.13 HK cents/&1ll
— Diluted — s 9.05 HK centsi&fll  10.13 HK cents&1ll

The notes on pages 72 to 208 form part of these consolidated BN E72EF208E 2 HiiF AL R4 M BHRE Y —
financial statements. BB -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEakAMEEmBRAR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
B2 —F— )\ F+ = A=+—HIFELETIT)

2018 2017
—B-)N\E& —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Profit for the year REFEEHF 40,676 45,205
Other comprehensive income: Ee2miies : 15(c)
[tems that will not be reclassified HEg T esnBaEEsr
subsequently to profit or loss BH
— Assets revaluation surplus, —NBFIBREE
net of tax EHAK 20,318 4,605
— Remeasurement of net defined — IR FBIER ETE
benefit assets, net of tax AERHEE (268) 6
[tem that may be reclassified HignEFoEE
subsequently to profit or loss bi=Ew = JE|
— Currency translation differences —[ER =% (100,809) 133,783
Other comprehensive income REFHRTIIEE
for the year, net of tax Hib 2 mEikas (80,759) 138,394
Total comprehensive income REE MBS FARE
for the year (40,083) 183,599
Total comprehensive income EEEmEkS4RsE
attributable to:
— Equity holders of the Company — NN BIRERS B A (35,856) 181,811
— Non-controlling interests — R AR R R A (4,227) 1,788
(40,083) 183,599

The notes on pages 72 to 208 form part of these consolidated HRF72EF208E 2 HF AN SHAMBHRERZ—
financial statements. BB o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

At 31 December 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RCFE-NFFZA=+—HLUETIT)

2018
—E-N\F

2017
—ET—+tF
HK$'000
FHT

HK$'000
F

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M B &R 18 575,604 602,264
Prepaid land premium TS TR 19 61,858 68,718
Investment properties KEYHE 20 147,778 136,522
Intangible assets M A E 22 1,783 2,254
Investments in joint ventures NEEPEZIRE 24 140,474 116,371
Prepayments on purchases of BEME - WERE
property, plant and equipment ZIBRER 18 99,540 66,428
Financial assets at fair value through A AR ERIEBZRAS R
profit or loss ZEEEE 21 23,936 23,374
Loans to a joint venture BT MEEEZER 24 118,501 108,903
Other prepayments H fth T 5IE 5,530 965
Deferred tax assets EETHIBEE 31(b) 14,173 16,463
Total non-current assets IERENEEMRE 1,189,177 1,142,262
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 25 608,425 535,553
Trade receivables FEWE 5 IRT 26 585,226 640,594
Prepayments, deposits and other TENFIE - e Rk
receivables Hoh pE Y ERIE 26 108,342 96,894
Due from joint ventures Rl AEEDE T FIB 24 28,823 22,609
Financial assets at fair value through AR RERERATER
profit or loss JEREE 21 20 36
Net defined benefit retirement assets ~ REBFRIRETZ
BEFHE 35 689 971
Tax recoverable AT EIF I8 31(a) 1,633 1,466
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 28 202,338 312,702
Total current assets MEVEEAE 1,535,496 1,610,825
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and bills payables ENE SRR REE 29 201,160 225,069
Other payables and accrued liabilities ~— H{bEFIE N B B E 29 106,629 105,320
Due to joint ventures JEfT & & 2 FRIA 24 43,781 39,465
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMIA 27 1,989 3,680
Tax payable FERTFRIE 31(@a) 8,989 8,631
Bank loans RITER 30 800,019 718,795
Dividends payable FERIAR B 43 43
Total current liabilities mEEERE 1,162,610 1,101,003
Net current assets mENEEFE 372,886 509,822
Total assets less current liabilities BERBERMIEE 1,562,063 1,652,084
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI R

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Non-current liabilities kRBERS
Bank loans SRITER 30 89,336 128,284
Derivative financial instruments PTESR T A 27 284 2,476
Provision for long service payments REARTE 2 HE 77 77
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 31(b) 39,614 34,677
Deferred income RIEW A 32 10,224 11,031
Total non-current liabilities IEREBEREE 139,535 176,545
NET ASSETS EEZE 1,422,528 1,475,539
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital R& N 33 47,555 47,555
Reserves i 40 1,333,096 1,368,952
Equity attributable to equity ARABREFEA
holders of the Company L 1,380,651 1,416,507
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR AR R £ 41,877 59,032
TOTAL EQUITY EHEE 1,422,528 1,475,539

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on  KEZERHR 201943 A 14 8 #E LR -
14 March 2019.

Kee Chor Lin Chan Tat Cheong, Alan
LEE BRES
Director Director
BE BF

The notes on pages 72 to 208 form part of these consolidated  EHNFE72E208H 7 et ARG A BREc2EK

financial statements. 2B ©
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Balance at 1 January 2017

Adjustment on initial application of HKFRS 9

Adjusted balance on 1 January 2017

Profit/{loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
- Assets revaluation surplus, net of tax
- Remeasurement of net defined benefit
assets, net of tax
Item that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
- Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2017

Acquisition of non-controlling interest
without a change in control

Balance at 31 December 2017

Balance at 1 January 2018

Profit/(loss) for the year
Qther comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
- Assets revaluation surplus, net of tax
— Remeasurement of net defined benefit
assets, net of tax
Item that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
- Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2018

Acquisition of non-controlling interest
without a change in control

Balance at 31 December 2018

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

E-tE-R-AzkR
EREREEHBRSER

F9 2 BE

“ECE-R-RZBRES

REREH/ (BE)
H@%@Wﬁ

EhUENHBEER

BR

- RHEREES RS
- IBRBREN BAT

RHEE

HREHARIER

BH

-ERES

F=F—+F+-f=1-H
ﬁfﬁﬁ%

A RLRETHEREERE

ZE-tETSRET-RER
—B-N\F-A-HzER

REEEH/ (BE)
ﬁ@%@%m

HkmEFIRERE
ZER

- IBREREEBERS
- IBREKENTERE

EHAE

HRREFNRERE
ZER

- EXER

Hi—F-)\E+-A=1-H

¢¢r£@w

A ERRE T HERERRD

ZE-\E+ZAZT-RER

GAERED®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
2T \F1+ - A=1—HIFEZE (LETIT)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RARRERE AL
Non-
controlling Total
Share capital Reserves Total interests equity
AT it it FERRREE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fitz T T T TR
47,555 1,194,855 1,242,410 70,165 1,312,575
- (7,114 (7,114) - (7,14
47,555 1,187,141 1,234,696 70,165 1,304,86
- 8177 8177 (2,972) 45,205
40 - 4,605 4,605 - 4,605
40 - 6 6 - 6
40 - 129,023 129,023 4,760 133,783
- 181,811 181,811 1,788 183,599
- - - (12,921) (12,921)
- - - (12,921) (12,921)
47,555 1,368,952 1,416,507 59,032 1,475,539
47,555 1,368,952 1,416,507 59,032 1,475,539
- 43,046 43,046 (2,370) 40,676
40 - 20,318 20,318 - 20,318
40 - (268) (268) - (268)
40 - (98,952) (98,952) (1,857) (100,809)
- (35,856) (35,856) (4,227) (40,083)
- - - (12,928) (12,928)
- - - (12,929) (12,929)
47,555 1,333,096 1,380,651 41,871 1,422,528

The notes on pages 72*t(7M0nsolidated BNET72E2088 2 T BN GG & W SR 2 A B

financial statements.

{/'\ °
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
n‘/_.]_\ EE%UHJE?:—I%

For the year ended 31 December 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE—F—\F+ - A=+—HIFFELGETIT)

70

2018
—B-NF

HK$’000
FTER

2017
T tF
HK$'000
TAT

Cash flows from operating activities REEBCAERE
Profit before tax B RTEF 56,666 62,199
Adjustments for: AR
Finance costs b 1 32,181 28,582
Fair value gain on investment properties REMEZ DR BEWEE 7(c) (3,403) (15,696)
Write-off of other payables A A< RRIE M 8 7(c) - (2,808)
Share of results of joint ventures ElEEEtEz ¥R (31,891) (11,457)
Dividend income f% B 7(c) (867) (1,157)
Finance income BRI 12 (4,686) (4,667)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant HEME  BENRE
and equipment Was) /B8 8 (6) 518
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERERETE
equipment 8 55,907 59,630
Amortisation of prepaid land premium + 0SB T 8 1,505 1,533
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 8 408 332
Deferred income recognised as income B AFER B 8 (311) (304)
Write-down of inventories FEMR 8 4,614 3,946
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMFRER 8 (3,037) (6,085)
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment FEWE Z REABR 2 RIE
loss) on trade and other receivables BB/ CREsEEL) 8 3,010 (943)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair UARBERERATIR & &
value through profit or loss BEZALBEHNES 8 (983) (8,549)
Fair value (gain)/loss on derivative TESRIAZAAE
financial instruments W),/ BB 10 (413) 2,898
108,694 107,972
Increase in inventories FEEEm (95,444) (43,424)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEWE SEERURL /(3Eh0) 42,967 (141,398)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and FERFIA - 2e REMEK
other receivables RIEHEAN (18,095) (4,078)
Increase in net defined benefit retirement  REBFERIKE 2187
assets #m (12) (18)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from fEW A & TR (12 m),/
joint ventures B (4,519) 2,570
Increase in amounts due to joint ventures  FEATA & R ZIEE 4,316 19,714
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills ENESELXRER(HD),/
payables #m (20,370) 28,389
Increase in other payables and accrued HipENFZE M E AR
liabilities bl 3,191 10,912
Decrease in provision for long service RERBEBERD
payments = (111)
Cash generated from/(used in) gemE/ (FRBRE
operations 20,728 (19,472)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREERER (1,770) (276)
Mainland China and overseas taxes paid BT ERGINGIE (11,024) (12,029
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BEERSBERAN
operating activities (Fid) B8 7,934 (31,777)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
SERERER

2018 2017
—2-N\F —T—F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T

Cash flows from investing activities RETHEHERE
Prepayments on purchases of property, BEWE BEREREZ

plant and equipment FERFRIA (40,973) (15,319)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment FEB¥% - S &5 (36,540) (25,866)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest R ERRIE T 3R IR

without a change in control ey (12,928) (12,921)
Dividend received B E 7(c) 867 1,157
Interest received BUF & 12 4,686 4,667
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant LEDE BER

and equipment SRIBATEHE 1,965 2,501
Proceeds from disposal of an investment HEREMEMSRE

property 20 - 74,209
Increase in loans to joint ventures BYRECEZETIEM (13,749) (3,701)
Decrease in time deposits with banks RITTFRRD = 7,775
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from REZHZHE(RE)/

investing activities RAFE (96,672) 32,502

Cash flows from financing activities METH2RAERE

Proceeds from new bank loans LR ITE G RIE 28 780,120 581,961
Repayment of bank loans BiBRITER 28 (736,451) (545,418)
Payment for interest rate swaps FAF = 28 (3,470) (4,736)
Interest paid SR B 1M (32,911) (28,582)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEEERERATBE 7,288 3,225

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBSEEYZ(BL)/

cash equivalents NS (81,450) 3,950
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes JNEERSE) - & (28,914) 25,636
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F{IzREFEE

of year ZEY 28 312,702 283,116
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRzBRERESE

of year ZEY 28 202,338 312,702

The notes on pages 72 to 208 form part of these consolidated — MR FE72E208E 2 Kl st AAERE M B RE 2 48R ED
financial statements. 5o
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Notes to the Consqlidated Financial Statements
e RS R R Y EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B ZHZIN - GLETTIT)

1

GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
are the manufacturing and the trading of electronic
components and raw materials.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board on 14 March 2019.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which
collective term include all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”)
and the Group's interest in joint ventures.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EEER AR

—REH
AARRENBARZ EELHANEREES
F IR -

AAEA—MREBREFMELZERAF
E i EE it AClarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °

RAFABRFEEZE LTt o

BEEEAN  EFAPBRRINETZEY -
IFRA M B ®RERN2019F3 A 14REE=SH
JFETIES

mBEE

(a) EHREH

TG ETBRRRIEBESCTMASE
R A E R RCE BT EREER (4R
WEEMAEANEICE BT EREE
B (BB EANDIREB)UAREBA
REA R EEBRENNEER TR
2o RYBBERARFTAEANEBH S
RGARRARESF L TRANEERTE -

(b) AEIBBAZEREE

HE2018F 12 A3 B I FENGEATE
WMERBEARBRZHMBRAR (G AE
E ) RAEBEESE QN BIMER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below:

— investment properties (see note 4(qg));

—  other leasehold land and buildings, where the
leasehold land is classified as being held under a
finance lease (see note 4(f));

—  defined benefit retirement assets (see note 4(v)(iii))

—  financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") (see note 4(j)); and

—  derivative financial instruments (see note 4(l)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group. The Group has early
adopted HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with a date of initial
application of 1 January 2017. The following developments
are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

° HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

° HK(IFRIC) 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue and some costs from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18 Revenue, which
covered revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering
of services, and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts, which
specified the accounting for construction contracts.

HKFRS 15 also introduces additional qualitative disclosure
requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts
with customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes on
previous accounting policies are set out below:

(i)

Timing of revenue recognition

Previously, revenue from sale of goods was generally
recognised at a point in time when the risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods had passed to the
customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised good or
service in the contract. This may be at a single point in
time or over time. HKFRS 15 identifies the following
three situations in which control of the promised good
or service is regarded as being transferred over time:

A.  When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

B. When the entity’s performance creates or
enhances an asset (for example work in progress)
that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced;

C. When the entity’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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A VBRI

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

0

(i)

(iii)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall
into any of these three situations, then under HKFRS 15
the entity recognises revenue for the sale of that good
or service at a single point in time, being when control
has passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of ownership
is only one of the indicators that is considered in
determining when the transfer of control occurs.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant
impact on when the Group recognises revenue from
sales of electronic components and raw materials.

Significant financing component

HKFRS 15 requires an entity to adjust the transaction
price for the time value of money when a contract
contains a significant financing component, regardless
of whether the payments from customers are received
significantly in advance of revenue recognition or
significantly deferred.

There has been no impact on the Group as a result of
this change in policy.

Presentation of contract liabilities

Under HKFRS 15, a contract liability, rather than a
payable, is recognised (1) when a customer pays
consideration, or is contractually required to pay
consideration and the amount is already due, before
the Group recognises the related revenue and (2) for
expected volume discounts payable to customers in
relation to sales made until the end of the reporting
period.

To reflect these changes in presentation, the Group has
made the following adjustment at 1 January 2018, as a
result of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

e  “Provision for sales rebates” amounting to
HK$6,746,000, which was previously included
in trade and other receivables (note 26) are now
included in other payables and accrued liabilities as
contract liabilities (note 29).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EEBEREE(E)
(CONTINUED)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ERANERELENEISHEIZEFALOW
(Continued) AJ(&E)

(iv) Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts
reported in respect of the year ended 31 December
2018 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on
1 January 2018.

The following tables summarise the estimated impact
of adoption of HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018, by comparing the amounts reported under HKFRS
15 in these consolidated financial statements with
estimates of the hypothetical amounts that would have
been recognised under HKAS 18 if those superseded
standards had continued to apply to 2018 instead of
HKFRS 15. These tables show only those line items
impacted by the adoption of HKFRS 15:

(iv) HEN2018F1B 1B RHBBHBRE
XER|FE15%REEE2018F 128318 LEF
EERSHE e

TRBMURAE ST F RS AR 1557
AREBFHZE2018F12A31BILFE 2546
BB MERZTE  FEABBREEBIME
EEREISHENZSHRAMBRERME
REFBEARBEE BT ERE 185 ED 1
R BREEMT (W2 SH IR EREE
WAR2018F » MIEBETBRELRZE
1550 )#ETTLLER - 2 EPREBERERNE
BYBHEERF1SEMIFE AR

Difference:

Amounts Estimated

reported in
accordance
with
HKFRS 15
(A)

REER|
FISHEERZ
SE(A)
HK$'000
FEx

Hypothetical
amounts
under

HKAS 18

(B)

BEEES
R8I 2
BREH(B)
HK$'000
TEx

impact of
adoption of
HKFRS 15

on 2018
(A)-(B)

=5 | N2018F
RABBHB
WELER
SE15%% 2t
F2(n)-(B)
HK$'000
TR

Line items in the consolidated REAE Y EHREER

statement of financial position as FISEMZHE 22018

at 31 December 2018 impacted by  F12 831 &4 KM

the adoption of HKFRS 15: MEEE :
Trade receivables FEUE SRR 585,226 578,480 6,746
Total current assets FBEELE 1,535,496 1,528,750 6,746
Other payables and accrued liabilities — E bRt E M E+EE (106,629) (99,883) (6,746)
Total current liabilities RBEEAE (1,162,610) (1,155,864) (6,746)
Line items in the consolidated cash RiFME BB REEL

flow statement for year ended EISHMZHE 22018

31 December 2018 impacted by F12A31AGEHER

the adoption of HKFRS 15: EXEE
Decrease in trade receivables FEUWE SRR 42,967 49,713 (6,746)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HitEMZOE R R A G

and accrued liabilities #9074 3,191 (3,555) 6,746
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PR ER AR M

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HK(IFRIC) 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

This interpretation provides guidance on determining “the
date of the transaction” for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part of it) arising from a transaction in
which an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a
foreign currency.

The interpretation clarifies that “the date of the transaction”
is the date on initial recognition of the non-monetary asset
or liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts
in advance of recognising the related item, the date of
the transaction for each payment or receipt should be
determined in this way.

The adoption of HK(IFRIC) 22 does not have any material
impact on the financial position and the financial result of
the Group.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR

4 IEETHRME

O PEVERFEET

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented
as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position in accordance with notes 4(j)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note
4(j)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or joint venture (see
note 4(b)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 4(d), unless the investment
is classified as held for sales (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale) (see note 4(e)).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Joint ventures

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI ERRME

4 FEETHRBMEGE)

(b) E&®E

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
or company and other parties contractually agree to
share control of the arrangement, and have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal Group that is classified as held
for sale) (see note 4(e)). Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for
any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets
over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the joint venture that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in
the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment (see notes 4
(d) and (k)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group's interest
is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net
investment in the joint venture.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint
control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the
date when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 4(j)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in joint ventures are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 4(d)), unless classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal Group that is
classified as held for sale) (see note 4(e)).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwiill

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4 FEETHRBMEGE)

() B&

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a
bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of
cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination and is tested annually
for impairment (see note 4(d)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.

P EE ()R B () < B

() FEEAEZATE PREKBTZ
RSB A EB AT RE W
WS R AkR 2 A E=EAF

(i) RS R A R R B AR
MR 2B AT -

B)RROE - B 2 BB NMEaE P
HER TR A EWIE 2 Yhas

BB AR RETREBREN R - X715
AHELEZAERIRERYREBA G
ZEREEN c EREELEURBR S
EEBMAR - TEEFRERE(RME
4(d)) -

REALERSEL B2 TABIEEA
BELBHEBENLER ZIBEA -

Annual Report 2018 %

83



84

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets
(i) Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

—  pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified
as being held under an operating lease;

- intangible assets;
—  goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
in the Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4 FEETHRBMEGE)

(d) FE=RMEEREGE)

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable

- FETREHE
BEZ TREEERER R TER
HEXRAREREBEEI BRSE
A EE REER - [SETRKRE
ERERTRREBEEERR
HEREERBRR 2RSS
b Z TATARIR AL AIRIE © fin
FEEMEEZRERAKRE L
TEINEMEEMELEZRS
WA BIAREB EARERA
ZRNEERMN(AREELE

amount is determined for the smallest i) BB TE P Uk Bl 2 AR o
group of assets that generates cash inflows

independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses - BREEESSE

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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A VBRI

4 SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets

(Continu

(ii) Inter

ed)

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

im financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
the Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with HKAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting, in respect of the first
six months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the same

impa

irment testing, recognition, and reversal

criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see notes 4(d)(i) and (k)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Non-current assets held-for-sale

(f)

Non-current assets are classified as held-for-sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell. Deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than investments
in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) and
investment properties, even if held-for-sale, would
continue to be measured in accordance with the policies
set out elsewhere in note 4.

Property, plant and equipment

The land classified as being held under finance leases
and buildings (see note 4(i)) held for own use are
stated at their revalued amount, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity
to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the end of reporting
period.

The other items of plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 4(d)).

Changes arising on the revaluation of land and
buildings held for own use are generally dealt with
in other comprehensive income and are accumulated
separately in equity in the assets revaluation reserve.
The only exceptions are as follows:

— when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the amount held in the reserve in respect
of that same asset immediately prior to the
revaluation; and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to profit or loss to the extent that a deficit
on revaluation in respect of that same asset had
previously been charged to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing
costs (see note 4(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred
from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

—  Leasehold land classified as held under finance
leases is depreciated over the unexpired term of
lease.

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term
of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no
more than 50 years after the date of completion.

—  Machinery and equipment 5-12 years
—  Furniture and fixture 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years
—  Leasehold improvements 5-12 years

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited ¥R EBER L F]

4 FEETHRBMEGE)

(f)

Y3 ~ MR Rkt ()

BEME BELREERB ZKABEM
BN - BERST - Y1 hE(HEm) -
WEIRIFERIE B RN S E T ETT
IR ZBRA - A REE Bz M &R R
BB Z &R (RLHTEAX)

BEAHENE BEMRBREEEZ
Yoas s 1R IR H & TS SR IB S SR B 3% R B
REECZRETE  YRHREILEES

RIBERER - EAAEEERKRAER
REEREREETN  TEERHEFA

FETRBA T AHERFRAERE
WEME - BERREERE ZKAELE
AERGEREE)FE

- HERAERBMEMERAZEELTR
REMHEEFRIFTE -

— MELH EREBTRAIMEESF
REEMGHERFR(TZREKA
HI1R50F ) ITE -

- HRELERE 5-124F
- BERAREE 54
— EH 54
- THEMERE 5-124F



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress represents factory buildings,
office premises and workers’ dormitories and related
infrastructure projects under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
note 4(i)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment

property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment
property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income
from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 4(u).

When the Group holds a property interest under an
operating lease to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, the interest is classified and accounted for
as an investment property on a property-by-property
basis. Any such property interest which has been
classified as an investment property is accounted for as
if it were held under a finance lease (see note 4(i)), and
the same accounting policies are applied to that interest
as are applied to other investment properties leased
under finance leases. Lease payments are accounted for
as described in note 4(i).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable. Capitalised development costs
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see note 4(d)). Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in

which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(see note 4(d)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the
date they are available for use and their estimated useful

lives are as follows:
- Brand name

- Computer software

Both the period and method of amortisation are

reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that
the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is
reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to
use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of
time in return for a payment or a series of payments.
Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless
of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a

lease.

0]

Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the Group are classified as operating leases,
with the following exceptions:

property held under operating leases that
would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property is classified as investment
property on a property-by-property basis
and, if classified as investment property, is
accounted for as if held under a finance lease
(see note 4(g)); and

land held for own use under an operating
lease, the fair value of which cannot be
measured separately from the fair value of
a building situated thereon at the inception
of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is
also clearly held under an operating lease.
For these purposes, the inception of the lease
is the time that the lease was first entered
into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Leased assets (Continued)

(ii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives
received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property
is classified as an investment property (see note
4(g)).

(j) Financial instruments

0]

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are
initially recognised when they are originated. All
other financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially recognised when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified
as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") — debt
investment; FVOCI — equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to
their initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing financial assets
in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

— it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

— it is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets; and

— its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment'’s fair value in OCI. This election is made
on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative
financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured
at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective
of the business model in which a financial asset is
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects
the way the business is managed and information
is provided to management. The information

considered includes:

the stated policies and objectives for
the portfolio and the operation of those
policies in practice. These include whether
management’s strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest income, maintaining
a particular interest rate profile, matching
the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected
cash outflows or realising cash flows through
the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portfolio is
evaluated and reported to the Group’s
management;

the risks that affect the performance of the
business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those
risks are managed;

how managers of the business are
compensated — e.g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed
or the contractual cash flows collected; and

the frequency, volume and timing of sales of
financial assets in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future
sales activity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in
transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose,
consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition
of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are
managed and whose performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual
cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest.

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’
is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as
consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.qg. liquidity
risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit
margin.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows
are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Group considers the contractual terms of the
instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that
could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this
condition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers:

contingent events that would change the
amount or timing of cash flows;

—  terms that may adjust the contractual coupon
rate, including variable rate features,

—  prepayment and extension features; and

—  terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash
flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely
payments of principal and interest criterion if
the prepayment amount substantially represents
unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include
reasonable additional compensation for early
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a
financial asset acquired at a significant discount or
premium to its contractual par amount, a feature
that permits or requires prepayment at an amount
that substantially represents the contractual par
amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual
interest (which may also include reasonable
additional compensation for early termination) is
treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair
value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at
initial recognition.
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e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and
gains and losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair
value. Net gains and losses, including any interest
or dividend income, are recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated using the
effective interest method, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and
losses accumulated in OCl are reclassified to profit
or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair
value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI
and are never reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

(Continued)

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent
measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-
for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net
gains and losses, including any interest expense,
are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby
it transfers assets recognised in its statement
of financial position, but retains either all or
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred
assets are not derecognised.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when
its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises
a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the
difference between the carrying amount
extinguished and the consideration paid (including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()]

Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the amounts and it intends either to settle them
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

(k) Impairment of financial assets

Financial instruments

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs") on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured as 12-month ECLs:

— loans to a joint venture and amounts due from
joint ventures that are determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date; and

—  deposits and other receivables and bank balances
for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased significantly since
initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 180
days past due and without any business relationship.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

—  the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or

—  the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI ERRME

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4, FEETHRBEE)

(k) ERMEEREE)

(k) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the
financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
financial assets carried at amortised cost are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’
when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or
issuer;

—  breach of contract such as a default or being more
than 180 days past due;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the
statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

)

(m)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities
in order to comply with the Group's procedures for
recovery of amounts due.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such
as interest rate swaps to manage its risks associated
with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations.
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeaseurement to
fair value is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or suppliers to
be consumed in the production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) Inventories (continued)

(n)

(o)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount
of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs.
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount
of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognized
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 4(k)).

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturity of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. In the consolidated and the Company’s
statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4(k).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)

(a)

Trade and bills payables, other payables and
contract liabilities

Trade and bills payables are obligations to pay for
goods that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Contract liabilities are recognized (1) when customers
pay consideration, or are contractually required to pay
consideration and the amount is already due, before
the Group recognises the related revenue and (2) for
expected volume discounts payable to customers in
relation to sales made until the end of the reporting
period.

Provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

(s)

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account
if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they
are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it
is probable that they will reverse in the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(g), the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the property over time, rather than through sale. In all
other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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A VBRI

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

(t)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or
the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. Where the grant relates to the prepaid
land premium, the fair value is included in non-current
liabilities as deferred income. Deferred income is
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the
associated assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u) Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Further details of the Group'’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sales of electronic products
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products.

In the comparative period, revenue from sales
of electronic products was recognised when
the electronic products were delivered to the
customers’ premises, which was taken to be the
point in time when the customer had accepted
the goods and the related risks and rewards of
ownership.

(ii) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term.

(iii) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

(iv) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee benefits

0]

Share option scheme

The Group operates the Share Option Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 34 to
the financial statements. In valuing the granting
of share options, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions
linked to the price of the shares of the Company
(“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is
recognised, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award
(the "vesting date”). The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at each
end of reporting date until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group'’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is
reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in the Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit retirement plan obligations
The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined
benefit retirement plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods; that
benefit is discounted to determine the present
value and the fair value of any plan assets is
deducted. The calculation is performed by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. When the calculation results in a benefit
to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to
the present value of economic benefits available
in the form of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to-the plan.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

(Continued)

Service cost and net interest expense (income)
on the net defined benefit liability (asset) are
recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of “cost of sales”, “selling and
distribution costs” or “administrative expenses”.
Current service cost is measured as the increase
in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in the
current period. When the benefits of a plan are
changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by
employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is
recognised as an expense in profit or loss at the
earlier of when the plan amendment or curtailment
occurs and when related restructuring costs or
termination benefits are recognised. Net interest
expense (income) for the period is determined by
applying the discount rate used to measure the
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the
reporting period to the net defined benefit liability
(asset). The discount rate is the yield at the end
of the reporting period on high quality corporate
bonds that have maturity dates approximating the
terms of the group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit
retirement plans are recognised in other
comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in retained earnings. Remeasurements comprise
actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on
the net defined benefit liability (asset)) and any
change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(w) Borrowings

(x)

(y)

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised as borrowing costs over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the statement of financial position,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(z) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker of the Group,
which is considered as the Group’s executive team,
comprising all executive directors and headed by the
managing director. The chief operating decision-maker
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments based on the
entity-wide financial information.

(aa) Foreign currency translation

0]

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"),
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions are recognised in profit or loss.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the company
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(aa) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

R IR

4, FEETHRBEE)

(aa) SN E (4])

(iii) £EEAF
AEBNMEBEDNREEEEINENE
BzrrR(BESEBRECHEER
ZEE) 2 FERMBIRR - BER
2HEEIT

@ HEBHERIEMBRRRME
BEMABRZMBGINNE BB
ZWERIBHE

() EBMHEZEEME  BAKFEX
B R E (B IR F &
RWIXZAHBEREXRRFE
BZAEMNBC MAEKBRT
WA R R I%32 5 A #2 [ R ik
ORI

(@ BEEEZMAERZHENEMD
ZEWATER -

RUWBESINE A BIMEE ZER DA
BERE  HRELSZIINERBZEE
REfE  WRKHERKBE - rELE
ZIE R EER A 2 AR o

Annual Report 2018 %

117



118

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BEmRMEE

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ab) Financial guarantee

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee
(“the holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised
within “trade and other payables” at fair value,
which is determined by reference to fees charged in
an arm’s length transaction for similar services, when
such information is obtainable, or to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4, FEETHRBEE)

(ab) Financial guarantee (Continued)

(ab) FA # i 4R ()

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined
to be higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees (i.e.
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes
in the risk of default of the specified debtor since
the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor will
default has increased significantly since the guarantee
is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same assessment of
significant increase in credit risk as described in note
4(k) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an
ECL is estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amount that the Group expects to receive from the
holder of the guarantee, the specified debtor or any
other party. The amount is then discounted using the
current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.

(ac) Repurchase of shares

Where any group company purchases the Company'’s
equity share capital, the considerations paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs, is deducted
from equity attributable to the Company’s equity
holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where
such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received (net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs) is included in equity attributable to
the Company’s equity holders.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Notes 35 and 39 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to defined benefit retirement
obligations and financial instruments respectively. Other key
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

()

(ii)

Fair values of properties

The fair values of investment properties, land and
buildings are determined at the end of each reporting
period by independent professional valuers. The fair
values of certain land and buildings in the Mainland
China are determined on a depreciated replacement
cost basis. This methodology is based on an estimate
of the market value for the existing use of the land,
plus the current cost of replacement of the existing
structures less deductions for physical deterioration and
all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.
The fair values of the remaining land and buildings
and investment properties are determined on an open
market value basis by reference to comparable market
transactions.

Useful lives and impairment of property,
plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. Management will increase the depreciation
charges where useful lives are less than previously
estimated. It will dispose technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable
lives and therefore depreciation expense in future
periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(ii)

(iii)

Useful lives and impairment of property,
plant and equipment (Continued)

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment is
recognised as the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in note 4(d). The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use, which are based on the best
information available to reflect the amount obtainable
at each reporting date, from the disposal of the asset in
an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable,
willing parties, after deducting the costs of disposal.

Current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes in each of
these jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and
deferred tax assets and liabilities in the periods in which
such determination are made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised as
management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred tax assets and taxation in the periods in which
such estimates have been changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(iv) Write-down on inventories

(v)

Inventories are written down to net realisable value
based on an assessment of the realisability of inventories.
Write-down on inventories is recorded where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be realised. The identification of write-down
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of inventories
and write-down of inventories in the periods in which
such estimate has been changed. In accordance with
the Group's assessment, a write-down of inventories
of HK$1,577,000 was recorded by the Group in the
current year.

Impairment of receivables

The Group makes loss allowance on receivables
based on various factors including the ageing of the
receivables, historical write-off experience and forward
looking information. The identification of impairment
of receivables requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectations are different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact the
carrying values of receivables and the impairment loss
on receivable is recognised in the years in which such
estimates have been changed. Loss allowance on trade
receivables of HK$3,010,000 was made by the Group in
the current year.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited ¥R EBER L F]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s executive team, comprising all executive
directors and headed by the managing director of the
Company, is considered as the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM"). The CODM reviews the performance of
the Group on a regular basis.

As substantial business operations of the Group relate to
the manufacturing, selling and distribution of electronic
components, the CODM makes decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment based on the entity-
wide financial information. Accordingly, there is only one
single reportable segment for the Group. Set out below is a
summary list of key performance indicators reviewed by the
CODM on a regular basis:

R PR

7 EE
MAARSBRITEFERY B EFRERRY
ZAREHITEGHRAEEEBRRA(EE
BBREAL - TEREREATHRALEE
ZRB -

BRAKEARD XL ERRE - HERDH
EFLMAR  MAKETIELERRARER
RAEIZMEERMELERERD ERKRRFEZ
RE o Bt - AEBRBE—EAE AT 2HOE °
TRLERRATIR 2 T BRRRIEUEH
FImT

2018 2017

201845 20174

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

Revenue WA 1,361,718 1,275,923
Gross profit EF 274,126 280,046
Gross profit margin (%) EFE (%) 20.1% 21.9%
EBITDA' EBITDA' 146,667 152,276
EBITDA margin (%) EBITDALL 3R (%) 10.8% 11.9%
Operating expenses 2 CEER? 227,734 212,213
Operating expenses/revenue (%) 4 B F AR U A B 3R (%) 16.7% 16.6%
Profit for the year A E 40,676 45,205
Net profit margin (%) 401 2- (%) 3.0% 3.5%

Notes:

1. EBITDA represents the earnings before interest expenses, tax,
depreciation and amortisation.

2. Operating expenses represent the expenditure that the Group
incurs as a result of performing its normal business operations,
including selling and distribution costs, administrative expenses
and (impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss on trade and
other receivables.

GEX

1. EBITDAREREIFIEZWE - 1E - fTERBHAA
F o

2. KEBRBEAREREE-REBMELEZH

Mo BEEEROHEER  THRERARERE
S REMESCRERSR), IRESBEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RARMEE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEBER(E)
The following table presents the revenue from external TRIBAEEEIBAEE D ZINREFPIRA
customers and specified non-current assets of the Group REEIERDEE - RE2HWIBUBIREPAE
by geographical locations. The geographical location of HJE ° %5 TEIEREEE IRV E IIRE
customers is based on the geographical location of the MYE - BMEREENS - BEERMAEN -
customers. The geographical location of the specified non- MEREENGEMNE @ TESR 2 LEDBE R
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset, HREEEIRAME - 2EWEMIE °

in the case of property plant and equipment, the location
of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case
of intangible assets and goodwill, and the location of
operations, in the case of interest in joint ventures.

Year ended 31 December
HBZE12A31BLEE

2018 2017

20184 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT T

Revenue from external customers by BBV EE S 2

geographical locations HIEFKRA
Hong Kong S 70,544 83,093
Mainland China HRE A b 938,762 841,756
Taiwan =y 207,727 221,771
Southeast Asia 2 17,695 15,815
Korea =457 3,027 4,398
United States EH 38,209 32,871
Europe BN 59,160 50,284
Other countries HABIR 26,594 25,935

1,361,718 1,275,923
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R PR

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEER(E)

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2018 2017

20184 20174

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TET

Non-current assets by physical Rt BEID 2 RBEE

locations (excluding deferred tax (TEREEHBEEER

assets and financial assets LAREREBRRA

at fair value through profit JIRZ SREE)

or loss)
Hong Kong B 75,474 75,872
Mainland China R R A D, 1,075,323 1,026,230
Other countries HAbEIR 271 323

1,151,068 1,102,425
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AP RARMEE

7 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET 7 WA HW AR EMEEFERE
LOSSES

(a) Revenue (@ WA
The principal activities of the Group are the AEBZETBEKAREBERBEEE T LY
manufacturing and trading of electronic components REME o REEZWAIETE HERE
and raw materials. Revenue represents the net value R RE RITHR 2 FE -
of goods sold, after allowances for trade returns and
discounts.
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REETEERKRED 2AEHNRPWARBRMLN
customers by major product lines is as follows: ™
2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHBT
Revenue from contracts with REBIBRELERE155EE
customers within the scope of AZEHBA
HKFRS 15
Manufacturing and trading of SENEEE LM
electronic components 1,361,270 1,275,416
Trading of raw materials BB EME 443 507
1,361,718 1,275,923
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with R E 58D 2 &P A& KU BB AR
customers by geographical markets is disclosed in note FI6HEE o FTBW AR E —IFRE2ER -

6. All revenue is recognised at a single point in time.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER L F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET

LOSSES (CONTINUED)

(b) Other income

Scrap sales EERLEHE

Subsidies from the Central People's st A REF#ED
government

Rental income generated from BEMEEEZ
investment properties (Note 20(a)) WA (FF5E20())

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEWE  BEK
plant and equipment HfElEs (B1R)

Others EHh

R PR

7 WA B R B E IR ()

(b) HAuwg A

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHBxT FBT
1,432 768
983 1,603
2,346 3,539
6 (518)

2,777 4,379
7,544 9,771

(c) Other net losses

Dividend income

Fair value gain on investment
properties (Note 20)

Net foreign exchange losses

Write-off of other payable (Note)

Fair value gain on financial assets at AR AR ERIBESIBREY

B BA
BEMEZ

b 51 5 B 1R

R EWRE(HTFE20)

H it A SRR (BT RE) -

() EftEiREE

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHBT
867 1,157
3,403 15,696
(7,348) (28,259)
2,808

999 8,549
(2,079) (49)

fair value through profit or loss CREE
(Note 21) A AR (HTEE21)
Note:  As of 31 December 2018, none of other payables

was written off. As of 31 December 2017, other
payable of HK$2,808,000 was fully written off as the
obligation specified in the contract has expired.

Mt © #ZE2018F 128318  MEMEHMIE
TFRIE - HZE2017F128318 - AR
AWFTRZEMRE - N B
2,808,000/ 7T E B S -
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AP RARMEE

8 OPERATING PROFIT 8 &KeERA
The Group's operating profit is arrived at after charging/ REE 7 @LEF DGR GEA) TH&IE :
(crediting) the following:

2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Employee benefit expenses REEHMMAXZ 9 277,676 252,811
Cost of inventories sold (including BHEFERA
raw materials and consumables (BREBEFERZEMH
used and changes in inventories TS SR A R AR
of finished goods and work in rEERZ
progress) FEEE) 25(b) 1,086,015 998,016
Auditor’s remuneration ZER NS
— Audit services — Az EURTE 1,600 1,500
— Non-audit services —IERZEURTS 375 680
Depreciation of property, WE - BE R
plant and equipment RiEITE 18 55,907 59,630
Amortisation of prepaid land TiFHEE
premium SEVRE: 3] 19 1,505 1,533
Amortisation of intangible assets A B 6 22 408 332
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE&
plant and equipment Bz ) 18 (6) 518
Lease payments under operating T REFZ
leases for land and buildings KEHEReYH 24,909 24,237
Research and development costs 9T K BB R AN 9,866 10,316
Write-down of inventories TFEMUR 25 4,614 3,946
Reversal of write-down of inventories 77 &5 # Bl 25 (3,037) (6,085)
Impairment loss/(reversal of FEUE 2 K Eo A
impairment loss) on trade and BRI ZREEE,
other receivables (REREEE) 39(d) 3,010 (943)
Trade receivables written off WS PRI SR X 39(d) = 4)
Fair value gain on financial assets at AR ERIBZEFIERE Y
fair value through profit or loss CREEQ K EME (983) (8,549)
Deferred income recognised as FEIEAFER AW A
income (311) (304)

128  Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EEEFEX
2018 2017
201845 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Wages and salaries T&NEM 253,717 234,002
Contributions to defined contribution TEFEHFGRIK
retirement plan FHEMHERR 23,966 18,818
Interest income recognised in respect of EREBARTEIERTZ
defined benefit retirement plan 2 FBUTA (HFFE35(@)(V))
(Note 35(a)(v)) (7) 9)
Total employee benefit expenses EERAF B8R 277,676 252,811
10 CHANGES IN FAIR VALUES OF DERIVATIVE 10 FTEERMIAEAREZET
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2018 2017
20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$°000
TR THET

Fair value gain/(loss) on interest rate swaps F|Z=#EHiZ N Bz

(Note 27) (E518) (M¥5E27) 413 (2,898)
At 31 December 2018, the Group held certain interest R2018F 12 A31H » AEBEFEE FTH2009F
rate swap contracts entered into in 2009 and 2010 for a R2010FET L 2 M EEHEH) - ENFHER
contracted period of ten years each. These contracts were 10 - REGHNDRBEAEEREGNRANZ
entered into to stabilise the Group’s overall interest expense RN S mEI T -

for the periods covered by these contracts.
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AP RARMEE

11 FINANCE COSTS 11 Bk
2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Interest expense on bank loans RITER RS H 31,107 25,976
Others HAth 1,804 2,606
32,911 28,582
Less: Interest expenses capitalised into W BNMEBERIRY
construction in progress (Note) FBZ H (fFE) (730) -
32,181 28,582
Note:  The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 3.5% MHEE  ERRNARIREFEI 5% ERL
per annum.
12 FINANCE INCOME 12 BARWA
2018 2017
201845 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Interest income from loan to a joint BT —HEEELEZERZ
venture (Note 24) S A (FF7E24) 4,213 3,701
Interest income from time deposits and TFHFRLIRITESRZ
bank balances FEUA 473 966

4,686 4,667
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R PR

13 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 13 EEME
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Appendix B R A+ SR BB A THEN S
16 to the Listing Rules and section 383(1) of the Hong 3BMNEHEEEEM T ¢

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2018: HE2018F12A31ALFE ¢

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking:
AEAREEZ(TRARAARHNBARER BECAEK ML

Employer's

contribution

Estimated toa
money value  retirement

of other benefit

Discretionary benefits scheme
Fees Salary bonuses  HftflEz  EEHER Total
He He RERAL GHEREE RAHEES @it
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TiEn TiEn TR

Chairman and executive director: IRRHTES:

Kee Chor Lin s = 5,130 1,640 127 18 6,915

Executive directors: HTEE:

Chan Yu Ching, Eugene BFE - 4,602 240 179 18 5,039

Wong Ching Ming, Stanley THEH - 1,080 - - 18 1,098

Chan Tat Cheong, Alan =22 - 2,100 120 - 18 2,238

Independent non-executive directors: BYFHTES

Mar, Selwyn Bz 400 - - - - 400

Li Sau Hung, Eddy £ 360 - - - - 360

Lo Kwok Kwei, David FEE 360 - - - - 360
1,120 12912 2,000 306 7 16,410

Annual Report 2018 &3k 131



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RARMEE

13 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 13 EEME(E)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EE=ME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2017: HZE2017F12A31HIEFE ¢

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,

whether of
BAEEES(TH
Employer's
contribution
Estimated toa
moneyvalue  retirement
of other benefit
Discretionary benefits
Fees Salary bonuses  EfpflEz
we o WL E%E
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAL TAL TATL
Chairman and executive director: TERANTES:
Kee Chor Lin RE - 4,725 1,870 157 18 6,770
Executive directors: #EE:
Chan Yu Ching, Eugene BFE - 3,900 850 196 18 4,964
Wong Ching Ming, Stanley TR - 1,080 - - 18 1,098
Chan Tat Cheong, Alan BEg - 2,100 - - 18 2,118

Independent non-executive drectors: B FEHTES

Mar, Selwyn SR 400 - - - - 400
Li Sau Hung, Eddy Z&E 360 - - _ _ 360
Lo Kwok Kwei, David #EE 360 - - _ _ 360
1,120 11,805 2,720 353 72 16,070
(b) Information about loans, quasi-loans (b) EEUES - SE4ZABENRE
and other dealings in favour of directors, AESHAHERASZIRAZER
controlled bodies corporate by and connected EEIZREMBTZ2ER
entities with such directors
There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in FA - BENES  ZEHEAEBRRZ
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and EEEHBETREATYSACER  EE
connected entities with such directors during the year HREMZ S (20175 « &) -
(2017: Nil).
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13 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year (2017: Nil).

14 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
The five highest paid individuals during the Year included
four (2017: four) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 13 above.

Details of the remuneration of the remaining one (2017: one)
highest paid individual during the Year were as follows:

Salaries and allowances e KoERL
Discretionary bonuses [l
Pension scheme contributions BIREFH B

R PR

13 EEME(E)

(0 EERXE - RPHENFZEK
R
ARAREREEBIT L AR B A/EPR]
M RARBERTERKFEERERERE
= MR FRIFREASEDAFEL =
KRS~ BHHAEK(20174F « &) »

14 AEBRESEHFMES
AEERNALSSTHIES BENE (20174 -
ME)EE - RN SFEEHR
137 -

FREB—RQ017F  —R)ReFMEES
Bz BT

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FAT
949 910

= 18

18 18

967 946

The remuneration of the remaining one highest paid
individual is within the following band:

Hip—mmaiiEE 2 S RN A TER :

2017
20174

HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET

Between HK$500,000 to HK$999,999 71F500,000/ 7T 2 999,999 7T 1 1

No remuneration has been paid by the Group to the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the five individuals with highest remuneration
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the Year
(2017: Nil).

B

7 5% [ 30 48 ) T e = 9 B R B S A AR AT SR B
BMARE B INARNE B 2 o FSERE
BE - - AFER  hERRSHESBERE
XA B REEAHM (20174 « &)

Annual Report 2018 4R

133



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RARMEE

15 INCOME TAX 15 Fri8#

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of

(a) HREB|HRZBIIAE -

134

profit or loss represents:

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000

HK$'000
FTHET TET

Current tax: BIEARIIE

— Hong Kong —&E 18 1,771

— Outside Hong Kong — BB LA 13,524 15,339

Over-provision in prior years EEFBRREER (125) (403)
13,417 16,707

Deferred tax (Note 31) EEFRIA (ME31) 2,573 287

Total tax charge for the year NEELHEFIIEY H 15,990 16,994

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

In accordance with the relevant tax rules and regulations
in Mainland China, two (2017: one) of the Group’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China enjoys a preferential tax
rate of 15% (2017: 15%). Other subsidiaries of the
Group in Mainland China are subject to income taxes at
a statutory rate of 25% (2017: 25%,).

Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and
Mainland China is charged at the appropriate current
rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER L F
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BREUE IR E16.5% (20174 : 16.5%)
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RIEF B AR RIS AR R ROERR - AN
EEAME (201746 « —M)RFE A
ZHBRARAZEE15% 2 EEFHE(2017
F 1 15%) o REBEMANFRE AN
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R PR

15 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 15 Fri8%i(4&)

(b) BIERXEEEFNIRE AR
HoHER
AR R RE A RS B DRGSR e
R,/ AR TR R E 2 BB AT
SR BARERY  RRERRETE
2 BIERS IR T

(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses and
accounting profit at the applicable tax rate
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax using the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rates is as follows:

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000

HK$'000

FHET

TR

Profit before tax FR T BT ) 56,666 62,199
Tax calculated at domestic tax 23 A PAME BB R

rates applicable to profits in SR 2 E R R

the respective countries SE A 10,814 16,106
Lower tax rate for specific EHIETERIBEEZR

local authority ZEBARR =R (4,154) (3,123)
Income not subject to tax BARBBA (8,401) (6,639)
Expenses not deductible for tax A {ER{IEI 3 H 6,950 2,239
Over-provision in prior years T EfRRE 2 BB (125) (403)
Recognition of tax losses not TR LA RIER

previously recognised FRIEEs B (3,813) (3,530)
Utilisation of tax losses not A DA RFERR

previously recognised FHIEEE (33) (121)
Reversal of tax losses BEATHERZ

previously recognised HiIEkEsa 7,647 -
Tax losses not recognised RIERTIAEE 7,105 12,465
Tax charge at the Group’s IRARNEBERBR

effective rate HHEZRESZ 15,990 28.2 16,994 273

The share of income tax attributable to joint ventures
amounting to HK$9,237,000 (2017: HK$3,493,000) is
included in “Share of results of joint ventures” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Bih A & EAMEHIK%9,237,0007% 7T
(20174 : 3,493,000/ 70) Bt A 4R A 1825

RZIEEA

»
&

RRZEE] -
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AP RARMEE

15 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 15 Fri8Bi(&)
() Tax effect relating to each components of () HHEMEEWAEZBSHEZBE
other comprehensive income -
Tax effect relating to each components of other EEAMEERASIOEE 2 HEEEN
comprehensive income is as follows: T

2018 2017
20185 20174
Before After Before After
tax Tax tax tax Tax tax

BRA BWE BB BRE BE BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 'HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#n AT TER | TER  TeL TR

Fair value gains: DA -
- Land and buildings — T REF
(Note 18) (BfsE18) 17,979 (4,495) 13,484 6,140 (1,535) 4,605
— Prepaid land premium —TiiHE
(Note 19) A
(MzE19) 9,112 (2,278) 6,834 - - -
— Remeasurement of net —ENFERTE
defined benefit assets BHNEEFHE (266) (2) (268) 7 (1 6
Currency translation i ¢ =5
differences (101,677) 868 (100,809) 133,783 - 133,783
Other comprehensive income  E2mEUWA (74,852) (5,907) (80,759) 139,930  (1,536) 138,394
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R PR

16 EARNINGS PER SHARE 16 BRER
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the ERERERFTIRBEARR FIRERE ABLAR
profit for the Year attributable to equity holders of the F 2% 443,046,00078 7 (20174 : 48,177,000
Company of HK$43,046,000 (2017: HK$48,177,000), BIT) RARFEERND BT S @R 2 INEFEHE
and the weighted average number of 475,548,000 (2017: 475,548,000/% (20174 :475,548,0008% )51 & ©

475,548,000) ordinary shares in issue during the Year.

(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (i) ZBERZINEFLIHH

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January and 71 A1H 2B TEEKRL

weighted average number of W12A318E @R

ordinary shares at 31 December IntEFHE 475,548 475,548
The diluted earnings per share is calculated by EBREERN T AR A A 2 8
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary LR R AR B BT S @R 2 N
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive FHIREETE o

potential ordinary shares.

The diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic BRARBIAREEREZE2017F12A31H
earnings per share as the Company’s share options IEFE 2 ARITHE BT 58 2 B
outstanding during the Year and the year ended 31 iR - MEREERNEGRERZTE
December 2017 were anti-dilutive ordinary shares. [@ o
17 DIVIDENDS 17 BRE
The Board of Directors did not recommend final dividend for EFETERRBEAFERAKRE (20174 -
the Year (2017: Nil). &) o
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AP RARMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 YM¥%¥ - MEKRE

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) FREIEZ¥ER

Machinery ~ Furniture
and and Motor Leasehold Construction
Buildings  equipment fixtures  vehicles improvements in progress E]

B7 HEREE HHRKE 5§ EEMRRE  ERIR it
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TER Thn TER Thn TR TEn TR

At 1 January 2018 R018E1A1H

Cost or valuation RAESHE 208,551 1,244,665 31,110 13,113 143,783 4583 1,651,805

Accumulated depreciation ZithE - (908,213) (30,253) (10,092)  (100,983) - (1,049,541)
Net carrying amount RETE 208,551 336,452 6,857 3,021 42,800 4,583 602,264
Opening net carrying amount EERTE 208,551 336,452 6,857 3,021 42,800 4,583 602,264
Additions B 353 19,838 1309 909 1,085 17,430 40,924
Disposals tE (49) (1,718) 1) (34) (151) - (1,959)
Surplus on revaluation (Note 15) BRI 17,979 - - - - - 17,979
Depreciation for the year ERFERE (5.022) @,11) (1,329) (815) (5.964) - (55,907)
Transfers el - 591 - - - (591) -
Exchange realignment ERRE (10,039) (14,825) (241) (63) (1,790) (739) (27,697)
Closing net carrying amount EREATE M3 297,561 6,589 3,018 35,980 20683 575,604
At 31 December 2018 #2018F128318
Cost or valuation RAEHREE 2,773 1,179,029 36,630 13,015 139,284 20,683 1,600,414
Accumulated depreciation ZiiE - (881,468) (30,041) (9997) (103,304 - (1,024,810)
Closing net carrying amount ERERAE M3 297,561 6,589 3,018 35,980 2,683 575,604
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18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (Continued)

At 1 January 2017 H2017%1518
Cost or valuation HAEH(EE
Accumulated depreciation  2;H17E

Net carrying amount HEFE

Opening net carrying amount B ESE

Additions HE

Transfer to investment ERTRENE
properties (Note 20) (Mtzk20)

Disposals HE

Surplus on revaluation SEREA(H15)
(Note 15)

Depreciation for theyear ~ FRHE

Transfers #%

Exchange realignment ERBE
Closing net carrying amount 4 AKBREF

At 31 December 2017 20175127317

Cost or valuation HAEREE
Accumulated depreciation  Z:HTE

Closing net carrying amount B FE

18 ¥ - WFE K&k ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

(a) FREIEZHR(E)

Machinery

and  Furniture Motor  Leasehold  Construction

land  Buidings  equipm and fixtures vehicles improvements in progress

1t £ V€ B HENEEE  ERIE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL Thn Thn Thn Tin Thr
37 200,128 1,185,161 34,614 14,563 127,828 7843 1,603,858
- - (849958 (7664 (11676)  (89,340) - (978638)
B3,721 200128 335203 6,950 2,887 38,488 7,843 625,220
3,721 200128 335203 6,950 2,887 38,488 7,843 625,220
- 62 26414 1013 941 4,558 495 33483
(33.721) (6579) - - - - - (40,300)
- - (2,652) (12) (220) - (75) (3019
- 6,140 - - - - - 6,140
- (4816) (45,825 (1,325) (705) (6,959) - (59,630)
_ _ 94 - - 3,979 (4,073) -
- 13,616 318 291 118 2,734 393 40370
- 208551 336452 6,857 301 42,800 4583 602,264
- 208551 1,244,665 37,110 13,113 143,783 4583 1,651,805
- - (908213)  (30253) (10092  (100983) (1,049,541)
- 208551 336452 6,857 301 42,800 4,583 602,264

During the Year, the Group transferred an owner-
occupied property located in Hong Kong to an

investment property and rented it out (Note 20).

AEER  AKER—HBUREBZEE
BAYREBRE AR ML (HEE20) -
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AP RARMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 Y% - BMERRE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAAREE
The following table presents the fair value of the TREIAREEYERNMERRIZET M
Group's properties measured at the end of the reporting HEFEZARE  WIEBREBHHHRE
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three- ERIE 1R AR EFEIFREIBEAAE
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair EMAKE - RAEFESHDHSRIGER
Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value MArABABB 2 IBEEREEUET
measurement is classified is determined with reference wm

to the observability and significance of the inputs used
in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only - FEHE:EFERAFE-EaARE
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in FrECARE  BRFTERERE
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at ENXBEEERMEZ REHARRE

the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level — F_BE: FRE B AZRE
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet B2ANE - BAEE B8
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable g ABUE B REFRAERNT A
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which BASUR - TRIERE ASURIRE L
market data are not available BG5S ER 2 @A SR

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using — F-EHE: FREATITBERHA
significant unobservable inputs LIS B A/ |

Fair value hierarchy ARERBR

Fair value measurements categorised into

AREFEZDE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F—E F=E =8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TR
Recurring fair value measurements KEMRREE
Land and buildings T MAETF
31 December 2018 20185 12AH31H = - 211,773
31 December 2017 2017412 A31H - - 208,551
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 V¥ - BMERRE(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAAREFTEE)
(Continued)
There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 during KEEAN - FE - BE2ERFIE 2 HWE
the Year. B
The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and AEBZBRANHBER L AABEEH 2
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date HEB s EHAMAEHER  HREH
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the WA E Y o
transfer.
The Group’s land and buildings were revalued as AEEBRTSELHMREFEHRBELE
at 31 December 2018 by Memfus Wong Surveyors ELBERGEMEMAENAMTERRD
Limited, an independent professionally qualified AIEMER2018F12A31BZ2RBEAR
valuer, at an aggregate value of HK$211,773,000 211,773,000/% 7t (2017 4 : 208,551,000
(2017: $208,551,000). A revaluation gain totalling BIL) o Pl EEALAEHRKFZES H
HK$17,979,000 (2017: $6,140,000), resulting from the 17,979,000 /% 7t (2017 & : 6,140,000 /&
above valuations, has been credited to the relevant asset Jt) EMBRABEEEEGHRHEE - BREZE
revaluation reserve. Had these land and buildings been T REFERE LKA R ITE REE
carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 518 5IEE - BIHBRAEEFEXY A5130,899,000
and impairment losses, their carrying values would BT (20174 + 142,255,000/87C) ©

have been approximately HK$130,899,000 (2017:
HK$142,255,000).

The Group’s management have discussion with the RNEhE N FERE BHHARGER - K
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation SEEEERGHERKLGHELERENZ
results when the valuation is performed at each interim FMEFTRI R ©

and annual reporting date.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements ERAEIBLAREFEZER
Unobservable input MERE
Valuation techniques and range (EERE HEREE
Land and buildings held for Depreciated replacement Construction costs RREREEER,  NEEE BYAKEERA
own use in Mainland China costs approach  per sq.m. ranged from THREF BAE  NFARE0TE
RMB1,700 to RMB2,950 AR®2,9507
(2017: RMB1,600 to (20175 - AR%1,6007T0
RMB2,800) ZARE28007)
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AP RARMEE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 M1¥ - RERRZME(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAARBEEGE)
(Continued)
Level 3 fair values of land and buildings located NARRE AN T RIEFZEIBAR
in Mainland China have been derived using the BEFRATEEERNANEER - TEEEK
depreciated replacement cost approach, which is based AR FER L mEZ T AR
on an estimate of the market value for the existing %o BINEBEABEYIEBRA B
use of the land, plus the current cost of replacement MERERBREANFTARBEA ZRE
of the existing structures less deductions for physical ML 7 INTE -
deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and
optimisation.
The movements during the year in the balance of these FEIB DA ER B2 AMERNFE 2 E B0
Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: T

Land and buildings

T RIEF
Mainland
Hong Kong China Total
B8 R B A it #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1H1H - 208,551 208,551
Additions NE - 353 353
Disposal HE - (49) (49)
Surplus on revaluation BhA% - 17,979 17,979
Depreciation charge for the year REERERY - (5,022) (5,022)
Exchange realignment (R - (10,039) (10,039)
At 31 December 2018 201812 A31H - 211,773 211,773
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18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties

(9]

(Continued)

At 1 January 2017 201761 H18

Additions NE

Surplus on revaluation EgRpesy

Depreciation charge for the year AFEERERT

Transfer to investment properties BRI EYE
(Note 20) (PFiF3E20)

Exchange realignment M R B

At 31 December 2017

20175 12A31H -

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

18 ¥ - WFE K&k ()

(b) MEZAAETEE)

Land and buildings

T AT
Mainland

Hong Kong China Total
BE AR At Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHExT THET
40,300 193,549 233,849
- 62 62

- 6,140 6,140
- (4,816) (4,816)
(40,300) - (40,300)
- 13,616 13,616
208,551 208,551

Surplus on revaluation and exchange realignment of
properties held for own use are recognised in other
comprehensive income in “asset revaluation reserve”
and “exchange fluctuation reserve” respectively.

Prepayment of property, plant and equipment
The amount of prepayment of property, plant and
equipment expected to be transferred to property,
plant and equipment after more than one year is
HK$99,540,000 (2017: HK$66,428,000).

FIFERMEZEGRENARZ BB
AREEBARIEEE LRI RIELR
B TR -

M - BERZEENRE
TEHERE—FULYE  BEREEZ
Y% - B & TR 5K 5 99,540,000
HBIT(20174F : 66,428,000/87T) ©

(o)
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AP RARMEE

19 PREPAID LAND PREMIUM

The movements in prepaid land premium during the year
were as follows:

19 THHEEEMNAR
ERAETEN R ST -

2018 2017

20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$’000

FET FH&T

Carrying amount at 1 January M ATRZERESE 68,718 65,699

Surplus on revaluation (Note 15) BHAHKHFES) 9,112 -
Transfer to investment properties ERERAEEMEE20)

(Note 20) (11,437) -
Amortisation during the year F Y (1,505) (1,533)
Exchange realignment & H A% (3,030) 4,552
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31B ZRES5E 61,858 68,718

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20 REYH
2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
At 1 January ®1A1H 136,522 150,396
Transfer from owner-occupied property wEREETEAME(E18)

(Note 18) - 40,300
Transfer from prepaid land premium s - A E B R (MIEE19)

(Note 19) 11,437 -
Disposal e - (74,209)
Gain on fair value adjustment (Note 7(c)) AR EFEEE 2 Wk (FiFE7(0)) 3,403 15,696
Exchange realignment & H (3,584) 4,339
At 31 December ®12A318 147,778 136,522

(@) Amounts recognised in profit and loss for
investment properties

Rental income (Note 7(b))

Direct operating expenses from
property that generated rental
income

(a) MREMEREEZRBRZER

2018 2017

20184 20174

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FET

WA (FHEE7(0)) 2,346 3,539
EffAesBAZYEZ

HEEERY
(818) (930)
1,528 2,609
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20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties

0]

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s properties measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not
available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

Recurring fair value @M N R B E
measurements
Investment properties B
— Completed residential —EET{ e
properties — Mainland BN
China
— Completed industrial P =T Ty
property — Mainland o B b
China
- Completed commercial BT Ry
properties — HK _EH
— Under development — IR
commercial property — BN

Mainland China

R PR

20 REWXE(E)
(b) MEZAREE

0]

DRERBR
TREJNAKEMEN RS BRIRE
FUEEFHEZARE  WIRBEE
M EERIE 1R AR EFE I
REIBRAARBEFERDE - RAER
EERSREERMAAEAZRE
ZAEBEMREEMETFHT

- FIEMRE: EERFIEHA
BURStEZ AfE  BIRAHER
HIEREERBBEEERMSZ

— FE2EME:FRE2ZEHAH
Bt 2 ARE - BRFEE
Bzl ABEAEREFA
EATA R ABUE o T AIE
g A BURIEE AR THISE R
AR

— FIEME: EAERTAUEE
BWABBIEZARE

Fair value measurements

at 31 December 2018 categorised into
M2018F12A31B A AEFEZ D E
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

F1/E E2fE £3E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FRET FET

= = 1,986

= = 13,764

= = 69,600

= = 62,428

= — 147,778
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RARMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties
(Continued)

(@

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Recurring fair value REMEARENE
measurements

Investment properties WEYE

— Completed residential —BERIEEWE
properties — Mainland China — B Ay

— Completed commercial —BRIEEME
properties — HK — B

— Under development —BRPEENE
commercial property — — A

Mainland China

20 REYE(E)
(b) MEZAAREBEEE)

Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2017 categorised into
R2017F12 A31B AR B EZH4E
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F2E FE3E
HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT

F1E
HK$'000
TR

2,082

69,600

64,840

136,522

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3
during the Year. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value
hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The Group's investment properties were revalued
as at 31 December 2018 by Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer. At the end of each reporting
period, the directors update their assessment
of the fair value of each property, taking into
account the most recent independent valuations.
The directors determine a property’s value within
a range of reasonable fair value estimates. The
Group management has discussion with the
surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed
at each interim and annual reporting date.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited E#%RHEEEER AT

REERN F1E  F2EMFEEZ
R EER - AEEZBERANHRA
BYRABRERZEER 2 B
MEBEER - HRBBED -

R2018F 12 A31H » REBZKE
MERBEEABRGEMEZIR
KB ABRARENHE -ES
REREFEERBEENFEHSA
MERAR B2 EPEFEEED
B hE - EEUABE Y AREM
FTEEETEYEEE  RETHR
FERESAPARGER AEEE
EERGEREREESREDAZA
HITRI R o




(Continued)

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements
Unobservable input and
Valuation techniques  range
Investment properties - Direct comparison  Discount on quality of
Residential - Mainland approach  the building of 10%
China (2017: Premium of 2%)
Investment properties - Direct comparison  Premium on quality of
Commercial - Hong Kong approach  the building ranged
from 0% to 4%
(2017: 0% 1o 4%)
Investment properties - Direct comparison  Discount on quality of
Indlustrial - Mainland China approach  the bulding of 8%

Investment property - under
development - Mainland

China

(2017: Nif

Residual approach ~ Gross development value
per sg.m. of RMB9,100
(2017: RMB8,800)

There were no changes to the valuation techniques

durin

For t

g the year.

he completed investment properties, their

fair values are generally derived using the direct
comparison approach, which basically uses the
comparable sales transactions as available in the

relev

ant market to derive the fair value of the

properties. Where such information is not available

the d

irectors consider information from a variety of

sources including:

(i)

current prices in an active market for
properties of different nature or recent prices
of similar properties in less active markets,
adjusted to reflect those differences;

discounted cash flow projections based on
reliable estimates of future cash flows; or

capitalised income projections based upon-a
property’s estimated net market income, and
a capitalisation rate derived from an analysis
of market evidence.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR

20 REYXE(E)
(b) MEZNAAMBHE(E)

(i) EEFEIBAAETEZER

TIEEEA
fhEmE SERAE

REME- ERMEE ETEERRI0%

fre- (20175
RERY HE2L%)

REWE-  ERMEGE BFEEEENT0%
BE-ER Z4%
(20175 : 0%%4%)

REME-  ERUBE EFEEHERY
T-HEN (0175 &)
FAME-  FREEE BYARERLE
¥Eh- AEE9,1007
mERY (0175
ANE%8800)

RAEE N - R % 3 A
&) o

HREZTREMEMNS  EARER
FANRERLBRER - ERILEVE
EAREFBEREM S LISz AT E
HEHER SEBMERAE - AR
EERSABER EEANEEREKA
LHEZER B

() TREEZMERERMS R
TTERSIIELENER A ED
152 T ERERE (RS Rk Bt =
RIEHFE) -

(i) REARKRASREZ A EMHETT
R 2 RRRSRETRA - X

(i) AREBEMEZ EETTHIERAFEIA
NMRBETMSREDMAEZER
fete R tEH 2 B AL ATE

Al e
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AP RARMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 20 BEWE(E)
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAAEBETE(E)

(Continued)

(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BEEFE3IBAAETEZERGE)
measurements (Continued)
For the investment property under development, RERPEREMENS - AQARER
its fair value is derived using the residual approach. RFIERBEEEES - ZHEFEEE
This valuation method is essentially a means of FEREEERIER PNMEEB &R
valuing the land by reference to its development FRHRE RN « TS DA 8
potential by deducting development costs, land REGAERBEE N KRR - M
premium, together with developer’s profit and risk DEHBRENE T UETHE -
from the estimated capital value of the proposed
development assuming completed as at the date
of valuation.
The movements during the year in the balance FRNEIBARBEHEZEHREHN
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as K
follows:

Investment properties

REWH
Mainland

Hong Kong China Total

"E Hh B A 3t st

HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000

THET FHET THET

At 1 January 2018 720181 H1H 69,600 66,922 136,522

Transfer from prepaid land EEE T HE

premium (Note 19) Tart R (HEE19) = 11,437 11,437
Gain on fair value adjustment NINELE- e

(Note 7(c)) (BEE7(0) - 3,403 3,403

Exchange realignment b 3, B - (3,584) (3,584)

At 31 December 2018 2018512 H31H 69,600 78,178 147,778
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20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties
(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

20 REYHE(E)
(b) MEZAREBEEE)

(i) BEE3EAAEFEZER(E)

Investment properties

At 1 January 2017 K2017F1R1H

Transfer from owner-occupied WERAETORME
property (Note 18) (M43E18)

Gain on fair value adjustment DAEFE NS
(Note 7(c)) (FF5E7(c))

Disposal e
Exchange realignment HE 5 B

At 31 December 2017

201712 A31H

REMZE
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
BE R (A3 #aEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT T
89,200 61,196 150,396
40,300 - 40,300
14,309 1,387 15,696
(74,209) - (74,209)
- 4,339 4,339
69,600 66,922 136,522

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “other net losses” on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

All the gains recognised in profit or loss for the
year arise from the properties held at the end of
the reporting period.

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of one to two years, with an option
to renew the lease after that date at which time
all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

BREWMEZ AR EABREABERR
[ EAd)F &R R B PR -

RiEHRERE - IBERFEBR
BYMREEZWENBRSHER o

AEBRBEEHEHHREDE
ZEHEREVNF R —EMF - A
IRZEEEEENEE - BRATEN
BERMEGRR - EHEeENAH
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AP RARMEE

20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties
(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:

20 REYE(E)
(b) MEZAAREBEEE)

(i) BEE3EQAAEFEZER(E)

M2018F 12 A31H » NEBMBET
A AR 2 IR SRR &
FEECYUNNE

2018 2017

20185 20174

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET THETT

Within one year 1A 1,822 864
After one year but within B EERSFERN

five years - 652

1,822 1,516

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Non-current investments FERNEAR &
Equity securities [
Insurance policy investments RRE
Current investments BERte &
Equity securities PR3 2

21 URREREBEERIIRZEREE

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT T
9,130 9,331
14,806 14,043
23,936 23,374
20 36

Information about the fair value measurement of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is included
in note 39(f).
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R PR

22 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22 BREE
Computer Brand
software Name Goodwill Total
BIEE 4 mEEE me st
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT THET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2018, net of R2018F1 /418 -
accumulated amortisation Mk 2t 235 2,016 3 2,254
Amortisation provided N SR
during the year (174) (234) - (408)
Exchange realignment & H A% = (63) = (63)

At 31 December 2018, net of 72018412 H31H -

accumulated amortisation OBk RETEEEH 61 1,719 3 1,783
Cost KAME 3,885 2,291 3 6,179
Accumulated amortisation Sty (3,824) (572) - (4,396)
Net carrying amount REFE 61 1,719 3 1,783
At 1 January 2017, net of 201761818

accumulated amortisation OBk 2T 336 2,062 3 2,401
Amortisation provided ISR

during the year (101) (231) - (332)
Exchange realignment VE 3% - 185 - 185

At 31 December 2017, net of M20179F128318 -

accumulated amortisation R Rty 235 2,016 3 2,254
Cost KAE 3,885 2,371 3 6,259
Accumulated amortisation Sty (3,650) (355) - (4,005)
Net carrying amount BREFE 235 2,016 3 2,254

Amortisation of HK$408,000 (2017: HK$332,000) is included 1 $5408,00058 7T (20174 : 332,0005 7T ) 5T A
in the “administrative expenses” of the consolidated fFaBmRMTHER] -

statement of profit or loss.
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AP RARMEE

23 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

23 MEAF
TEWBATERNT :

Place of
incorporation/
principal place of

Nominal value of
issued and paid-up/

Accord Advance Limited

HEERLR’

Dongguan Luminous Town Electric
Co., Limited *
REBNETARLA

Dongguan Manixon New Materials and
Components Company Limited *

REBMERMHTARAR

Forward Electronics (Dongguan)
Company Limited
85887 (%5) BRAA

Foshan Rifeng Electronic Co., Ltd.
HLBEETARAT

Fu Tak (Qingyuan) Electronic Foil
Company Limited *
BB (BR) ETHEABERAT

High Merit Group Limited

operations
B/
FTEREHE

British Virgin Islands
ERRLES

Mainland China
HEAH

Mainland China
HEAH

Mainland China
HEIAH

Mainland China
FERH

Mainland China
R R

British Virgin Islands
EBRANE

registered capital
BETRMRRE
AE/wfEE

Ordinary US$10
LRR10ET

Registered
HK$11,550,000
EMER
11,550,00078 7

Registered
US$9,590,000
HEMER
9,590,000%7T

Registered
RMB5,000,000
ARH5,000,0007

Registered
US$1,000,000
HMER
1,000,000

Registered
RMB11,000,000
HMER
ARE11,000,0007

Ordinary US$1
TR

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
FAREERAR DL
2018 2017
2018% 20175
100 100
74.86 66.89
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

Principal activities

IERER

Investment holding

AR

Manufacture and sale of
electronic components

HERHEE Tl

Manufacture and sale of
electronic components

HERHES Tl

Manufacture and sale of
electronic components

RERHEE TN

Manufacture and sale of
electronic components

RERHEET LN

Manufacture and sale of
electronic components

RERHEE TN

Investment holding

REER
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R PR

23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(Continued)

23 MEBAT(E)
FEWBARERET « ()

Percentage of
equity attributable

Place of

incorporation/
principal place of

operations
A
TEREHE

Nominal value of
issued and paid-up/
registered capital
ERARMRRE &8
e/ EREx 2018

to the Company
RAREERAR DL

2017
20175

Principal activities

TERH

Jiangxi Telexon Electronics Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited * HREIRH, RMB40,000,000 electronic components
IRELEETERAA AR BERHEB Tl
AR #40,000,0007C
Johnstone International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 100 100 Investment holding
NBLRERARAR RERTHE LRRIET REER
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. Mainland China Registered 74.86 66.89  Manufacture, processing
EIEEETERAA HEIR US$5,300,000 and sale of electronic
HHER components
5,300,000% 7 BiE - MIRSEE
sFl
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. Taiwan Registered 74.86 66.89  Investment holding
BAETROERAR = TW$668,308,610 REAR
HEAR
£%668,308,6107T
Man Fat International Trading (Shanghai) Mainland China Registered 100 100 Trading of electronic
Company Limited * R US$200,000 components
EEARES (1B) BRAA AR BES it
200,000% 70
Man Jin Electronics (Shenzhen) Mainland China Registered 100 100 Trading of electronic
Company Limited * HREIRH, HK$3,500,000 components
ERET (M) BRAR AR BES it
3,500,000/ 7T
Man Yue (China) Investment Limited * Mainland China Registered 100 100 Investment holding
E# (PE) RERRAA PEIRI US$30,000,000 REAR
HMER
30,000,000
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 BT (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWBARTARNT : (8)
(Continued)
Percentage of
Place of equity attributable
incorporation/ Nominal value of to the Company
principal place of issued and paid-up/ G
operations registered capital
REMERL,/ BRTRARRA ek AR Principal activities
TEREHE e/ EmEx 2018F W7 TEER
Man Yue Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2, 100 100 Trading of electronic
EWETERLA EE Non-voting deferred components
HK$3,000,000 BEE M
LakET
ERFERLTR
3,000,000/ 7T
Man Yue Holdings (BVI) Limited 2 British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
AERNES E&MR10,000%T REAR
Man Yue Technology (China) Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Investment holding
EHRR (PE) BRAR HEIRH, US$48,000,000 REZR
HMER
48,000,000 T
Man Yue Technology Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary US$10 100 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong L@RI0%ET REBR
EBRLES/ B
Manixon Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
EFEETERAT B LRRIET components
BEETH
MLPC Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 100 Trading of electronic
BEZAETARLA B LRR100BT components
EEETILH
MMS Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of Electronic
ERETERAA Tk L@ BT components
BEE
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

23 MEBAT(E)
FEWBARERET « ()

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
principal place of
operations
TEREHE

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
FAARERFAD

2018 2017

Nominal value of
issued and paid-up/
registered capital
BETRARKRA
HfE/EhER

20185 20175

Principal activities

TERH

MMS Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Trading of electronic
B 710,000 7T components
EEETILH
Rifeng Qingyuan Electronic Co., Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
BE (BE) ETEARAA mE R HK$80,000,000 electronic components
HEMER RERHEBT LN
80,000,000/ ¢
Rihong (Yaan) Electronics Co., Ltd. * 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
AA (BZ) EFERAR PR U5$23,000,000 raw materials
HMER BERHERMH
23,000,000%7T
Samxon Electronic Components Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of electronic
—EEFERHBRAT B L@RET components
EEE Ll
Samxon Electronics (Dongguan) Co., Ltd. 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
EH=-FET (R%) ARARA RE R US$96,775,000 electronic components
HEMER RERHEB Tl
96,775,000% 7T
Searange Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of equity
BEREBRAR &k LEkET investments
BERARE
Splendid Skill Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$10 100 100 Investment holding
ABRLES LERI0ET REAR
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

23 MEBAT(E)
FEWBARERET « (&)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
principal place of
operations
TERENE

Percentage of
equity attributable

Nominal value of to the Company

issued and paid-up/ AATEERETAH
registered capital

ERARMERE FUIEEE

HfE/EfER 2018 20175

Principal activities
TEER

Stand New Enterprise Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
UHREARAA B L@RIET REER
Starzeon Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
EEXETHERATA BB LRERIBT components
EES it
Starzeon Electronics (Dongguan) Co., Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Limited * hEAH US$15,000,000 electronic components
EERET (RR) BRATF AR HEREEE Tl
15,000,000% 7
TradeUNIT Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 100 100 Trading of raw
HEEER AR Hong Kong HK$9,500,000 materials
EBRAEE/EE  LRER BERMH
9,500,000 T
Walters Electronics (Dongguan) Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited HEIRH, RMB5,000,000 electronic components
EETET (RR) BRAA HMER RERHES Tl
ARH5,000,0007C
Walters Electronics (Qingyuan) Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited FE A US$30,000,000 electronic components
ERTET (BR) ERAT HMER SEREEE Tl
30,000,000 7T
Wuxi Man Yue Electronics Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited i) US$30,000,000 electronic components
BHENETARAA HMER REREEE TN
30,000,000
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 BT (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWBARTARNT : (8)
(Continued)
Percentage of
?Iace of . : equity attributable
|nforlporat|on/ lNomlnaI valut? of to the Company
principal place of issued and paid-up/ KO TEERAES
operations registered capital
HERAL/ BRTRARKRA e Al Principal activities
TELEHE HfE/EfER 2018% WE  IEEH
X-CON Electronics Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary US$1 100 100 Trading of electronic
X-CONEFEB AT Hong Kong ERRIET components
ERRLES/BH EEETIH
Xinjiang Join Yue Electronics New Materials 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Ltd. FE R 1S$8,000,000 raw materials
HERHE TR ERAR FMER BUERHERITR
8,000,000% 7T
Yuk Wah Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$80 000 100 100 Investment holding
FESFERAA i EiiR80,0007% T REER
W EE R R AR AT 1 Mainland China Registered 75 75 Manufacture and sale of
FRE R RMB10,000,000 chemical materials
AR BERHE 2NN
AR%10,000,0007
BRWEETARAT 1 Mainland China Registered 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
HE A, RMB2,500,000 electronic components
HMER RERHEB Tl
AR 2,500,0007C
Notes: MI5T
1. The subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned 1 U ST A R TR IR R B A A A T i s E
enterprises under the Mainland China law. B -
2. Shares are held directly by the Company. 2 KRFRIEEBEZRG -
# The Company name in Chinese is translation of the registered ! PNRAREERATME R BE  EHE
English name for the purpose of identification. Il e
*  The company name in English is a direct translation of the o RXRAEBATMP XA EERE - Ef
registered Chinese name for the purpose of identification. HAl o
All the subsidiaries of the Company are limited liability RATFEMBATAARBEREEAR
companies.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, EERMIAAAIMB AR NEERRERZEN
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results FEXBEIBERAEREEFEEEZDH 2MEB
for the Year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets NSRS

of the Group. / ‘
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23 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 23 MEBAT(E)
The following table lists out the information relating to TERED A AR E M — A E AR AR R AR
Luminous Town Electric Co., Ltd. (“Luminous Town"), the = GEIERR I R i) 2 B AR M E TN B
only subsidiary of the Group which has a material non- BATI (B ) 2 &k o TX 252 B i &k
controlling interest (“NCI"). The summarised financial ZIRAEMACIHEHAT S -

information presented below represents the amounts before
any inter-company elimination.

2018 2017

201845 20174

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

NCI percentage IR R ER B DL 25.1% 33.1%
Current assets mENVEE 219,333 228,673
Non-current assets IEREEE 28,158 23,343
Current liabilities EAaE 100,377 89,020
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 306 789
Net assets BEZRE 146,808 162,207
Carrying amount of NCI eI AR R s AR T (B 36,907 53,707
Revenue WA 197,252 181,366
Loss for the year FERHA (8,975) (13,222)
Total comprehensive income 2EWAETE (7,918) (5,328)
Loss allocated to NCI Bt FIEIE R AR SR i e 2 518 (2,256) (4,378)
Cash flows from operating activities KEEBIRENE (16,284) (37,271)
Cash flows from investing activities BEFZRETE (18,312) (102)
Cash flows from financing activities BEETHZIRERE (1,695) 28,616

24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 24 REELEZRE

2018 2017

201845 20174

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Share of net assets e EEFE 140,474 116,371
Loans to a joint venture LT HEETEZER 118,501 108,903
Due from joint ventures AL RIE 28,823 22,609
Due to joint ventures JENALR A (43,781) (39,465)

158  Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited B4R EBER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 24
The loans to a joint venture, amounts due from and due to
joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand or per trading credit terms except:

(@ Loans amounting to HK$89,681,000 (2017:
HK$80,083,000) are interest-bearing at a rate of 4.90%
(2017: 4.90%) per annum.

(b) Included in amounts due to joint ventures are trade
payables to joint ventures amounting to HK$25,635,000
(2017: HK$39,465,000).

Particulars of the joint ventures, all of which are held
indirectly through subsidiaries, are as follows:

Particulars of
issued shares/
registered capital Place of Owner-ship
BRITRG/ incorporation interest
EfEA 2 #E FEMER L i 2 IEL: 1 5
Ever Reliance Industrial 100 shares of HK$1 each Hong Kong 48
Investments Limited 100RERAEET B
("Ever Reliance")
REIEREERAT
(RED
Nan Tong Xin Cheng Registered HK$25,080,000  Mainland China 49
Electronics Company Ltd. &R R

HEMAETAERAA 25,080,000/ 7T

R PR

REEERZREE)
BT-MABLETER  BERENAERE

FEDEIEN - 28 AAREFRERRSEE
SRR -

(a) 7A%889,681,000/% (20174 : 80,083,000
BIL) 2 EFIRFFEKL490E (2017 F -
490[E )58

Z BB HAR3(25,635,000/8 7T (20174 :
39,465,000/ 7T)

BBNBEAREERAZAEREENNT

Percentage of
THREZEAL
Voting Profit
power sharing  Principal activities
REE BIEEN  TBEH
50 48 Investment holding
RARR
33 49 Manufacture and sale of
raw materials
BUE RHERITH
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AP RARMEE

24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 24
Set out below are the summarised financial information of a
material joint venture, Ever Reliance, which is accounted for
using the equity method.

REEERZREE)
UTHIIEBABCEREZMBEAREE - &
R ESEAR -

2018 2017
20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET TET

Summarised statement of MM RRBE
financial position

Non-current assets EREEAE 394,958 338,093
Current assets (excluding cash and nBEE(TEER® &

cash equivalents) ReEEY) 9,059 57
Cash and cash equivalents Be NEEEED 567 710
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade “#&RIBE(TNEEREMNE SR

and other payables and provisions) TN Aty FE A FRIB A B A5 (89,681) (80,083)
Other current liabilities (including trade ERsaE(RIEEMNEFEX

and other payables and provisions) Ko E At A FROB A B B ) (33,927) (41,713)
Non-current financial liabilities FrRBeEasE (30,600) (30,600)
Other non-current liabilities HEmIERsasE (28,975) (12,362)
Net assets AEFE 221,401 174,102

2018 2017
20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$°000
TR FHET

Summarised statement of profit or loss #E#F R HM2EWARBTE

and other comprehensive income

Revenue N
Depreciation e

Interest income FEMWA
Interest expense B
Income tax Fri5Ht

Profit for the year REZ RN
Other comprehensive income Hh2EBA
Total comprehensive income ZHEWA B

89,466 36,569
(413) (404)

2 11
(4,213) (3,701)
(19,243) (5,838)
60,170 18,270
(12,869) 13,320
47,301 31,590
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24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 24 REENEIRE(E)

Reconciled to the Group's interest in Ever Reliance HEAREBNREZEZ XK
2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Gross amounts of Ever Reliance’s RIEEEFEHER
net assets 221,401 174,102
Group's effective interest REE ERER 48% 48%
Group's share of Ever Reliance’s net AEBELEREZEEFERR
assets and carrying amount in the freUEHmE 2 REE
consolidated financial statements 106,273 83,569
The following table sets out the summarised financial TREIREBELEEREDBERE)EH
information of the Group’s shared portion of joint ventures WIEERIER 2 B ERE -

excluding Ever Reliance, that are not individually material:

2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Profit for the year FEHF 3,010 2,687
Other comprehensive income H2EBA (1,611) 2,060
Total comprehensive income 2EWABEE 1,399 4,747
25 INVENTORIES 25 78
(a) Inventory in the consolidated statement of (a) FEMBRRRZEFLERRE

financial position comprise:

2018 2017

20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Raw materials R 190,949 183,448
Work in progress TERIR 181,436 195,024
Finished goods UK @ 236,040 157,081
608,425 535,553
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AP RARMEE

25 INVENTORIES (CONTINUED)

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in
profit or loss is as follows:

25 FE(#&E)

(b) BRABMXABTAEBRE2EESHE
oWWMT :

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000

FAT

HK$°000
FTHET

Carrying amount of inventories sold B HE&EFE 7 REE 1,086,015 998,016
Write-down of inventories FEMR 4,614 3,946
Reversal of write-down of inventories 17 &5 [l (3,037) (6,085)
Cost of sales $HER A 1,087,592 995,877

The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior
years arose due to an increase in the estimated net
realisable value of certain electronic goods as a result of
a change in market preferences.

26 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Loss allowance

FEME 5 B
EEEE

BN - e R
Ho At fE WKIR

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

WREFE - FERMAREDERTIHE
FRBEHETETER2 G A LIF
B ANFTE -

26 EWEZRRRHMEWRE

2018

20184
HK$’000

FHBxT
618,631 672,024
(33,405) (31,430)
585,226 640,594
108,342 96,894
693,568 737,488

All of trade and other receivables are expected to recovered
within one year.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period is generally
90 days, extending up to 150 days for major customers.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and has a credit control department to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. Credit
risk was hedged mainly through credit insurance policies.
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26 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
The Group categorises its trade receivables based on the
ageing. Future cash flow for each group of trade receivables
are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience,
adjusted to effects of current conditions of each customer
as well as forward looking information. For trade receivables
relating to accounts which are long overdue with significant
amounts or known insolvencies, they are assessed individually
for impairment.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

1-3 months 12318 A
4-6 months 4Z6{8AR
7-12 months 721218 A
Over 1 year HBiA1F

R PR

26 FEULE 7 Rk I H B IKURK IR ()
AR ERIRR S H R BRI - RBEA
KRS EREREER 2 R IR RE -
WhE BRI 8 RATIE AR B
B o WNBHEA RS BAAZRPRE M
B8 2 FECE SRR SR E AR -

PSR - 1REE A E MR EEE AR
ZWE ZERFREAMANT

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHBxT FH&T
413,578 436,871
149,402 184,356
12,926 8,587
9,320 10,780
585,226 640,594
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=)
)

27

BRI T

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Analysed into: paxin (N

— Interest rate swaps — =7 H
Portion classified as current S ARBEMD
Non-current portion FEMENEDD

27

fTEE€mTI A

2018 2017

20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$’'000

FHxT FHBT

2,273 6,156

(1,989) (3,680)

284 2,476

At 31 December 2018, the Group held two (2017: two)
interest rate swap agreements in place with a notional
amount of HK$200,000,000 (2017: HK$200,000,000)
to manage certain exposure to changes in interest rate in
relation to bank loans.

The fair value of the Group’s investments in the interest rate
swap agreements at 31 December 2018 has been determined
on the basis of valuation carried out by an independent
qualified valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited
(2017: Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited), through the
application of the estimated price for the transfer of an asset
or liability between identified knowledgeable and willing
parties that reflects the respective interests of those parties.

The net changes in the fair value of interest rate swap
contracts which did not meet the criteria for hedge
accounting for accounting purposes amounting to
HK$413,000 were credited (2017: net changes in the
fair value of interest rate swap debited amounting to
HK$2,898,000) to the consolidated statements of profit or
loss during the Year.
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200,000,000/ 70) 2 F| M ERE XY - AEEE
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R PR

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28 RERBREEEY
2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Cash and bank balances Be KiR1T4 R 202,041 271,955
Time deposits within 3 months REARZEBEEIEAURZ
to maturity when placed TEBFER 297 40,747
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEED 202,338 312,702
Cash at banks earns interest at floating bank deposit rates. IRITIRSIRFBIRITF R FI R BENF B - REE
Short term time deposits range from one day to three HERRTARER ZEIBEESESR - €@ UNF1
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of RE3MEA ZEBEEL - WikE/ 2 B E BT
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term IR RBEEUH B, o B4 MBI TR T HAEE
time deposit rates. The cash and bank balances are deposited HIResk B E BRI ZIRIT -

with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at the end of the reporting date, the amount of time REEER  UMARE(TARE ) :HEZ TH
deposit, cash and cash equivalents denominated in Renminbi FH - -RE MBS EEYA65,236,0008 T
("RMB") was HK$65,236,000 (2017: HK$62,588,000). The (20174 : 62,588,000 ) - AREETRA A H
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, HBAEEMER - KM - BIBERE(REARL
under the regulations of the People’s Republic of China MBI HNE S RG] - AEEE LS B S
on the Management of Foreign Exchange, the Group is ITONEEG 2 RITIARE R AEMER -

permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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AP RARMEE

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

28 RERRTEEY(HE)
BMEEBELCEEIHR:

TRAMASEREZDEL 2 ABES 81
RelRe¥y BmEIPELZBERERS
MECR(EARRESRERE) WO REANEE
FARESREXREABRETDASRTRE -

At 1 January 2018

Changes from financing
cash flows:

Proceeds from new bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Interest paid

Payment for interest rate swaps

Total changes from financing
cash flows

Change in fair value
Exchange adjustments

Other changes:
Interest expenses (Note 11)

Total other changes

At 31 December 2018

A2018%181H

BERSHREST :
HIRTTERAB A
EBIRITER
BAFLE

X AH R = A

BERSREZDER

DNAERE
B AR

HAhs# g :
FEZ (M)

Hibh BB AR

2018 12H31H

Interest
rate swap Bank loans Total
F =2 4= 5 RITEN ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TH&T TR FH&xT
(Note 27) (Note 30)
(Mi5E27) (Mf7£30)
6,156 847,079 853,235
- 780,120 780,120
- (736,451) (736,451)
- (32,181) (32,181)
(3.470) - (3.470)
(3.470) 11,488 8,018
(413) - (413)
- (1,393) (1,393)
- 32,181 32,181
- 32,181 32,181
2,273 889,355 891,628

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited E#%RHEEEER AT




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 28 B4 RELZEYW(E)

Interest
rate swap Bank loans Total
A== H SRITER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT

(Note 27) (Note 30)

(BtaE27) (Fff5£30)
At 1 January 2017 A2017%181H 7,994 809,748 817,742
Changes from financing RERSRELE !

cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans FIRITERFSRIE - 581,961 581,961
Repayment of bank loans BEIETER - (545,418) (545,418)
Interest paid BEAFLE - (28,582) (28,582)
Payment for interest rate swaps AN A 2 2 B (4,736) - (4,736)
Total changes from financing mMEReRELB R
cash flows (4,736) 7,961 3,225

Change in fair value DAEEE 2,898 - 2,898
Exchange adjustments BN AR - 788 788
Other changes: HAh#E :
Interest expenses (Note 11) FEZH(MEET1) - 28,582 28,582
Total other changes E b BhiasE - 28,582 28,582
At 31 December 2017 M2017512A318 6,156 847,079 853,235
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AP RARMEE

29 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Trade and bills payables

Receipt in advance TEWFRIA
Salary and welfare payables FER & K& A
Value-added tax payable FERT IS ER
Contract liabilities (Note) AHBECTFE)

Other payables and accruals

BB ZRR N FIE

FET KM RRIA B R 5R0R

29 BENEZRAREE  HEMNRE

NEGTEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
201,160 225,069
6,341 6,463
26,894 25,725
15,598 12,552
6,746 -
51,050 60,580
307,789 330,389

Note:

Contract liabilities

BRER

31 December

12A31H
HK$000

1 January 31 December

2018 2018 2017
20185

20174
12A318
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT

5,735 -

20184
1A18

FERT
6,746

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative
effect method and adjusted the opening balance at 1 January
2018.

One of the customers is entitled to volume discounts based on
aggregate sales over a 12-months period. Revenue from sales
to this customer is recognised based on the price specified in
the contract net of estimated volume discounts. Accumulated
experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts
and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A refund
liability is recognised for expected volume discounts payable
to the customer in relation to sales made until the end of the
reporting period.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, amounts previously included
as “provision for sales rebates” under “trade and other
receivables” (note 26) were reclassified to “other payables and
accrued liabilities — contract liabilities”.

The receipt in advance is not related to contracts that create
enforceable rights and obligations between the Group and the
customers.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER L F

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

AEBERARFEELNP AR SN RS
RIS 155520181 A1 B FARELE ©
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SHREEHHEE CRRABRENTS 2D
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26) Z REEH DB E[ BB N FARE A
E-EHEaE]-
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29 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, OTHER

PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

Movements in contract liabilities

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

29 BNEZRIAREE - HEMNRE
RESEE(R)

BRAEBEED

2018
20184
HK$’000
FET
Balance at 1 January WAV Z &R 5,735
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of E e B EFTHIE AT 2 & 4
increase in expected volume discounts payable B &M 11,763
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FRMETIFAE &L
utilisation of volume discounts aERd (10,591)
Exchange realignment PE 3 R (161)
Balance at 31 December B12A318 2 &4 6,746
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled FB I E B ERFR B A AT RIRTEEAAS i — 4

or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on
demand.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables at the
end of the reporting date, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

MR RBRARILERKEE -

RBEMR - RERAUAEZEBNEZRR K
SEREDTIT

2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Trade payables: JERTE SRR
— 1-3 months — 12318 A 117,733 172,177
— 4-6 months —4%6(EA 66,993 31,645
— 7-12 months —7Z=1218A 5,715 3,795
— Over 1 year —HBiE1F 5,369 2,528
195,810 210,145
Bills payables ERNEE 5,350 14,924
201,160 225,069
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HAMBREMI
30 BANK LOANS 30 SRITEXN
2018 2017
20184 20174F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Bank loans, unsecured, repayable: AT EARE 8 2 SRR T
B3
— Within one year or on demand —1FARIRER 800,019 718,795
—In the second year —E2FNR 56,503 82,619
— In the third to fifth years, inclusive —E3RFEF(BIEEREMT) 32,833 45,665
889,355 847,079
Portion classified as current liabilities S AREAEIRD (800,019) (718,795)
Non-current portion IERENEDD 89,336 128,284
As at 31 December 2018, unsecured bank loans of the Group MR2018F 12 831H » "EBAE T » £7T
denominated in HK dollar, US dollar and other currencies REMEEAE 7 EEBETETS R A
amounted to HK$519,446,000 (2017: HK$563,550,000), 519,446,000 i 7T ( 2017 % : 563,550,000
HK$291,688,000 (2017: HK$206,408,000) and JL) ~ 291,688,0005% 7L (20174 : 206,408,000
HK$78,221,000 (2017: HK$22,722,000) respectively. The Bor) 78,221 0005%77:(2017¢ 122,722,000
weighted average interest rate of the unsecured bank loans BIL) o REEIMFRITERZ NEFHFEFR
was 4.31% (2017: 3.49%) per annum. All bank loans are BA431E(20174F - 3491_) FrERITERE
repayable by instalments up to 2022. The carrying amounts R2022FE AR D HAE B - NEF T ,\TAZEE
of the Group’s bank loans approximate their fair values. HEEHEALERE -
Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited is required, to comply BRRREBERATEESTE TG
with certain restrictive financial covenants, including, inter HE - EhBEMNEEER O FEBEEBITDA
alia, interest coverage ratios, net debt to EBITDA ratios and b3 A K B 7 B 2 $TEBITDALL 3 © 7R20174F &
finance charge to EBITDA ratios. As at 31 December 2017 201812 A31H @ HEIEN AL E 2% -

and 2018, none of the covenants relating to drawn down
facilities has been breached.

170 Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FREMBHRERME
31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31 ZREMBRREKRZFEH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) FEMBMRREKZBIER -

financial position represents:

2018 2017
20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax  RFEEFHB ST 2 E

for the year 18 1,771
Provisional Profits Tax paid AT RIS B (1,600) (1,536)
(1,582) 235
Overseas tax recoverable AJ Y EEHNEIE (51) (1,466)
Overseas tax payable eGSR IE 8,989 8,396
7,356 7,165
Representing: Bp :

Tax recoverable BIEEERrE (1,633) (1,466)
Tax payable FERTE 8,989 8,631
7,356 7,165

Annual Report 2018 &3 171



172

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RARMEE

31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Movements of each component of deferred

tax assets and liabilities

31 HREMBIRR T ZFEHR ()

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities

during the Year were as follows:

Deferred tax assets

At 1 January 2017

R2017F1 818

Credited/(charged) to profitor loss  FRRIEZE A,/ (%)

during the year (Note 15) (F33£15)

Exchange realignment B AR

At 31 December 2017 M2017FE12A318 &
and 1 January 2018 20181418

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss  FRREBETA/(H1K)
during the year (Note 15) (Fitzz15)

Credited to reserve during the year  FE Rz AEE
(Note 15) (W3E15)

Exchange realignment B H AR

At 31 December 2018 720185124318

25

(b) BEEHEEERBBEARLD 2

FAZECHARERBEZHNOT

BAEBIEEE

Provisions for Tax losses
trade  available for
receivables offsetting
and write- against future
down for taxable profits
inventories  FAAREHAR

EBHESER  ERbERZ Others Total

BEREERH BAEE Hitr @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET T AT TET

1,169 17,073 3,245 21,487

151 2,149 (2,435) (135)

- 760 596 1,356

1,320 19,982 1,406 22,708

2,781 (8,959) 3,953 (2,225)

- - 868 868

(43) (321) (95) (459)

4,058 10,702 6,132 20,892
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31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31 HREPBMRRERZAEH (F)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)
(b) Movements of each component of deferred (b) FEZEHREBEEEREBBEARITIZ
tax assets and liabilities (Continued) BEN(E)
Deferred tax liabilities EESiEEaE
Depreciation
allowance
in excess
of related
Revaluation depreciation
of properties  BEFTEZ Others Total
EftY¥ BEFERE Hith @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT )
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 818 35,765 1,117 289 37171
Charged to profit or loss FRAREZNR 102 50 - 152
during the year (Note 15) (F3zE15)
Charged to reserve during the year FRPFEER (FE15) 1,534 - 1 1,535
(Note 15)
Exchange realignment fE 5 3% 2,039 - 25 2,064
At 31 December 2017 and #2017F12A318 39,440 1,167 315 40,922
1 January 2018 201851418
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss FERRBIENB/(GEA) 391 (43) - 348
during the year (Note 15) (F3zE15)
Charged to reserve during the year FRREENR 6,773 - 2 6,775
(Note 15) (B3E15)
Exchange realignment [EH AR (1,701) - (11) (1,712)
At 31 December 2018 #2018F12A31H 44,903 1,124 306 46,333
(c) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement (c) HZEMBRRARZHIER

of financial position

2018 2017
20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET

Net deferred tax assets recognised REFEFERARPERLZ

in the consolidated statement of EERIIBE EFE

financial position 14,173 16,463
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised R4r& B #RR KR P FERZ

in the consolidated statement of EEHRBEAEZRE

financial position (39,614) (34,677)

— (25,441) (18,214)
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A VBRI

31

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)

(d) Deferred tax assets not recognised

(e)

The Group had unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of HK$101,858,000 (2017: HK$132,544,000)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. The Group also has unrecognised tax losses
arising in Mainland China of HK$60,502,000 (2017:
HK$49,844,000) that will expire in one to five years
for offsetting against future taxable profits. The Group
has cumulative tax losses not recognised amounting to
HK$162,360,000 (2017: HK$182,388,000). Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised amounting to
HK$31,392,000 (2017: HK$34,331,000) in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the
People’s Republic of China, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate ranges from 5% to 10%.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group has undistributed
profits of subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$237,024,000 (2017: HK$207,752,000). The
corresponding deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised, given that the Company is able to
control the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and
it is probable that these retained profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited ¥R EBER L F]

31 ZEMBRRKRZHAE

(%)

(d) RERZELERATEE

(e)

AEEBERREBZAERRIBEIR
101,858,0003% 7T (2017 £F : 132,544,000
Bor) A ERHANENHREEZAQ
Al RRERTRT) o REBETBRRA
B ) 42 K T 2R 1 75 5 48 60,502,000 7T
(20174 : 49,844,00087C) * BHR—Z=H
FREm 0 AR R ERBRF
REE B ARERRGT B E15162,360,000
B7T(20174F $182,388,000587T) ° HAR 4
EHEBNIELENREE —BRERNHEEGE
B2 WE AR B AR F AT A AN
ZEBBBERZAEMTK - M RFRZ
FLBEER ZELEIAEE /231,392,000
720174 : 34,331,000/ 7T) ©

RERZELEBIEAE

BIECREARIMBECEMSHE) B
FEIK 2INEREMIRIMNGEET IR
B EBEIRI10% ZTENF - RERTH
2008F 1 A1 BRRAER - HARM2007F12 A
STHRBEAZZF o # B rENE
WEEMBREER 2B ERBERR
o A RBEBMB RGN - iASKE
MmE @ BAMENFT5%ZE10% ° 12018
F12R318 - XEB 2 RKD K& A
237,024,000 7t (2017 4 : 207,752,000
BIT) o ERADEIRILEHZENB AR Z
REBR BZERE BN R AR 8
ok - WU AEREEELHIEAE -
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R PR

32 DEFERRED INCOME 32 JEIEWA
The deferred income amounting to HK$10,224,000 (2017: 10,224,000 7L (20174 : 11,031,000 7T ) Z
HK$11,031,000) of non-cash subsidies in relation to parcels EEWA BESZR L2 IER M - Bi1E
of land located in Wuxi was granted by the Jiangsu Province FBiFLEEMAEREREL BE@R2004FRE -
Xishan Economic Development Management Committee BF RSB 2 BRI A SE B AUEE— R
in 2004. The subsidy was in the form of a reduction of the R RS > i A4 2 R(E - B R
consideration for the acquisition of a parcel of land in Wuxi, Ty AR SR IETERE -

Mainland China, paid by the Group. The purpose of the
subsidies is for industrial development in these areas.

33 SHARE CAPITAL 33 A
Ordinary shares ZER
2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Issued and fully paid: BT
475,547,534 (2017: 475,547,534) 475,547,5344% (20174 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 475,547,5343%) &%

E{E0. 1078 T2 E Bk 47,555 47,555

A summary of the transactions involving the Company's WRARNGRAZZZHET -

share capital is as follows:

Number Share
of shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
ERTRAHA BRITRE R R E R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET
At 1 January 2017, R201781A18 + 2018F
31 December 2018, 124318  2018F1 A1
1 January 2018 and HR&2018%12431H
31 December 2018 475,547,534 47,555 165,458 213,013
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34

BA SRR AL

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 26 May 2006, the Company adopted the Share Option
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible persons, including employees, directors and other
persons as specified under the scheme document, who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 26 May 2006
and will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of the shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of issued shares
from time to time provided that the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares on 26 May
2006.

Each grant of the share options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, under the Share Option Scheme must comply with
the requirements of rule 17.04 of the Listing Rules and must
be subject to approval of the independent non-executive
directors to whom share options have not been granted.
In addition, any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, which would result in
the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted to such person in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant in excess of 0.1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5 million, is subject to prior approval from shareholders
in a general meeting.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares, (i) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer, and (iii) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer of the
share options, which must be a trading day.
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34 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 34 BREFTEI(E)
The Group did not recognise any share option expense for REZE2017F K%2018%F12 A31 B IEMEFEE
both years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018. No previous RNEEFEERTMERERS - EEFRY
year expense was reversed in the Year for forfeited share RAFERE S ERETLRSBRRER -

option in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: (a) BHEZGERRESHET

Contractual life
of options

Number of

instruments Vesting conditions

TAHE SR BREZEHNH

Options granted to directors:

MESERDERE -

—on 15 September 2010 250,000 One year from the date of grant 10 years
— 201094158 BB EEI1F 10%F
—on 15 September 2010 250,000 Two years from the date of grant 10 years
—7201069A15H B A2 104F
Options granted to employees:

MR E R -

—on 15 September 2010 696,000 One year from the date of grant 10 years
—#201069A15H B A AR F 104F
—on 15 September 2010 684,000 Two years from the date of grant 10 years
— 7201069 A15H B A2 F 104F
Total share options granted 1,880,000

BRI EAEE
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AP RARMEE

34 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(b) The following share options were outstanding under
the Share Option Scheme during the year:

At 1 January M1ATR
Forfeited during the year FARK
At 31 December MW12A318

34 fERRAERT (&)

(b) WER - BIRETEIT 2 RETTEERE

s
2018 2017
20185 20174
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price price
InFESES Number hniEFY Number
1TfEE of options 1T{EE  of options
HK$ B HK$ A
B IT gA 7B IT EgE]
2.262 1,980,000 2.262 2,080,000
2.262 (100,000) 2.262  (100,000)
2.262 1,880,000 2.262 1,980,000

The exercise price and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of reporting date are
as follows:

Exercise period®

TTEHE

RERHR - RETEBREZITEE
RATHEHIAT -

Exercise price?
1TEfE?
HKS$ per share

Number of options

BRERE
2018
2018%F
HK$'000
THExT

2017
20174
HK$'000
FBTT

BRET

15-9-2011 to 14-9-2020 20119 9H15H=
202059 H14H 2.262 946,000 996,000
15-9-2012 to 14-9-2020 20124 9H15H=
202059 H14H 2.262 934,000 984,000
2.262 1,880,000 1,980,000
Notes: BisE

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date
of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company'’s share capital.

The options outstanding at 31 December 2018 had an
exercise price of HK$2.262 (2017: HK$2.262) and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.71
years (2017: 2.71 years).
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35 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a) Defined benefit retirement plans

The Group’s subsidiary, Luminous Town, makes
contribution to defined benefit retirement plans. The
plans are administered by trustees, the majority of
which are independent, with their assets held separately
from those of the Group. The trustees are required by
the Trust Deed to act in the best interest of the plan
participants and are responsible for setting investment
policies of the plans.

The plans are funded by contributions from the
Group in accordance with an independent actuary’s
recommendation based on annual actuarial valuations.
The latest independent actuarial valuations of the plans
were at 31 December 2018 and were prepared by
Greatfine Wealth Management Consulting Inc.

The plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as
interest rate risk, investment risk and longevity risk.
Information about the plan is disclosed below:

(i)  The amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

Present value of wholly or partly
funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets

HE

R PR

35 EERMKEF

(a)

AEIBEEZARE

REBANRAREE
REBEZ B A RERRRERMERS
#%ﬁﬁh# MARETEImEE AT R
REDHEEBEY - HEEEZARZE
EDRRE - RIFEFERE  TEAZANU
HEFTH2EARENRZIATE A
AABBIELFAEZRERK °

ZEEMARBERIBBEIIEEN 2 B
BREFEREGERRES - %F5tE
2B R AE . BR2018512
A318 > REREEEEEMROERAD
AR -

EZ%%*'JAZ}K’%IEE%%*ﬁH %+ AR

CRERBEREER o %t 218
ﬁﬂ?&&ﬁﬁﬂT :
(i) NEEAHBRRNEABRAZESEN

T

2018
20184

2017
20174
HK$'000
T

HK$°000
TR

2L EHREEZ

(1,933) (1,631)
2,622 2,602
689 971

A portion of the above liability is expected to be
settled after more than one year. However, it is
not practicable to segregate this amount from
the amounts payable in the next twelve months,
as future contributions will also relate to future
services rendered and future changes in actuarial
assumptions and market conditions. The Group
expects to pay HK$5,000 in contributions to
defined benefit retirement plans in 2019.

By LA BB BRE— FERE

B o SR - ARG TS KR

AT 2 RIS A AR B RE L TR

ZHEEE  MRART_EAR

S BEEMRES L TAIT o

ANEEIE 5 E12019F R ERFEK
& ETEIMEFRG,000/8 7T ©
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AP RARMEE

35 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Defined benefit retirement plans (Continued)

(ii)  Plan assets consist of the following:

— Central Trust Fund held
in a Taiwan bank

35 EERKEFN(E)

() SREBFERAREEE ()

(i) TBIEEREATSIE
2017
20174
HK$'000
FAT

2018
20184

HK$°000
FET

R—REaEBRITHAZ
PREFES

2,622 2,602

(iii) Movements in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation

(i) REBANEERE22S

2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At 1 January ®W1A1H 1,631 1,469
Remeasurements: EIEE
— Actuarial losses arising from — ANAFEH B EE
changes in demographic S8z BEER
assumptions - (13)
— Actuarial losses arising from -~ REREE 5Bz
changes in financial assumptions fEHER - 7)
— Experience adjustment — (BB (352) 9
(352) (11)
Interest cost F B R A 1" 14
Exchange realignment FEE 5, FE 88 643 159
At 31 December ®12A31H 1,933 1,631

The weighted average duration of the defined
benefit obligation is 4 years (2017: 2 years).
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35 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 35 EERKEFR (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Defined benefit retirement plans (Continued) (a) REBFRAKESTHEI(E)
(iv) Movements in plan assets (iv) FFrEIEEZ2E
2018 2017
20185 20174
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTERT T
At 1 January M1ATH 2,602 2,348
Group's contributions paid to SEEZSHEZ B AHERK
the plans 5 9
Remeasurements experience EHFTE —KHARE
adjustment (86) 4
Interest income FEWA 18 23
Exchange realignment M 3, 5 83 226
At 31 December ®12A31H 2,622 2,602
(v)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (v) REEaEzmRkAEMEEBARARER
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income ZRFMT

are as follows:

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Net interest on net defined AREBNEEFEL
benefit assets FFE (7) )
Total amounts recognised RER PR A%
in profit or loss (7) 9)
Actuarial loss/(gain) BEEE (W) 266 @)
Total amounts recognised in REMZ2ERAF
other comprehensive income MR 2 4% 266 (7)
Total defined benefit costs/(income)  FEBFIBA, (A ) 4258 259 (16)
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AP RARMEE

35 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Defined benefit retirement plans (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are as follows: (Continued)

The net interest on net defined benefit liability is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss as “finance income”.

Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as
weighted averages) and sensitivity analysis are as
follows:

Discount rate ARIR &

Future salary increases

AT EE N

35 EERKEFN(E)

() SREBFERAREEE ()
(v) REeBmMEMEEEARAER
ZERMT (&)

FERMABEFEFNENGEEE
EmRHERA FAFRAL -

EXRBEERCAEFEETIR) &
BUREDITINS

(vi)

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
0.68% 0.70%
1.00% 1.00%

The below analysis shows how the defined benefit
obligation would have increased/(decreased) as a
result of 0.5% change in the significant actuarial
assumptions:

BRERE
RETEE N

Discount rate
Future salary increases

T oo R R ERAETnmEE
AIEERR0.5% 2 E B ML~ O

)

2018 2017

20184 20174
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
in 0.5% in 0.5% in 0.5% in 0.5%
#00.5% RA0.5% | #E10.5%  EP0.5%
HK$'000 HK$'000 = HK$'000  HK$'000
FHBxT FET FAT FAT
- 30 (16) 21
29 - 20 (16)

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the
assumption that changes in actuarial assumptions
are not correlated and therefore it does not take
into account the correlations between the actuarial
assumptions.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited E#%RHEEEER AT

A EFRESTDERBERRZE
5 TR 2 RER - AR RBE
SR 2 HERIE -




35 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Defined contribution retirement plan

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

35 EEENKREFN(E)

(b) EREMFERAKSTE

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously
covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately.

Subsidiaries in Mainland China participate in the
defined contribution retirement schemes operated by
the local authorities. Contributions to these schemes are
changed to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when incurred.

36 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT

AEETRBEEERGIE LB BED
RBBEEBRRBIGD 2 AIEEEEMER
B2z RMAFRERFEBASE 2B
BEMR B AR RRENG S (M%7
T8 - BRESAHEVBUREAETRE
ZEBEREAKREAE - REBESE
2 BRERHEEERAHARESRABK
AZ5%EITHR - LR AT AEBERA
30,0008 7T © $fikat &l B RS 57 o

hEALZ HEARRTEALESSH
BT E RE M 2 R ERFERKE - &
FatBl 2 BN R BERIR -

36 REHNEAE

The Group leases certain of its office properties, factory
premises, and warehouses under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for office properties, factory premises,

AEERBREHOLHREETHAEDR
ITHYMERER - WRAEWE - ITWWERER
BOBECERRR—E-_TFIE -

and warehouses are negotiated for terms ranging from one

to twenty years.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

falling due as follows:

M2018F12A31H » REERE A HigLE
XN TH BB EASZ T 2 R R &K S 42 Za N
T

2018 2017
20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$°000
THET FHT

Within one year 1% R 21,173 33,057
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F2EFSF(RIEEEME) 3,065 403
24,238 33,460
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AP RARMEE

37 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of reporting date:

37 BAREIE
AEERBE B RG U TERRE -

2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

Contracted, but not provided for: BETLMBEREE
— Plant and machinery — = R kes 43,530 72,844
— Buildings —EF 27,187 43,018
— Land — b 1,163 1,219
71,880 117,081

38 MEALRS
72018412 A31H + Man Yue Holdings Inc. A
BE-RABREFHFHE KRR A44.09% i K12
o ARAZ BKIBERA L REARBERLRE
Tt HEZLEME AT B NEAMEDNES
SEM B0 HI61B03E -

38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2018, Man Yue Holdings Inc. had a
44.09% equity interest in the Company as the single largest
shareholder. The ultimate controlling party of the Company
is Ms. Kee Chor Lin, a director of the Company, which her
principal place of business at Unit 03, 6/F., Harbour Centre
Tower 2, 8 Hok Cheung Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

(a) BRMF1R2FMZ RSN REMEHAE
BRZERZZMT

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed in note 12, the
Group had the following material transactions with its
joint ventures:

2018

20184

HK$°000
FET

20174
HK$'000
FHBT

Purchases of raw materials — BB ERME 1 61,885 61,008
Rental expenses —HERE 2 14,182 13,877
Interest income received — B FEHA 3 4,212 3,701
Notes: Pi%E
1. The above purchases of raw materials were determined 1. LAEBEBERMEBIRTNE S HE o EE

on the basis agreed by both parties and were conducted EE - WRIEREBBIZPETT -

in the normal course of business.

2. The rental was charged at rates with mark-to-market 2. M HRERHEZLEFTE -
yield.
3. The interest was charged at a rate of 4.90% (2017: 3. FETIZEF490E (20174 : 4.90F) 2

4.90%) per annum. BEHHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel is set
out in notes 13 and 14 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(c) The loans to a joint venture, amounts due from and
due to joint ventures are set out in note 24 of the
consolidated financial statements.

(d) None of the above related party transactions falls under

the definition of connected transaction or continuing

connected transaction as defined in chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group has certain financial instruments, including bank
loans and cash and short term deposits, of which main
purpose is to fund the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk
and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

38

39

eI ERRME

BEATRSZ (H)

(b) XBEEABZHFEMENGE M BREM
F13%14 -

() wy—MEErEZER  BRKEMRE
BREZFIRHNRE MWK E24 -

(d) ritBEALTRSHEBR EHAASE

VUABREZ B FRIFBEHER S °

M EREEBERBKR

AEEEETeRIA(BERTEFURERS
KEHER) TRENTIRAREZ EHIRM
e - ARBEZREMEMEEN ARG WE
WESERRENESEALER) HERNE
BREL -

REAREESRIAZ TE2RMRAIMNERER - F
TRk - RBESRBRREERR - EFERE
KipEEESERERZEE - W XX -

Annual Report 2018 %

185



186

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AP RARMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily United States dollar, Renminbi and
Japanese Yen.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits)
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement
in value of the United States dollar against other

39 MiI¥EKREEBEZERBUR(E)

(a) SMEEREER

AEEASZ SRR KB LASNE (D

ERRXHZEEREED

BB

KAz &

B)FHEZ $HE MR AT E £ 2 RUARAR -
ENERMREEL  ELEZRBRZEE
IT2RET  AREKRAHE -

BRED

TRIRHAKERRERRAEHEKX
Rz INEERRZAZE  RRAEE
R AR T - REBERR AR
(RRBEN) AT BN E & 2 #E) - 5
bt ARBRRABTEIRTTZ BHEEXE
TEXETHEMEBZBEEZHERY

2= .

currencies.
Increase/
(decrease)
in Japanese
Yen rate
HEE®
LF(TFHE)
%
ADLE
2018 201845
If Hong Kong dollar had weakened W8T 5 BIEIE & &
against Japanese Yen 5
If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened i 7T 5% A [EEX FFf
against Japanese Yen (5)
2017 20174
If Hong Kong dollar had weakened AT H BEERTE
against Japanese Yen 5
If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened i 7 5% B EIEX -7t
against Japanese Yen (5)

Increase/
(decrease)
in profit
before tax

BR B AT 28 F
#n (R)
HK$'000
Tz

(975)

975

(1,205)

1,205
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R PR

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BIXEKMESEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (a) HMEsE B (48)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BREST(E)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in RMB rate before tax
ARKEEZR BRBt A F
EH(TK) #m, Gra)
% HK$'000
Bakt FET
2018 20184
If Hong Kong dollar had weakened M58 7T 3 A R B 2= TN B
against RMB 5 (1,033)
If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened & T A REER 7+
against RMB (5) 1,033
2017 20174
If Hong Kong dollar had weakened a7 7T 5N RS B 3R TN B
against RMB 5 50
If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened {8t AREER A
against RMB (5) (50)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in USD rate before tax
ETER FBR%t A2 A
EFH(CTBE) #m, CEd)
% HK$'000
Aot FET
2018 20184
If RMB had weakened against USD AR HEITEERTE 5 19,881
If RMB had strengthened against USD {4 AR H ETfEX FF (5) (19,881)
2017 20174
If RMB had weakened against USD AR S ETERTE 5 20,770
If RMB had strengthened against USD MARKH ETIER T+ (5) (20,770)
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit before tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-
company payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the borrower.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable
rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
respectively. The Group defines “net borrowings” as
being interest-bearing financial liabilities less interest-
bearing investments (excluding cash held for short-
term working capital purpose). The Group's interest
rate profile as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.

To manage any exposure arising from the changes in
market interest rates, the Group enters into interest
rate swap, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at
specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to
an agreed-upon notional principal amount. This interest
rate swap is not qualified as hedging for accounting
purposes.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited ¥R EBER L F]

39 MIEMERERERECK(E)

(a) HhEsmbe (&)

BRE D (&)
EREFNZAHEREEANEE
%Rﬁﬂm?’F‘J&%m(MRQZIﬂﬁ
Z AR EEE - RIERY
RZERBERBTT

BURE D

B BREAERAIERAZY

SNEESEHE 2 NE B AR R HE R R
B BT EREEBERINE
B BERERAEE2EEMBEE 2
R BRE201 7 BRI 2 BAEETT

& Wk

(b) FIEmEER
AEE 2 M X R

GES R

T

REEMSNEEBAATZRER

BRI A XEMEL - Bt - AEEHH
RETRRARAE2EREZLEADHE
BREESEIER g
MEHA NI EERIE

EAEZE
FFEMmE
5 o

o /Hﬂfh}
o i
% ~— $

off

DT ERRINEEEZZH D EAIAE
R EAKERAZERTIA  M&Ee
mﬂlﬁfiﬁilﬁé‘#ﬁiﬁﬁikﬁéw\\Eﬂ

T EMRMERES
BZEN R RIZEE AN KB 2B ES
HARLE BRI SR EN = E R &
AEBEREMEEFEIRG
ERAERN BRE (T RERFEEE

BgzBE) - %ﬁ%$$§%ﬂ$$ﬁ%iﬁ



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Interest rate risk (Continued)

0]

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s net borrowings at the end of the
reporting period.

R PR

39 MiIXEKREEBEZERBUR(E)

(b) FZRmEER(F)

(i) RI=EHR
TRAVNASEEEFERBEHNR
ZREBES

2017
20174

2018
20185
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
BERFI=
% HK$'000
Batk THET

HK$'000
THTT

Fixed rate borrowings: BEERREE
Loans to a joint venture Kr—RMeErE

ZER 4.90% (89,681) 4.90% (80,083)
Bank loans RITER 6.96% 34,239 - -
Variable rate borrowings: FHAREE
Bank loans BIER 414% 855,116 349% 847,079
Total net borrowings BIEEFE 799,674 766,996

Sensitivity analysis BRBEDN

At 31 December 2018, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would have decreased/increased the
Group's profit before tax and retained profits by
approximately HK$855,000 (2017: HK$847,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit before
tax (and retained profits) that would arise assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period. In respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising
from floating rate non-derivative instruments held
by the Group at the end of the reporting period,
the impact on the Group’s profit before tax (and
retained profits) is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed
on the same basis as 2017.

2018412 A31H » FEfTE Efb &
MR TEZERT - HetWFl =
—RLE# THAI00EEL - R
LI B R B A ) AR R
F#7855,0007%8 7T (20174 : 847,000
PETL) °

LA_F SRS AT R AN SR ERR TR AT
FICRAREE B F) TR T R S B
EHRE BB TATES 2 AR
o RAEBERFTAZEFTETLE
RFERREAZ 2 RS RFERBRM
T HASKEBRBANEN(RRE R
)z B A ZER R B EH B FH
T MA T BEZEEGE - ST
HI20174F 48R 2 BAEH#ETT -
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AP RARMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

39 MiI¥EKREEBEZERBUR(E)

(c) Liquidity risk () R"RBELRAM

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board.
The Group'’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities
and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

AEENERSEERBAESEZREE
B pRERSBRHZEHRERARETE
MR R RMBEZER  HAFE QA
EESHE AEBZEBRATHERA
RBECHFRREBEZHZERER
NEREF T ERSHB R SR
EEEFSF  URAEFZSREEBIERTRE
AHEEEEE  NENEHERRBZAS
BEeHwEK -

TRIRAEENRERRZIFTESR
BERTESRARZHTENIHE
o ERBEEOARRARSARE(BERS
MMEHEZ RSN - JARF B R
FHE - BIARIRE IR ZBRITHRFTE) A
RASBEAXN 2 &P AMFE

2018

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

Within
1 year

or on
demand
—FR
RIRER
HK$'000
FHET

20184

EHRRBEBERER
Carrying
amount
at 31
December
MW12A31H
ZEREE
HK$'000
THET

Over

1 year
BB—F
HK$'000
FET

Total
et
HK$000
FHET

Derivative financial instruments {74 &g T A 2,005 291 2,296 2,273
Trade and bills payables ERE SRR RER 201,160 - 201,160 201,160

Other payables and accrued A AR
liabilities FEETEE 97,585 - 97,585 97,585
Due to joint ventures ENASE A 43,781 - 43,781 43,781
Bank loans IRITER 811,673 92,641 904,314 889,355
Dividends payable FERTRR B 43 = 43 43
1,156,247 92,932 1,249,179 1,234,197
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R PR

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

39 MiIXEKREEBEZERBUR(E)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (o) REBESRSR(E)

2017
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

Within
1 year

oron
demand
—FN
FIRE K
HK$'000
FAT

20174

A HRIRBR RSN
Carrying
amount
at 31
December
M12A318
ZBREE
HK$'000
FHT

Over

1 year
R —F
HK$'000
FHET

Total
#a5T
HK$'000
T

Derivative financial instruments #7444 @ T A 3,680 2,540 6,220 6,156

Trade and bills payables EBNESERREE 225,069 - 225,069 225,069
Other payables and accrued e RTRRIE

liabilities ERrEE 98,857 - 98,857 98,857

Due to joint ventures FENEEE A 39,465 - 39,465 39,465

Bank loans RITER 728,167 131,980 860,147 847,079

Dividends payable FERTAR B 43 - 43 43

1,095,281 134,520 1,229,801 1,216,669

(d) Credit risk d) EERK

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if
a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group's
credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, and loans to a joint venture. The Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from loans to a joint
venture is limited as the joint venture has sufficient
available assets to repay the outstanding loan. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties
are creditworthly banks with no recent history of
default, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk. Management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis. The Group manages the credit risk
by setting up a team responsible for the determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. The Group has entered into
credit insurance contracts with the Hong Kong Export
Credit Insurance Corporati er financial
institutions to mitigate the credit risk arising from the
receivable balances.

EERBRANEFHER TAHFIIRE
BITEAHEL  AEEMEAEZMEE
BER - AEEZEERABRIERARK
BHRAREMEURHERET —REE
EEZER - AEEHEG T -HAZD
REeERELZEERRAR  BZEE
CEREFFMAMEBEREEN - RA
M F I ROHERNRERAEERIFZ
RIT - MAKEEGRE MRS FEYE
EZFEERBRAER  AEERRERAR
BE EEECHEFERR  LERHE
ERZEEERR - ARBEBRT —E
EFaRETEERE BHRHEEURAE
EERIEFEREERR - URERREUR
ETHARDBSRER - ARBEFEH
AOERREREREMCESBEEITLEER
BREH  REREBEFRESHRZEE
[\ o
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather

39 MBEREEREREEE)

(d)

= E R (&)
AREEHZ EERRIEZEEFHE
AFMEMIEREPEEMBRZITERER

than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 12.11% (2017: 11.23%) and 26.2%
(2017: 22.64%) of the total trade and other receivables
was due from the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

Trade and other receivables

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due normally within 90 days from the
date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

ECLs as at 31 December 2017 and 2018

The Group uses allowance matrix to measure the ECLs
of trade receivables from customers.

Loss rates are calculated based on the ageing of trade
receivables. Loss rates also calculated separately for
exposures in different age groups on the basis of
historical loss experience over past ten years.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER L F

Frsg - At - MASEBEHERNE G
EAER  BEIBELSEERZEER
B o NIMERIR - BB SRR EAE
WK IB#AEER 12.11% (20174 : 11.23%)
26.2% (20174 : 22.64% )5 Bl A FEUA

SEBEREFPRAKRES ZFIA -

FEUr B 2 AR R H b FE W R TR

AEESUMERREBEBR - EeBEELZ
BEPETEREEN M - ZFFEEDR
BPIBE S B HI IR RS A R IR B A 3R
BN WEBEFPZEEERREFPEZE
PR IR IR - BIRE B IR — R
ERHROAREE - EEME - A%KE

WEERE P 2 IR 5 o

MA2017F % 2018512 A31 B 2 FEHE

REE

AEBRABRBARGTEARPZBEKE

SR TEEE RS o

BERERIBEWE ZRIRKTHE - BE
KR BBE T F 2B L ERERD M

B RIBREAR R 2 R o



39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

39 BiIXEKREEBEZEREER(E)

(d) FERE(E)

ECLs as at 31 December 2017 and 2018 (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables

from customers as at 31 December 2017 and 2018.

Current and within payment terms
1-3 months past due

4-6 months past due

7-12 months past due

Over 1 year past due

BIER A S ER A
B30 A
BEME6MEA
BEIEEA
kel

MA2017F K 201812 A31 B 2 FEHifE
AEiE(E)

TREHBBN2017F%2018F12A31H
EERRZERKERFZE SRR
2 TERRE e IE -

Weighted  Gross carrying Loss Net carrying
average loss rate amount allowance amount
METHEEE REAE FERE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ThR THRL TARL

0.97% 448,022 (4,334) 443,688

0.98% 117,615 (1,156) 116,459

0.98% 11,422 (112) 11,310

41.07% 9,993 (4,104) 5,889
75.05% 31,579 (23,699 7,880
618,631 (33,405) 585,226

Current and within payment terms
1-3 months past due

4-6 months past due

7-12 months past due

Over 1 year past due

BNE AR AR
BEIE3MEA
BH4z6(EA
AEIENER
BEBEIE

Weighted  Gross carrying Loss Net carrying
average loss rate amount allowance amount
MELGEEE REAR EERE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR T#x

1.16% 525,361 (6,116) 519,245

1.20% 102,792 (1233) 101,559

1.20% 7813 (94) 7,719

35.95% 4,662 (1,676) 2,986
71.06% 31,3% (22,311) 9,085
672,024 (31,430) 640,59

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past ten years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current

conditions and- tth conditions

over the expeéted lives of the receivables.

BHERRRAE T F 2 ERBRERT
B ZELXRDTHE  URBREEES
BEREE BRI - RERARAEE
HELKARPFRZEEANER 2=
Ho
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AP RARMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BIXEKMEEEERBE(E)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Credit risk (Continued) (d) EERB(E)

194

Movements in the loss allowance of trade
receivables

The movements in the loss allowance of trade
receivables during the reporting period are as follows.

BHESREZBRBREED

RBEHHE - BREEZRRZBERER
BT e

2018 2017

20184 20174F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAxT

Balance at 1 January M1 A1B 2 448% 31,430 23,127

Adjustment on initial application of BIREABESI RS %R

HKFRS 9 FIR R - 7,714
Balance at 1 January per HKFRS 9 RIEE BT 3R ER B 957

BT 211848 31,430 30,841

Impairment losses recognised R RERE 7,804 4,678

Amount written off as uncollectible AR [ FRIE AR = 4

Impairment losses reversed B E 2 RERSE (4,794) (5,621)

Exchange realignment (EIEE (1,035) 1,528

Balance at 31 December R12 A31H 2 &8k 33,405 31,430

The significant changes in the gross carrying amounts
of trade receivables which contributed to the increase
in the loss allowance during 2018 was due to a loss
allowance of trade receivables with gross carrying
amount of HK$5,191,000 made as at 31 December
2018.

Loans to a joint venture
The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of the
loans at the end of the reporting period and key terms

of the loans are disclosed in note 24.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited BRI EBER L F
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R PR

39 MiIXEKREEBEZERBUR(E)

(e) EXEHE

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
by pricing its products and services commensurately
with the level of risk and securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
higher shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in the light
of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of a net debt to capital ratio. For this purpose, the
Group defines net debt as interest-bearing debt (which
includes bank loans), less cash and cash equivalents and
time deposit with banks.

During 2018, the Group's strategy is to maintain the
net debt to capital ratio at the range of 30% to 50%.
In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group's adjusted net debt to capital ratios at 31
December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

AEEEAERE T RARABRAKE
BRENEERSEREEELE  HES
BIREE K TR PR E R LR EE
URIREERAESRE  ABRIRAER
e BEANE SR E A RA AR o

AEEES I EREERGBETRT R
B AR HERSEEKRTZ
BEBRORER i 2 EARAR RSB RZE
BLREZE 2 TE  UEAREEREL
BCHEABBIFLRAE -

AEBEMERFREMALL RIERERE
BARBBZEE -t E - AEEKE
BEFEAERFRER(BRERITEN)
BIRE RIRE EEYARRITERFR -

M20184F « AEBZ K AEIFEE T
HREARLL R - N F30%E50% ° AREFEK
AREMALE  AEESNSHERBREIR
MZRESEE - BITHRG - BRERKT
BRR - EEFEBRERBEEEERIK
A&

2018 K201749 128318 » AEBEKHA
BEEFHEERALERNAT

2018 2017

20184 20174

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FBT

Bank loans IRITE R 30 889,355 847,079

Less: Cash and cash equivalents  J& : IJR& MRS ZEY 28 (202,338) (312,702)

Net debt BEEF5E 687,017 534,377
Equity attributable to equity RATRIEFAA

holders of the Company e #ER 1,380,651 1,416,507

Net debt to capital ratio EEFEHBR AL R 49.8% 37.7%
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A VBRI

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not
available.

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

The Group engaged external valuer to perform
valuations for the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which is categorised into
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The external
valuer report directly to the management. A
valuation report with analysis of changes in fair
value measurement is prepared by external valuer
at each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by management.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited ¥R EBER L F]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value at year end.

R PR

39 MiIXEKREEBEZERBUR(E)

() 2AREFEGE)

() RAREMEZEREERES

it

TREVAKERFERRAARET
RzEemMIA -

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2018 categorised into
R2018F12A31AZ AR EESESR

Level 1

FERFA
HK$'000
FET

Level 2
F2H 7
HK$'000
FHET

Level 3
E38% A
HK$'000
THET

Total
wEt
HK$'000
FHExT

Assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss —
non current

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss —
current

Total assets

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments:

— Interest rate swap

Total liabilities

BE

AR ERBEA
Sk EREE
— R

UARERBEREA
SRz EBMEBE
—nE

BEME
&f&
TEEmMIA:

— R

BERE

= = 23,936 23,936

20 - - 20
20 - 23,936 23,956
- 2,273 - 2,273
- 2,273 = 2,273
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AP RARMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss —

aE
AR ARERBEA

non current — BB
Financial assets at fair value AR R EREZEA
through profit or loss — FIfR 2 & REE
current — 8
Total assets BERE
Liabilities =L

Derivative financial instruments: 7448 TAH :
— Interest rate swap — F| &R IF Hf

Total liabilities BfERE

JIRRz EREE

39 MiI¥EKREEBEZERBUR(E)

Leve

BRAREFEBCEREERER

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2017 categorised into
R2017F12A31BZ AR EAEDER

[1

BI85

HK$'0

00

THETT

Total
5t
HK$'000
BT

Level 3
FE34 R
HK$'000
FAT

Level 2
F245
HK$'000
FAT

- - 23,374 23,374
36 - - 36
36 - 23,374 23,410

- 6,156 - 6,156

- 6,156 - 6,156

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2018, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group'’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in level
2 fair value measurements

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated
amount that the Group would receive or pay to
terminate the swap at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account current interest rates
and the current creditworthiness of the swap
counterparties. The Group engaged external valuer
to perform valuations for the interest rate swaps
which is categorised into Level 2 of the fair value -
hierarchy.

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited E#%RHEEEER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

0]

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

Valuation techniques

fhER M

Key management
insurance contracts
FEBEERBER ARIRIN BN E
Equity securities
heNCES BBReRE
The fair value of insurance contracts is determined
using the discounted cash flow model. The
duration of the cash flows and the specific timing
of inflows and outflows are determined by
conditions in accordance with the terms of the
respective insurance contracts. The periodic cash
flow is estimated as gross redemption value and
interest income less surrender charges. The series
of periodic net income for the contracting periods
is then discounted. The fair value measurement
is negatively correlated to the discount rate. As
at 31 December 2018, it is estimated that with
all other variables held constant, a decrease/
increase in discount rate by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit or loss by
HK$1,425,401 (2017: HK$1,546,338).

The fair values of the Group’s unlisted equity
securities are based on cash flows discounted
using a rate based on the market interest rate and
the risk premium specific to such investments.
As at 31 December 2018, it is estimated that
with all other variables held constant, a decrease/
increase in discount rate by 1% would have
increased/decreased the Group’s prbfit or loss by
HK$531,664 (2017: HK$520,231).

Discounted cash flow

Discounted cash flow

R PR

39 MiIXEKREEBEZERBUR(E)

() 2AREFEGE)

() RAREMEZEREERES

FHRE=EAAEFEZEN

Significant
unobservable
inputs
EARART
BEaABiE

Weighted
average

piIL; B

Discount rate

BRER &

2.27% (2017: 2.32%)
2.27% (2017: 2.32%)

Discount rate
sk

19.5% (2017: 19.0%)
19.5% (2017: 19.0%)

RBERZARETNRAERS R
BT - Bens ZHRUARRA
Rtz BERENRESRBRER
BRZIGEHEE - THRESRE NG
ATABEREERMBBARERE
R - AREE z —EH T HFRAT
TUANE - AnBEFFEEIRETIR
mEE - B2018F 128318 « 7EFT
BHMEHBRTEZERT (A5t
HWAIR T, EF1% - %3800,
DA & B 825 1,425,401 78 7T (2017
£ 1,546,338 T) °

REEURARBEFABRAE2IEE
MRAFEHZ AR ETRAERBTS
FIRBE RS RERIECHBERE
ZEBREERE - R2018F 12 A 31
B ERAHEMESERTE 2 BER
T EFEFETHE ER1% - #
#hn, b A £ BB 5 531,664 7T
(20174 : 520,23137T) °
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AP RARMEE

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BIXEKMEEEERBE(E)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) (f) DAREFE(E)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i)
value (Continued)
The movements during the period in the balance
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as
follows:

BRAREHEBZERMEERAE
&)
REEZBATEFEBZEHRNER
ZEFHIWT

—~

2018 2017
20184 20174

HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T

Key management insurance FTEEEERBERE :
contracts:

As at 1 January R1ATH

Net unrealised gains AR B=ERZ
recognised in profit or loss RER W F5E

during the period

At 31 December M12A31H

Total gains for the period BRBRERARFE 2
included in profit or loss BEFABRZ
for assets held at the end of BN 4B EE

the reporting period

Equity securities IRA %

As at 1 January MTATR

Changes in fair value recognised in BN B R ERZ
profit or loss during the period AL )

Exchange realignment I 3, F

At 31 December MW12A318

Total (loss)/gain for the period FPAEMEERAZ
included in other comprehensive HIR(E18) WEs
income i

Total gains for the period BRBERRFEZ
included in profit or loss for BEAEZZ
assets held at the end of BRI E R

the reporting period

14,043 13,285
763 758
14,806 14,043
763 758
9,331 1,177
236 7,800
(437) 354
9,130 9,331
(437) 354
236 7,800
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BIXEKMESEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) H AREFTEE)
(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (i) EFEUAAEBEIRZEMEERE
carried at other than fair value BARE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial VARK AN ok #8 S5 A AN 51 BR 2 AN R B & it
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were TEZERAEERERK2017F 20184
not materially different from fair values as at 31 1ANBZARBETEERESR o
December 2017 and 2018.
40 RESERVES 40 f#fE
Reserve movement of the Group REBFESH

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ROEREREAEE
Mainland
Asset  Exchange China
Share revaluation fluctuation reserve
Share option Contributed  reserve reserve funds # Other  Retained
premium  reserve  surplus'  BEEfE  EXRE  DER%  reseve  profits Total
R i BRE SAZS fith #E RES HtRE RER fazt
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn T#n Tén TEr TEn  TER
Balance at 1 January 2018 R018F1A18 268 165,458 1,876 2,800 1975 221317 59,024 (162) 832,823 1,368,952
Profit for the year RERAER = - - - - - - 306 43,046
Other comprehensive income: Ef2EMA
Asset revaluation surplus, net of tax e EEERRE - - - 0318 - - - - 0318
Remeasurement of net defined B ERTRAEE
benefit assets et - - - - - - - (268)  (268)
Currency translation differences ERER
- Group L] - - - - (91163) - = - (91163)
- Joint ventures -a8h% - - - - (1) - - - (1)
Total comprehensive income for the year ended /2018128318 1
31 December 2018 Pkl = = = 20318 (98,952) - - 82778 35856
Employee share option scheme: BERERE
- Share option forfeited -BHERRE - (94) = = = = = 9% =
Transferred to retained profits EREREET - - - - - 3731 - (373 =
Balance at 31 December 2018 R018E12A318 268 165,458 1,782 2800 100074 128425 62,755 (162) 871,964 1,333,09%
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AP RARMEE

40 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 40 fHE(E)
Reserve movement of the Group (Continued) REBRESE (F)
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
SN
Avallable-
for-sale Mainland
Asset  investment  Exchange China
Share revaluation  revaluation fluctuation  resenve
Share  option  Contrbuted reserve reseve  reserve funds? Other ~ Retained
plemum  resene  supls'  AEEfE e Ed Rt reseve profis
! e REEBHEE EfbE
HK$'000  HK$'000 | HK$'000
Th BT Th
Balance at 1 January 2017 ROITE1R18268 165,458 1971 2800 75,151 1879 9835 56419 (162) 792,985 1,194,855
Adjustment on initial application of ~ E N EREAH KRS
HKFRS 9 EB| B3 7B - - - - (1,879 - - - (5835 (7,714)

Adjusted balance on 1 January 2017 5201718182

R 165,458 1971 2,800 75,151 - 983%4 56419 (162) 787,150 1,187,141

Profitfor the year AEREN - - - - - - - - s
Other comprehensive income: Eh2EHA -
Asset revaluation surplus, netof tax ~ SIBFHERAEEREH - - - 4605 - - - - - 4605
Remeasurement of net defined EiTEREENAE

benefit assets 78 - - - - - - - - 6 6
Currency translation differences EXER

- Group -K£E - - - - - 120570 - - - 120570

- Joint ventures -RERE - - - - - 8453 - - - 8483
Total comprehensive income HENTENANAL

for the year ended EE/2ENREE

31 December 2017 - - - 4,605 - 129023 - - 43183 181811
Employee share option scheme: EBBRENE

- Share option forfeited -EHERRE - 99) - - - - - - % -
Transferred to retained profits ERTRBER - - - - - - 2,605 - (2609) -
Balance at 31 December 2017 ROTERRNAZES 165458 1876 280 7975 SWI 94 (16) 8383 136895

L The Group’s contributed surplus represents the difference 1 REE 2 HMABBIEMBENREB QT 2 ROEE
between the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries HBH BRI A AR TR A RIRDEE
acquired over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued LA
in exchange therefor.

# Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland # RIEF B AR R AR - REERFER
China, a portion of the profits of the Group’s subsidiaries KA 2 M B AR MM EEEEPE AN
which are established in Mainland China has been transferred fFEHEe - EBAZIIR -
to the Mainland China reserve funds which are restricted as to
use.
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41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41 RRAFHERRRRBEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position B AR R %
2018 2017
20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$’000
FH&T FBT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIRE 63,901 63,901
Financial assets at fair value AR BEREBZEAIERZ
through profit or loss TRIEE 4,259 4,114
Due from subsidiaries FEUR T B A7) 2 5B 160,028 -
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 228,188 68,015
Current assets REBEE
Due from subsidiaries A NI e 455,129 634,968
Prepayments FBSFRIE 1,633 1,619
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFED 122 211
Total current assets MBEERE 456,884 636,798
Current liabilities FREBaE
Due to subsidiaries FENMEB AT Z B 394,790 407,964
Other payables and accrued liabilities HEthERFE R ETEE 1,960 1,916
Dividends payable FERR B 43 43
Total current liabilities mEBERE 396,793 409,923
Net current assets RENEEFE 60,091 226,875
NET ASSETS EEFRE 288,279 294,890
EQUITY =
Share capital A& AN 47,555 47,555
Reserves HE 240,724 247,335
TOTAL EQUITY FERBE 288,279 294,890
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41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41 AR AIHMBERRRRFBESS(E)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Available-

for-sale

investment

revaluation

Share reserve

Share option Contributed  {tH&  Retained
premium reserve surplus RE profits Total
RipEE BRE SARE EfRE REEH @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000

FiEn TR Fign TiEn TER Fign

At 1 January 2018 2018F1 BB 2 % 165,458 1,876 63,623 - 16,378 247,335
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - (6,517) (6,517)
Employee share option scheme: EERRETE -

~ Share options forfeited -CHEBRE - (94) = = = (94)
At 31 December 2018 2018F 124318 165,458 1,782 63,623 - 9,861 240,724
At 1 January 2017 #2017F1718 165,458 1,971 63,623 328 22,266 253,646
Adjustment on initial application of HREREAN RS

HKFRS 9 RRFOH 2 3% - - - (328) 328 -
Adjusted balance on 1 January 2017 RO17EI 1B 2 EERES 165458 1,971 63,623 - 22594 253,646
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - (6,216) (6,216)
Employee share option scheme: EERRETE -
— Share options forfeited -ENEERE - (95) - - - (95)
At 31 December 2017 2017124318 165,458 1,876 63,623 - 16,378 247,335
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefore. Under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), a company may make distributions
to its members out of the contributed surplus in certain
circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in note 4(v)(i) to the consolidated financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the
related options expire or be forfeited.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 at 1 January
2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes in
accounting policies are disclosed in note 3.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and which have not been adopted
in these financial statements. These include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

41

42

43

eI ERRME

KRB BRR KRR FERE (F)

KRB ZEABBIEFTEENB AR ZRD AR
ERE ARG BRI RN METZARRRK
MHEEZHE - RIEAFE1981F R AEEET
) REAER TIHER THEARBRD KT K
g

BRhERFRERECROIERARTRBREZAA
B E—THELEEVBRRMEAVOAE
AR RERZ AR H 2 G BR - ZE 8
R A RERBEEE TR ERERMEER - X
WEBBRECEmRCNE  NERERE

S

EERET

REBEEMN2018F1 A1 A B R ERB AR
FERES - RIBEMERZBETE LR
BEHRTTEY - EASHBREP 2 E—FFHE
PRMIFE3HER -

BZ2018F12A3MH L FECEM
B RERZIERT ~ FTEARRE
AR E

HEZSUBKBRERTIZEBY  FEetAeR
B IEIERT R LR ZFER] ~ FeT 2
AR REREE2018F12A31AIEFEHAL
Mo BRZEMSHREAILATA - T AR pEHE
AEBERENBRIZER -
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AP RARMEE

43 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 43 H£2018F12A31BLFECHEM

206

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases
BB REERE16HAE

HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

FR(ERUBRERER B Q) RBR BRI FHEES THEE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
BB TR ERN2015F £ 201 7FRE 2 FEBUE

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interest in Associates and Joint Ventures

ARG EAE28R L ET RN B ELNAIRE B PR R

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Group has identified some aspects of
the new standards which may have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements. Further details of the
expected impacts are discussed below. While the assessment
has been substantially completed for HKFRS 16, the actual
impacts upon the initial adoption of the standards may
differ as the assessment completed to date is based on the
information currently available to the Group, and further
impacts may be identified before the standards are initially
applied in the Group’s interim financial report for the six
months ended 30 June 2019. The Group may also change its
accounting policy elections, including the transition options,
until the standards are initially applied in that financial report.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases

As disclosed in note 4(i), currently the Group classifies
leases into finance leases and operating leases and accounts
for the lease arrangements differently, depending on the
classification of the lease. The Group enters into some leases
as the lessor and others as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way
that lessors account for their rights and obligations under a
lease. However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no
longer distinguish between finance leases and operating
leases. Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees will
account for all leases in a similar way to current finance lease
accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease
the lessee will recognise and measure a lease liability at the
present value of the minimum future lease payments and will
recognise a corresponding “right-of-use” asset. After initial
recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee will recognise
interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the
lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset,
instead of the current policy of recognising rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a
lessee of leases for properties which are currently classified
as operating leases. The application of the new accounting
model is expected to lead to an increase in both assets
and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense
recognition in the statement of profit or loss over the period
of the lease.
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43 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019. As allowed by HKFRS 16, the Group
plans to use the practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements are,
or contain, leases. The Group will therefore apply the new
definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that are
entered into on or after the date of initial application. In
addition, the Group plans to elect the practical expedient for
not applying the new accounting model to short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets.

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective
approach for the adoption of HKFRS 16 and will recognise
the cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment
to the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019 and will
not restate the comparative information. As disclosed in note
36, at 31 December 2018, the Group's future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases amounted
to HK$24,238,000, the majority of which is payable either
within 1 year or between 1 and 5 years after the reporting
date. These leases are expected to be recognised as lease
liabilities, with corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS
16 is adopted. The amounts will be adjusted for the effects of
discounting and the transition reliefs available to the Group.
Upon initial adoption of HKFRS 16, the opening balances of
lease liabilities and the corresponding right-of-use assets will
be adjusted to HK$71,277,000 and HK$71,277,000, after
taking amount the effects of discounting, as at 1 January
2019.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

HFEHBEHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AT AXAEEBERFAGTRFEZEEULREE - 8
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, &N IFZEIRRERME - itk a 0TI 2 &%
as extracted from the published audited financial statements is set ~ BA%#R¥*k °

out below.

Results ES

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
2018 20174 20164 20154 20145

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FHT FHEIT FHIT FHET

Revenue A 1,361,718 1,275,923 987,027 974,421 1,186,967

Profit/(loss) before tax KRR (EE) 56,666 62,199 (4,460) (37,396) 55,996

Income tax PR (15,990)  (16,994) (8,642) (8,442)  (12,160)

Profit/(loss) for the year RNELHH, (E1E) 40,676 45,205 (13,102)  (45,838) 43,836

Attributable to: THIB AN

— Equity holders of the — NARIRHE

Company BB A 43,046 48,177 (14,905) (45,095) 43,257

— Non-controlling interests — IEIE R AR SR A 25 (2,370) (2,972) 1,803 (743) 579

40,676 45,205 (13,102) (45,838) 43,836

Assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests BE - AERIEERIRERER

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
20184 20174 20164 20154 20144

HK$'000 = HK$‘000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET BT THT T BT
Total assets BEBE 2,724,673 2,753,087 2,475,167 2,553,022 2,749,435
Total liabilities BEEE (1,302,145) (1,277,548) (1,162,592) (1,156,762) (1,180,290)
Non-controlling interests JEE A AR B A S (41,877) (59,032) (70,165) (4,282) (5,291)

1,380,651 1,416,507 1,242,410 1,391,978 1,563,854
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Audit Committee
EZLEE
Board

EEay

Board Diversity Policy
EEELTERE

Bye-laws
NGIEE]

Company
PAN/N|

Company Secretary
NEME

Corporate Governance Code
EERTH

Director(s)

=

Dividend Policy
NI

EBITDA
EBITDA

E-Caps

ImEHERS

ECLs
TEERE e 1B

EDLC
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EEEENES

EICC
EICC

ESG
B HARE
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annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2018

HZE2018F 12 A31 B I BFE 2 FEHE

audit committee of the Company
RNRARZEREZER

the board of directors of the Company

ARBZEEE

board diversity policy of the Company
RRAREFGZITBER

bye-laws of the Company
NN /N

Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited
BN EEERAR

company secretary of the Company
RARZATMWE

Corporate Governance Code
EERTH

director(s) of the Company

ARBZER

dividend policy of the Company
KRB ZREE

earnings before interest expenses, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

RMBSH - BIR - B RS ER AT

Aluminum Electrolytic Capacitors

75 oS o

IR B EAE

Expected credit loss assessment for individual customers

RBYEFFPZERERER

Electric Double Layer Capacitors

== BT N 2L
EEEEDS

Electronic Industry Citizenship Coalition
EFTERRERA

Environmental, Social and Governance

RIE-HE@REAR
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HK$
BT

Independent Non-executive Director(s)

BUFRITER

ISO
ISO

Listing Rules
AR

LPG
RACAAR

MLPC
BRARY FREEERSR

Model Code
EAESF I

Nomination Committee

RELZES

Nomination Policy
REBHE

Polymer Caps

BHTEES
RBA
RBA

Glossary
ol

Greenhouse gas

N Rt
BEREE

Company and its subsidiaries
RAT R HEKTEAT]

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
I AR EMBEFEFRIFTEHR

Hong Kong dollar
BT
independent non-executive director(s) of the Company

RARZBIUIERTES

International Organization for Standardization

B PR AR AL 4B 4

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited

ERMAER AR ATES EHRA

liquefied petroleum gas
BAL AR

Multi-layer Polymer Capacitors
BRAED TEEERHR

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
LB TAZEZETES X HNEESTA

nomination committee of the Company

ARBZBREES

nomination policy of the Company
KRB ZIRAIE

Conductive Polymer Aluminum Solid Capacitors
BESH TIREEREAR

Responsible Business Alliance
BEm A
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Remuneration Committee

yHZEE

RMB
AR

RoHS
RoHS

R&D
s

SFO
& 77 KRB A

Stock Exchange

B2 P

tCO2e
FtCO,E =2

usb
E

Year

REE

%
%

remuneration committee of the Company

ARBZHMERE

Renminbi
AR

European Union’s directives on restriction of the use of certain hazardous
substances in electrical and electronic equipments
R ERALETFREBEEEMERSIES

research and development
o KA g

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BH RIS IEG (BB EGES71E)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERMERXHBERAF]

Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
FICO,EE

United States dollar
ETT

financial year ended 31 December 2018
EZE2018F12A31 B IEMIRFE

per cent
Ante
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